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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report, including any documents which may be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report, contains “Forward-Looking Statements” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements other than statements of
historical fact are “Forward-Looking Statements” for purposes of these provisions, including our plans to cultivate, produce and market non-food based feedstock for applications
in the biofuels market, any projections of revenues or other financial items, any statements of the plans and objectives of management for future operations, any statements
concerning proposed new products or services, any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance, and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the
foregoing. All Forward-Looking Statements included in this document are made as of the date hereof and are based on information available to us as of such date. We assume no
obligation to update any Forward-Looking Statement. In some cases, Forward-Looking Statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “believes,” “estimates,” “potential,” or “continue,” or the negative thereof or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the Forward-Looking Statements contained herein are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations or any of the Forward-Looking
Statements will prove to be correct, and actual results could differ materially from those projected or assumed in the Forward-Looking Statements. Future financial condition and
results of operations, as well as any Forward-Looking Statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, including any other factors referred to in our press releases and
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All subsequent Forward-Looking Statements attributable to the company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Additional factors that may have a direct bearing on our operating results are described under “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this report.
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Introductory Comment

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” and “our company” refer to Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation that
was formerly a Utah corporation known as Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and prior to its name change in 2008, was Medical Discoveries, Inc., and, unless the context
indicates otherwise, also includes our wholly-owned subsidiary, MDI Oncology, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Global Clean Energy Holdings LLC, a wholly-owned Delaware
limited liability company; and Technology Alternatives, Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary formed under the laws of Belize. To the extent applicable, depending on the context
of the disclosure, the terms ““we,” “us,” “our,” and “our company” may also include GCE Mexico I, LLC a Delaware limited liability company, in which we own 50% of the
common membership interests, and Asideros Globales Corporativo 1 and Asideros Globales Corporativo 2, two Mexican corporations of which we own 1%, and the balance is
owned by GCE Mexico I, LLC.

Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. is not related to, or affiliated in any manner with “Global Clean Energy, Inc.” Readers are cautioned to confirm the entity
that they are evaluating or in which they are making an investment before completing any such investment.




PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. is a California-based energy agri-business focused on the development of non-food based bio-fuel feedstock. We have full service
in-house development and operations capabilities, which we provide to our own Jatropha farms and to third parties. With international experience and capabilities in eco-friendly
bio-fuel feedstock management, cultivation, production and distribution, we believe that we are well suited to scale our existing business.

Since 2007, our focus has been on the commercialization of oil and biomass derived from the seeds ofJatropha curcas (“Jatropha”) - a native non-edible plant indigenous
to many tropical and sub-tropical regions of the world, including Mexico, the Caribbean and Central America. Jatropha trees generally require less water and fertilizer than many
conventional crops, and can be grown on land that is not normally suitable for the production of food. Jatropha oil is high-quality plant oil used as a direct replacement for fossil
fuels, as feedstock for the production of high quality bio-fuels. The term “bio-fuels” refers to a range of biological based fuels including bio-diesel, renewable diesel, green diesel,
synthetic diesel and biomass, most of which have environmental benefits that are the major driving force for their introduction. Using bio-fuels instead of fossil fuels reduces net
emissions of carbon dioxide and other green house gases, which are associated with global climate change. Jatropha oil can also be used as a chemical feedstock to replace fossil
and non-food based products that use edible oils in their manufacturing or production process. The residual material derived from the oil extraction process is called press cake,
which is a high-quality biomass that has been proven and tested as a replacement for a number of fossil based feedstocks, fossil fuels and other high value products such as
fertilizers, and animal feed.

Our business plan and current principal business activities include the planting, cultivation, harvesting and processing of Jatropha to generate plant based oils and biomass
for use as replacements for fossil fuels and other high value products. Our strategy is to leverage our agriculture and energy knowledge, experience and capabilities through the
following means:

Own and operate Jatropha farms for our own account.

Own, operate and manage Jatropha farms through joint ownership agreements. We currently operate two farms located in Mexico under joint ownership
arrangements: the first farm comprises 5,149 acres; the second farm, consisting of 3,700 acres. The first farm is fully planted and is expected to produce
commercial quantities of Jatropha in 2011. We anticipate that planting at the second farm will be substantially completed by the summer of 2011 and that the

second farm will begin producing Jatropha seeds in 2012.

Provide Jatropha farm development and management services to third party owners of Jatropha farms. We plan to greatly expand this initiative in the next 12
months.

Provide turnkey Franchise Operations for individuals and/or companies that wish to immediately establish Jatropha farms in suitable geographical areas.




In addition to generating revenues from the sale of non-food based plant oils and biomass, we plan to monetize the carbon credits from the farms we own and
manage. The worldwide carbon market is still in a state of reorganization, but was significantly solidified by the climate summit in Cancun in 2010. Under the original 1997 Kyoto
Protocol, a worldwide carbon credit trading market was established where sellers sell their excess carbon credits and buyers purchase the carbon credits they need to meet their
greenhouse gas reduction requirements. In addition to the market established under the Kyoto Protocol, there are other carbon certification systems that allow these carbon credits
to be monetized. We have commenced the certification process necessary to sell carbon credits, but have not yet made any carbon credit sales.

We are engaged in research and development activities concerned with optimizing the quality of our Jatropha yields, enhancing the plant characteristics, reducing
operating costs and improving our production capacity and efficiency. Specifically, our research activities focus on (i) optimizing genetic development (i.e., the quality of the
Jatropha plants), (ii) optimizing agronomic development and plant nutrition (i.e., soil conditions optimal for Jatropha cultivation), and (iii) improving agricultural technologies
relating to the care and custody of the Jatropha plant, and the processing of resulting products. We continue our research and development efforts toward the improved
commercialization of Jatropha at our research and test facility in Tizimin, Mexico.

In connection with our research and development activities, we have sponsored the formation of a non-profit research entity, The Center for Sustainable Energy Farming (
www.CfSEF.org ). The Center’s mission is to perform cutting-edge plant science research in genetics, breeding, soil science, plant nutrition and horticulture technologies and
practices, and further develop leading-edge processes to allow for the economic commercialization and sustainability of energy farms globally. The Center for Sustainable Energy
Farming will initially focus its research efforts on the Jatropha plant. Research at the Center will be focused on increasing agricultural production, creating a sustainable feedstock
supply, reducing inputs including the use of fossil fuels, pesticides, water and fertilizers, and developing new and sustainable biofuels. The Center will sponsor specific research
through agreements with scientists and laboratories at public and private universities, private research entities and in collaboration with other companies performing cutting-edge
research in these areas.

Organizational History

This company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Utah on November 20, 1991. Until 2007, the Company was a developmental-stage bio-pharmaceutical
company engaged in the research, validation, and development of two drug candidates. In 2007, the Company decided to change the course of its business and focus its efforts and
resources on the emerging alternative energy fuels business. In order to be successful in this industry, we decided to acquire the intellectual property and expertise needed to
develop and manage our new business. Accordingly, on September 7, 2007, we acquired Global Clean Energy Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that owned
certain trade secrets, know-how, business plans and relationships relevant to the cultivation and production of Jatropha. In addition, at that time, we hired Richard Palmer, our
current Chief Executive Officer. In 2008 we changed our name to “Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc.” to reflect our energy agricultural business.

On July 19, 2010, we changed the state of our incorporation from Utah to Delaware. Our principal executive offices are located at 100 W. Broadway, Suite 650, Long
Beach, Los Angeles County, California 90802, and our current telephone number at that address is (310) 641-GCEH (4234). We maintain a website at:
www.gceholdings.com. Our annual reports, quarterly reports, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and other information related to this company are available on our website as soon as we
electronically file those documents with, or otherwise furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Internet website and the information contained therein, or
connected thereto, are not and are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Developments During 2010

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, we achieved the following milestones in the development of this company:




We increased the size of our Mexico farms by acquiring an additional 3,458 acres (i.e., an increase of over 66%);
We increased our full time employees by 75% to over 375;
We increased our asset base by more than $3.5 million, and we plan to continue to invest in assets and expand our farming operations;

We formed our non-profit research center, the Center for Sustainable Energy Farming www.CfSFE.net) to continue our genetic, agronomy and horticulture research
effort;

We have prepared all of our newly acquired land (3,458 additional acres) and are planting that acreage this season;
We have increased the amount of Jatropha oil, biomass and seeds that we sell from our farms;

We increased the amount of management and advisory services that we provide to partners and third parties;

We raised an additional $3.7 million in project equity and financing;

We have applied for approximately $20 million of financing through the Overseas Private Investment Corporation, (OPIC), a U.S. governmental agency designed to
assist U.S. companies with international development in targeted countries; and

We supplied Jatropha oil to Aeropuertos y Serviceios Auxiliares, the Mexican National Airport authority, to be converted by Honeywell’s UOP division, into bio-jet fuel
for commercial testing with Boeing planned for 2011. This is part of a national bio-jet initiative within Mexico.

We executed an off-take agreement with a renewable biofuel company pursuant to which the biofuel company conditionally agreed to purchase crude Jatropha oil from
us over the next 20 years. The agreement is conditioned upon our ability to acquire land and develop a new Jatropha farm large enough to support the biofuel
company’s requirements. We will have to obtain a substantial amount of project financing to acquire a dedicated farm that can support that contract.

Business Operations

We are an energy agri-business with international development and operations capabilities. We maintain in-house staff for the development, management, cultivation,
production and distribution of plant-based feedstock used to offset fossil fuels. Our business plan and current principal business activities include the planting, cultivation,
harvesting and processing of Jatropha to generate seed oils and biomass for use in the bio-fuels industry, including the production of bio-diesel and green diesel as well as
alternative feedstocks for fertilizers, animal feed and for green chemicals and other products which can use non-edible oils to replace edible oils.

Our vision and strategy is to grow and expand our farming and processing business to the level where economies of scale and our methods of operations allow us to
generate significant profits without the need for subsidies. The processes and procedures we employ to plant and cultivate Jatropha for our business are being continually refined in
order to produce “best practices” for Jatropha farm operations. By focusing on improving our Jatropha operations and the technology we apply to our operations, we plan to operate
economically sustainable Jatropha farms (i.e. without use of subsidies), which can replace fossil fuels at a production cost below $42 per barrel or $1.00 per gallon. By continuing
to invest in leading-edge genetic, agronomic (soil) and horticulture technology research and development, we are confident that we will develop high-yielding Jatropha trees that
deliver renewable energy feedstock into the market at very competitive prices.




Our strategy is to leverage our farming and energy knowledge, experience and capabilities through the following means:

Company Farms —Previously, we operated farms that are classified as “Company farms” in Belize and in Mexico. Both were developed as research and test farms, and
seed supply farms. We have since centralized and consolidated these efforts at our larger commercial farms in Mexico, where our field research station is located. This allows us to
centralize our scientific research and make more efficient use of our plant and soil scientists and facilities. As our commercial farms in Mexico have expanded, it is more
economical to perform these functions at our farms and we have the additional benefit of applying our research to commercial farming practices. We have, therefore, reclassified
our Belizean farm as an investment property and are currently in discussions to sell that farm.

Partnership Farms Owned Via Joint Ventures. We currently own two farms through joint venture arrangements with third party financing sources. Our first farm in
Mexico is our largest farm with approximately 5,149 acres of land near Tizimin, Mexico. The entire farm has been prepared and planted with almost 4.0 million Jatropha
trees. All the necessary roads and other support infrastructure have been developed on the farm. In addition, we have acquired and installed seed oil extraction equipment on-site to
extract oil from the harvested seeds. We have leased an industrial facility near our farm for the larger scale extraction of “crude Jatropha o0il” (CJO) and biomass. Sales up to this
point have primarily consisted of seeds for propagation, biomass used in specialty purposes, and oil and biomass for testing by potential customers. We anticipate that we will sell
CJO and biomass in commercial quantities from this farm commencing in fiscal 2011.

In March 2010, we acquired approximately 3,460 acres of additional land that is contiguous to this existing operation for the development of our second farm. As of the
date of this report, the land is fully prepared and we are currently planting, with plans to be complete by the end of the second quarter of 2011. We expect that this second farm will
commence production by the end of 2012.

For additional information regarding our joint venture operations, see “Jatropha Farming Operations—Tizimin—Mexico Farm,” below.

Jatropha Farm Development and Management Services. The company currently provides development and management services to unaffiliated companies and
individuals who are planning the development and implementation of Jatropha farms. These services are provided on a fee-for-service basis and generally begin with feasibility
studies, and are often followed by management contracts that provide us with the ability to develop and operate these farms on a go-forward basis. During the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010, we provided such services in connection with the development of large Jatropha farm operations. Our plan is to substantially increase the level of
development and management services that we provide as a means of generating near-term revenue and profits, and to allow us to fund the continued expansion of our technical
services team.

Contract Jatropha Farms. We have established a strategy and the processes to allow us to contract the farming operation on non-company owned farms, which are located
near our core farms, to third party farmers. The farmers will farm their own land under our direct supervision, utilizing our “best practices processes” for Jatropha cultivation with
the support of our technical services team of agri-business professionals. This program will allow us to expand our business while still ensuring success. We have not yet entered
into any agreements under this format.

Franchise Jatropha Farms. The Company has established a program for offering franchise operations for Jatropha Farms. This program consists of all of the necessary
programs and procedures to establish and operate a Jatropha farm profitably. The program also entails establishing and providing methods to obtain all necessary equipment and
supplies. The Company is in discussions with several parties, but as of this filing, no franchise agreements have been executed.




Our core activities consist of planting, cultivating, harvesting and processing of Jatropha feedstock to generate seed oils and biomass for use in the bio-fuels industry and
other high value industrial processed which use fossil based or plant based oils as their feedstock, including the production of bio-diesel and renewable diesel, and other high value
bio-fuels.

We have identified the Jatropha curcas plant as our primary feedstock for producing bio-diesel and other bio-fuels. The Jatropha plant is a perennial tree that produces an
inedible fruit with large seeds containing a high percentage of high quality inedible oil. The entire fruit, including the seeds, has excellent properties necessary for the production
of bio-fuels or as a direct replacement for fossil fuels. Our plan is to utilize the entire fruit of the Jatropha plant for bio-fuel production, including the oils produced from the fruit,
and the seed cake (press cake). We will utilize the fruit (hull) as a fertilizer for our trees to reduce our fertilizer costs.

We have identified strategic locations in North America, the Caribbean, Central America and South America ideally suited to our Jatropha planting, cultivation,
harvesting and processing activities. These locations have been selected for a number of key strategic reasons, including proximity to large ports for logistics purposes, relatively
stable democratic governments, favorable trade agreements with the United States, low-cost land, reasonably priced labor, favorable weather conditions and acceptable soil
conditions. We presently maintain farm properties in Tizimin, Mexico, on which we have commenced planting Jatropha. We also maintain a facility adjacent to our Tizimin farm
operations where we conduct research and development activities focusing on plant genetics, soil sciences, plant breeding and other related activities and work closely in
sponsorship with The Center for Sustainable Energy Farming (www.CfSEF.org ). We continue to sponsor and support the research to identify and develop improved Jatropha
varieties, as well as to establish ideal growing conditions, in order to maximize our output of Jatropha fruit, seed oil and biomass while reducing inputs and maximizing resistance
to pests and diseases.

Our business plan also includes the further development of more efficient seed oil extraction technologies and techniques and the expansion of our seed oil extracting
facility’s capacity to support our expanding farming operations. The seed oil extraction facility is used to extract the “crude Jatropha oil” (“CJO”) from the Jatropha seed, and
thereafter to collect the remaining biomass for sale to interested buyers.

We anticipate that our primary focus will remain in the feedstock oil market, and we will continue expanding our operations, primarily in the areas of planting, harvesting
and sale of feedstock oil to end users in the energy and oil chemical industry for production of biofuels and green chemicals. In the short term, as we develop our Jatropha farms
and prepare for our initial large-scale harvest of Jatropha seeds, we expect to generate short-term revenues through the sale of Jatropha seeds for germination, through forward sale
contracts for feedstock oil and biomass to be produced at our facilities, through the forward sale of carbon offset credits and through our development and management
services. We are also having active discussions with firms that have a non-fuel use for Jatropha oil for such things as the production of candles, “green chemicals” and “green
plastics”. Although we may engage in such ancillary sales, sales for these purposes are not expected to constitute a major source of future revenues.

Our board, management, employees, partners, technical advisors and consultants are senior energy, agricultural and business professionals possess extensive experience in
the energy and alternative fuels market, the production of bio-fuels, in the renewable energy sector in general, in agriculture and in general business. Accordingly, we have the
resident expertise to provide development and management services to other companies regarding their bio-fuels and/or feedstock development operations, on a fee for services
basis. As described below, we currently provide such bio-fuel consulting services in locations that are not directly competitive to our existing or planned sites.




Jatropha Farming Operations

Tizimin — Mexico Farm. Effective April 23, 2008, we entered into a limited liability company agreement for GCE Mexico I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“GCE Mexico”), with six other investors affiliated with two of our largest stockholders. GCE Mexico was organized primarily to acquire 2,000 hectares (approximately 5,149
acres) of land, directly or through subsidiaries, located in Tizimin, in the State of Yucatan in Mexico to be used primarily for the (i) cultivation of Jatropha curcas, (ii) the
marketing and sale of the resulting fruit, seeds, or pre-processed crude Jatropha oil, whether as bio-diesel feedstock, biomass or otherwise, and (iii) the sale of carbon value, green
fuel value, or renewable energy credit value (and other similar environmental attributes) derived from activities at this Jatropha farm. In March 2010, GCE Mexico acquired
approximately 3,460 acres of additional land that is contiguous to our existing 5,149-acre farm for the development of a second Jatropha farm. GCE Mexico acquired each of the
Jatropha farms through a Mexican subsidiary in which GCE Mexico owns a 99% interest, and we own a 1% interest.

We have begun harvesting seeds from the Jatropha trees that we planted at this farm in 2008 and early 2009, which we are using for our own expansion; we are selling the
balance of these seeds to third parties for propagation. We anticipate that the first material harvest of this farm will occur in 2011, and that we will, at that time, commence
extraction of commercial quantities of Jatropha oil from the harvested fruit (seeds).

We currently own 50% of the issued and outstanding common membership units of GCE Mexico. The remaining 50% in common membership units were issued to five
investors affiliated with two of our largest stockholders (This company and the other members of GCE Mexico holding the common membership units are collectively referred to
as “Common Members.”) In addition, an aggregate of 1,000 preferred membership units were issued to two investors also affiliated with two of our largest stockholders (the
“Preferred Members”). As of March 24, 2011, the Preferred Members have contributed a total of $8,908,858 to GCE Mexico. It is expected that the Preferred Members will
continue to fund the ongoing operation in accordance with the approved annual budgets provided by management. This funding will continue until the Jatropha farms generate
adequate funds to sustain operations, which is expected to occur for both farms by the end of 2012. The Preferred Members are entitled to a preferential return on their investment.

The two Preferred Members also directly funded the purchase by GCE Mexico of the approximately 5,149 acres of land in the State of Yucatan in Mexico by making a
$2,051,282 loan to pay the purchase price of that land. The land was acquired in the name of GCE Mexico’s Mexico subsidiary and is secured by a mortgage in the amount of
$2,051,282 in favor of the Preferred Members. The mortgage bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum, and interest is required to be paid quarterly. However, GCE Mexico has
agreed that interest shall accrue until such time as there is sufficient cash flow to pay all accrued interest. The entire mortgage, including any unpaid interest, is due April 23, 2018.
The two Preferred Members also have made a $742,652 mortgage loan to purchase the approximately 3,460 acres of additional farmland in Mexico that GCE Mexico acquired in
March 2010.

GCE Mexico is managed under the supervision of a board of directors comprising four members, two of whom we have appointed, and two of whom were appointed by
the Preferred Members. However, as the manager of the joint venture, GCEH manages the day-to-day operations of GCE Mexico and the operations in Mexico.

The following is a summary of certain factors relevant to an understanding of the operations of the Tizimin farms:

The first Jatropha trees that we planted on the Tizimin farm approximately two years ago are now flowering, and we expect to start harvesting commercial
quantities of Jatropha fruit in the late spring of 2011 with a larger harvest expected at the end of 2011. As a result, we expect to commence generating our first
revenues from the commercial sale of Jatropha seeds/oil as a result of that harvest. Jatropha seeds can be harvested twice a year. Accordingly, as the trees that
we planted during the past two years mature, our harvests of Jatropha seeds will increase in 2011 and thereafter and increase our future revenues from our
Tizimin operations.




Although some of our Jatropha trees produced fruit and seeds in 2010, the initial harvest was lower than previously anticipated primarily due to the extended
rainy season.

Our Tizimin operations are eligible for agricultural and other subsidies provided to certain foreign owned farming operations by the federal government of
Mexico. In October 2010, we received $368,000 as the first installment of the subsidy and have received the second and third installments in February 2011
(expected to total $100,000). These subsidies will help defray some of the initial start-up costs (capital) that we have incurred in establishing these farms.

We continue to operate two commercial sized nurseries for the germination of new Jatropha seedlings in the Tizimin area, which is essential to our ability to
plant and cultivate the remaining portions of our second farm and any additional farms that we may acquire and develop in the future.

Oil extraction facilities, germplasm resources, and sheep herding capabilities are all being increased in anticipation of our expanding Jatropha farming
operations. Industrial oil extraction facilities are expected to be located offsite of the present farms.

Our Tizimin farms are being developed for the purpose of providing feedstock for the production of bio-fuels and olio-chemicals, from Jatropha oil and
biomass. However, our development and cultivation of these farms has also enabled us to generated ancillary revenues from these operations. For example,
we now receive revenue from the sale of biomass (waste wood removed from our farms as the land is cleared for Jatropha planting), sales of sheep that graze
on our lands and control weeds, and sale of the press-cake of the Jatropha seeds that remain after oil extraction.

Total capital for expenses and operations, since inception, for the two farms in the Tizimin area (through February 28, 2011) are approximately $6.5 million for
the first farm and $2.4 million for the second farm. All funding has to date been provided by the investing partners of the joint venture that owns both Tizimin
farms. These investment partners will have a priority right to receive revenues generated from these farms until their investment, plus a preferred return, have
been paid.

Belize.

On July 2, 2009, we purchased Technology Alternatives Limited, a company formed under the laws of Belize (“TAL”). TAL owns an existing Jatropha farm in
subtropical Belize, Central America. The research functions from this farm have been relocated to our commercial farms in Mexico and the Belize farm currently is inactive, and
we are currently evaluating the future use and/or disposition of this farm. The net assets of the Belize farm are classified as held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet. In
connection with the acquisition, we owe the former owners $516,139 Belize Dollars (US $268,036 based on exchange rates in effect at March 15, 2011). The notes are secured by
a mortgage on the land and related improvements. The notes, plus any related accrued interest, were originally due on December 29, 2009, but the due date has now been
extended to July 15, 2011.




Principal Products

The Jatropha curcas plant will continue to be our primary agricultural focus for the foreseeable future. The Jatropha plant is a perennial, inedible tree, and all of its by-
products can be used for fuel, non-edible vegetable oil uses and biomass energy production. It is a very efficient tree that produces high quality seed oil and high-energy content
biomass. We expect our principal products to include the bio-fuels oil feedstock, vegetable oil replacement and biomass derived from the cultivation and processing of the
Jatropha plant. In addition, we expect to generate revenues from the sale of carbon credits earned from our agricultural operations.

Bio-fuels Oil Feedstock

The feedstock oil needed for the production of bio-diesel, renewable diesel and green diesel that is currently available on the market today is primarily supplied from
edible plant seed oils including soy, canola (rapeseed) and palm. There are other types of feedstock utilized including animal fats and recycled cooking grease, but they make up a
small portion of the market supply. Our primary source of bio-fuels feedstock will be from the oil produced from the Jatropha plant. One advantage of the Jatropha plant is that its
oil and meal is inedible, and the cultivation of the plant, which will primarily be for use in the bio-fuels industry, does not compete for resources with other crops grown primarily
for food consumption.

Biomass Feedstock

The Jatropha plant produces a fruit (about the size of a walnut) containing three large seeds that contain 32%-38% oil content by weight. The non-oil components of the
fruit, which represents 62-68% of the total fruit, contain high energy biomass (carbon values) that is an excellent source of feedstock for a number of energy producing processes
including direct combustion, gasification, power production, and cellulosic ethanol (alcohol) production. Fifty percent of the energy in the Jatropha seed resides in the biomass.

Carbon Credits

Bio-fuels production and use is a very effective means to reduce both local and global pollution from emissions that cause climate change. Growing trees and plants that
sequester carbon from the atmosphere and burning bio-fuels offset the production of greenhouse gasses resulting from the consumption of petroleum or other fossil-based
fuels. Many bio-fuels produce less pollution, including fewer quantities of CO,, NOx, SOx and PM,,. Through the 1997 Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change (Kyoto Protocol), signatory countries are required to reduce their overall greenhouse gas emissions or carbon footprint. The worldwide carbon
market is still in a state of reorganization, but was significantly solidified by the climate summit in Cancun in 2010. As of November 2007, 174 parties are signatories to and have
ratified the Kyoto Protocol. The United States of America is not a signatory to the Kyoto Protocol. Signatory countries require local industry and other local energy end-users to
either reduce their greenhouse gas emissions, or purchase greenhouse gas emission credits (carbon credits). This requirement has created a worldwide “Carbon Credit Trading
Market” where sellers sell their excess carbon credits and buyers purchase the carbon credits they need to meet their greenhouse gas reduction requirements. The development of
agricultural-based energy projects may produce carbon credits through the sequestration (storing) of carbon by the growing of trees and plants, or by the offset of other sequestered
carbon. Selling carbon credits represents potential additional revenue that will help to offset capital requirements for our plantation and other development activities.

In our case, Certified Emission Reductions (CERs) may be generated through Clean Development Mechanism projects in non-Annex 1 nations, which include Mexico,
the Caribbean, Central and South America. Our current business plan contemplates the cultivation of multiple 20,000-hectare Jatropha energy farms. Assuming full maturity of a
20,000-hectare Jatropha farm, we have calculated that we will generate more than 250,000 metric tons of sellable carbon credits annually. This will come from the offset of use of
fossil fuels. If we include the potential to use the Jatropha trees as a carbon sink, we estimate this will increase the sellable carbon credits to over 350,000 metric tons per year.




Technology

We do not currently possess any patentable technology relating to our operations in the feedstock and bio-fuels market. However, we are currently engaged in research
and development activities focused on improved Jatropha varieties, technical know-how and proprietary processes for optimizing the quality of our Jatropha yields, reducing
operating costs and improving our production capacity and efficiency. These research and development activities currently consist of plant biology and molecular genetic research,
and are being conducted primarily through in-house research and in joint development activities in concert with the Center for Sustainable Energy Farming, through Penn State
University. We continue to develop our procedures and Intellectual Property (IP) Sustainable Energy Farming Systems. It is expected that patentable technologies will result
from our research activities; however, there can be no assurance that patentable technologies will be developed, or if they are developed, that we would be the sole owners of such
patents.

Any technology we develop will be in three main categories: (i) plant and soil sciences, (ii) agricultural technology and procedure development, and (iii) material
processing and end use applications. Such technologies developed are expected to assist in reducing costs, improving efficiency and allowing us to move the products higher in
value creation.

Market

According to both the International Energy Agency (“IEA”) and the US Department of Energy’s Energy Information Administration (“EIA”) estimates, the world
demand for crude oil in 2010 was approximately 88 million barrels per day, with approximately 25% of that demand being diesel and fuel oil (distillate fuel oil). This equates to a
global consumption of distillate fuel oil of approximately 22.0 million barrels per day, or 337 billion gallons per year. At a 5% blend with bio-diesel, the world market for bio-
diesel exceeds 16.8 billion gallons per year.

U.S. diesel fuel oil consumption for 2009 was over 50 billion gallons. At a 5% bio-diesel blend, the US bio-diesel market is over 2.5 billion gallons per year, which we
expect will continue to grow.

As reported by the National Biodiesel Board, in 2009 U.S. bio-diesel refineries produced approximately 506 million gallons of neat (100%) bio-diesel fuel from a reported
122 active producers with a total capacity of over 2 billion gallons. This is just over 25% of capacity and represents less than 1% of US demand for diesel fuel. The trend of
production and consumption is growing. In 2005, U.S. refineries produced approximately 75 million gallons, in 2006 approximately 250 million gallons were sold, in 2007 450
million gallons were sold and in 2008, 678 million gallons. The reduction in 2009 is primarily due to increased feedstock costs.

Our primary market is the direct sale of Jatropha feedstock oil for bio-diesel, renewable diesel and biomass energy production, and the sale of carbon credits we generate
from our agricultural operations. Our primary customers are processors of bio-fuels. We estimate that there are approximately 122 bio-diesel plants in the United States alone,
which can utilize up to 100% of our crude or refined Jatropha oil. However, we expect to generate our highest revenues and greatest margins from customers who have logistical
capacity on a water port accessible from the Gulf of Mexico. This will reduce redundant transportation costs and allow us to ship large quantities economically. These customers
have historically paid a higher price for feedstock oil, since the majority of feedstock oil supplies have been shipped from the Midwestern United States. We anticipate that our
key customer profile will include well-financed, low-cost bio-diesel refiners.

Oil made from the seeds of the Jatropha plant has also recently been tested as an aviation fuel supplement by a number of airlines, including Air New Zealand, Japan
Airlines, Continental Airlines and the US Air Force. The ability of Jatropha oil to replace kerosene-based jet fuel is being studied to reduce the aviation world’s dependence on
high-pollution crude oil.




As our business develops, we expect to utilize some distributors for sale of the Jatropha feedstock oil and the biomass by-products that we will produce.
Environmental Impact

Bio-fuels, and especially bio-diesel, have environmental benefits that are a major driving force for their introduction. Using bio-fuels instead of fossil fuels reduces net
emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gasses, which are associated with global climate change. Bio-fuels are produced from renewable plant resources that “recycle”
the carbon dioxide created when bio-fuels are consumed. Life-cycle analyses consistently show that using bio-fuels produced in modern facilities results in net reductions of
greenhouse gas carbon emissions compared to using fossil fuel-based petroleum equivalents. These life-cycle analyses include the total energy requirements for the farming and
production of the biomass resource, as well as harvesting, conversion and utilization. Bio-fuels help nations achieve their goals of reducing carbon emissions. Bio-fuels burn
cleanly in vehicle engines and reduce emissions of unwanted products, particularly unburned hydrocarbons and carbon monoxide. These characteristics contribute to
improvements in local air quality. In a life-cycle study published in October 2002, entitled “A Comprehensive Analysis of Bio-diesel Impacts on Exhaust Emissions, 2002,” the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) analyzed bio-diesel produced from virgin soy oil, rapeseed (canola) and animal fats. The study concluded that the emission
impact of bio-diesel potentially increased NOx emissions slightly while significantly reducing other major emissions.

Competition

Although there are a number of producers of bio-fuels, few are utilizing non-edible oil feedstock for the production of bio-diesel. The following table lists the companies we are
aware of that are cultivating Jatropha for the production of bio-diesel:

Valero Invested in a Australian Jatropha farming operation and has entered into offtake agreements to purchase the resultant CJO.

Van Der Horst Corporation  Building a 200,000-tpy bio-diesel plant in Juron Island in Singapore that will eventually be supplied with Jatropha from plantations it operates in

(Singapore) Cambodia and China, and possible new plantations in India, Laos and Burma.

Mission Biofuels Hired Agro Diesel of India to manage a 100,000-hectare Jatropha plantation, and a contract-farming network in India to feed its Malaysian and
(Australia) Chinese bio-diesel refineries. Mission Biofuels has raised in excess of $80 million to fund its operations.

D1 Oils (UK) As of June 2007, together with its partners, D1 Oils has planted or obtained rights to offtake from a total approximately 172,000 hectares of

Jatropha under cultivation worldwide. D1’s Jatropha plantations are located in Saudi Arabia, Cambodia, Ghana, Indonesia, the Philippines, China,
India, Zambia, South Africa and Swaziland. In June 2007, D1 Oils and British Petroleum entered into a 50:50 joint venture to plant up to an
additional 1 million hectares of Jatropha worldwide. British Petroleum funded the first £31.75 million of the Joint Venture’s working capital
requirements through a purchase of D1 Oils equity, and the total Joint Venture funding requirement is anticipated to be £80 million over the next
five years.

NRG Chemical Engineering Signed a $1.3 billion deal with state-owned Philippine National Oil Co. in May 2007. NRG Chemical will own a 70% stake in the joint venture,
(UK) which will involve the construction of a bio-diesel refinery, two ethanol distilleries and a $600 million investment in Jatropha plantations that will

cover over 1 million hectares, mainly on the islands of Palawan and Mindanao.

Note: 1 hectare = 2.47 acres
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We believe there is sufficient global demand for alternative non-edible bio-fuel feedstock to allow a number of companies to successfully compete worldwide. In
particular, we note that we are the only U.S.-based public company producer of non-edible oil feedstock for the production of bio-diesel, which gives us a unique competitive
advantage over many foreign competitors when competing in the U.S.

The price basis for our non-edible oil and biomass feedstock will be equivalent to other edible seed oil and biomass feedstock. We have not found any substantial effort
towards the production of any other non-edible oil worldwide that could compete with Jatropha. With the growing demand for feedstock, and the high price of oil and bio-fuels,
we anticipate that we will be able to sell our Jatropha oil and biomass feedstock profitability.

Employees.

As of December 31, 2010, we had 378 full time employees, contract employees and consultants, of which 372 are employed by our subsidiaries in Mexico. As business
levels require and as capital resources permit, we expect to hire full-time employees. Neither this company, nor any of our subsidiaries is a party to any collective bargaining
agreements.

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below before deciding to invest in or maintain your
investment in our company. The risks described below are not intended to be an all-inclusive list of all of the potential risks relating to an investment in our securities. If any of the

following or other risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or operating results and the trading price or value of our securities could be materially and adversely
affected.

Risks Related To Our Business
We have operated at a loss and will likely continue to operate at a loss in 2011.

We have incurred an operating loss since our inception. We had an accumulated deficit of approximately $26,933,000, and a working capital deficit of approximately
$5,035,000 as of December 31, 2010. In addition, we incurred a net loss of $625,000 for the fiscal year then ended. Although we had net income for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2009, that net income was primarily the result of a gain that we recognized due to our sale of our SaveCream legacy medical asset. In addition, most of the gain we
recognized from the sale of the SaveCream asset resulted from the liabilities that were released or assumed, and did not result in any payments to us. We are likely to continue to
incur losses unless and until we are able to generate significantly more revenues from the sale of Jatropha products, the sale of carbon credits, or from fees generated by providing
Jatropha consulting services. Although we anticipate that our revenues from these sources will significantly increase during fiscal 2011 and thereafter, no assurance can be given
that these revenues will be sufficient to generate net income in the future. Losses have had, and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and the trading
price of our common stock. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our Jatropha operations, we are unable to predict when we may become profitable, if
at all. If we do not become profitable or are unable to maintain future profitability, the market value of our common stock will be adversely affected.
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It is not certain that we will have sufficient funds available to us to fund all of our operating expenses for 2011 and thereafter.

As of March 24, 2011, we believe that we will have sufficient cash available, and sufficient anticipated future revenues, to fund our anticipated working capital needs
through 2011. However, our projected revenue sources are tenuous, and no assurance can be given that all anticipated revenues will, in fact, be received. In addition, our current
liabilities still significantly exceed our current assets, and the amount of revenues that we expect to generate in 2011 from our Jatropha-related consulting services and other sources
may not be sufficient to fund all of our working capital needs. In fiscal 2010, our sources of cash consisted primarily of reimbursement payments we received from GCE Mexico I,
LLC and management consulting fees we received for services we provided to third parties. Although we anticipate that our Mexico farms will, in 2011, commence generating
significant revenues, all proceeds received from those harvests will be used to operate the Mexico farms and, other than management fee reimbursements that we receive, none of
those revenues will be available to defray our corporate overhead expenses or pay any of our on-going costs of operations. If funds we receive from these sources are not sufficient
to fund our operating needs, we will have to raise funds from other sources, such as the sale of securities, strategic partnerships, or governmental grants or loans. No assurance can
be given that we will be able to obtain such funding, if needed. In the event that we receive less revenues or funding than we need, we may have to reduce our operations.

We may need significant additional capital in order to fund our expansion and the implementation of our business plan, which we may be unable to obtain. If we do not
receive additional funding, we may not be able to achieve our business plan of further developing our bio-fuels business and we may even be forced to reduce our future
operations.

In addition to generating funds to cover our operating expenses, we will need a significant amount of additional funding in order to acquire and operate additional Jatropha
farms and to otherwise implement our bio-fuels operations in accordance with our business plan. Our capital requirements for expanding our operations will be significant, and we
do not currently have any of the funds that we expect to need for these purposes. Accordingly, we will need to obtain a significant amount of additional capital to continue to fund
our operating expenses and to expand our Jatropha business. To date, we have acquired approximately 8,600-acre of Jatropha farms that we own in Mexico through a joint venture
with our financing partners. In 2010, we received $3.7M from our joint venture partners, and acquired approximately 3,460 acres of additional Jatropha farm land that we are
developing. No assurance can be given that we will be able to obtain additional funding from our joint venture investors in the future, nor have we identified alternative sources
for the additional financing that we will require if we are to achieve our business plan. We do not have commitments from any third parties to provide us with additional funds to
finance the acquisition, development and operation of the Jatropha farms that represent the foundation of our business plan. Certain investors may be unwilling to invest in our
securities since we are traded on the OTC Bulletin Board and not on a national securities exchange, particularly if there is only limited trading in our common stock on the OTC
Bulletin Board at the time we seek financing. There is no assurance that sufficient funding through a financing will be available to us at acceptable terms or at all. Historically,
we have raised capital through the issuance of debt and equity securities. However, given the risks associated with a relatively new and untested bio-fuels business, the risks
associated with our common stock (as discussed below), the worldwide financial crisis that has severely affected the capital markets, and our status as a small, unknown public
company, we expect in the near future, we will have a great deal of difficulty raising capital through traditional financing sources. Therefore, we cannot guarantee that we will be
able to raise capital, or if we are able to raise capital, that such capital will be in the amounts needed. Our failure to raise capital, when needed, and in sufficient amounts, will
severely impact our ability to develop our Jatropha bio-fuels business. Any additional funding that we obtain in an equity or convertible debt financing is likely to reduce the
percentage ownership of the company held by our existing security holders. The amount of this dilution may be substantial if the trading price of our common stock is low at the
time of any financing from its current levels. There can be no assurance that financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain
the needed additional funding, we will have to reduce or even totally discontinue our operations, which would result in a total loss to all of our shareholders.
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We have limited operating history in the feedstock and bio-diesel industries, which makes it difficult to evaluate our financial position and our business plan.

We commenced our current feedstock and biofuels operations in 2007. Since then, we have focused our efforts on developing our Jatropha business, including, among
other things, acquiring our Jatropha farms through a joint venture, and cultivating Jatropha plants for the subsequent production and sale of Jatropha seeds, oil and
biomass. Because our operations thus far have concentrated on growing our Jatropha business, and because the Jatropha trees on our farms are only now starting to produce
commercial quantities of Jatropha fruit, we have had limited sales of Jatropha seeds, oil and by-products to date. Thus, we have little operating history as a feedstock/biofuels
company on which a decision to invest in our company can be based. The future of our company currently is dependent upon our ability to successfully harvest, market and sell
the Jatropha products that we expect will be generated during fiscal 2011 and thereafter, and to otherwise implement our business plan in the Jatropha business. While we believe
that our business plan, if implemented as conceived, will make our company successful in the long term, we have limited operating history against which we can test our plans and
assumptions, and therefore cannot evaluate the likelihood of success.

Our Jatropha operations are subject to all of the risks normally associated with large farming operations, including risks related to the weather.

Through our GCE Mexico I, LLC joint venture, we currently own approximately 8,600 acres of farm land in the Yucatan peninsula, Mexico, which land is dedicated to
the production of Jatropha bio-fuel and other related products. Of those 8,600 acres, 5,600 acres have been planted and contain Jatropha trees. The cultivation, planting,
maintenance and harvesting of Jatropha trees is subject to all of the risks normally associated with the operation of large farms, including risks related to the weather, soil
conditions, pests, insects, plant diseases, and plant selection and breeding. For example, during the fourth quarter of 2010, our Mexico farms did not produce a significant harvest
of Jatropha fruit because of the heavy rains and extended rainy season.. No assurance can be given that the weather or other conditions will not adversely affect future harvests of
Jatropha fruit at our Mexico farms.

Because our interest in cash distribution from our Mexico joint venture is subordinated to the return of our investors’ investment and a 12% compounded annual return,
we do not expect to receive any cash from our Mexico Jatropha farms for a number of years.

The Jatropha trees we planted in 2008 in the first of our Mexico Jatropha farms are now beginning to mature, and, as a result, we anticipate that in 2011 our Mexico farms
will generate revenues (particularly from the second harvest in the fourth quarter of 2011). However, under our GCE Mexico I, LLC operating agreement, revenues from the
Jatropha crop are first applied to our farm operating expenses, and then any excess cash flow is first used to a return of our GCE Mexico I, LLC investors’ investment in these
farms and a cumulative 12% per annum preferential return on their investment. As of December 31, 2010, the total amount we have to pay our investors, including the preferential
return, before any cash is distributed to us, was $10,361,602. We currently do not anticipate that the Mexico farms we jointly own through GCE Mexico I, LLC will generate
sufficient cash to repay this amount for several years. Accordingly, other than management fees that GCE Mexico I, LLC is required to pay us, we do not expect to receive any
cash distributions from our majority ownership interest in this entity for several years. No assurance can be given that our investment in GCE Mexico I, LLC will ever generate
sufficient revenues to repay our joint venture investors and return capital to this company.
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Our Jatropha biofules business is a new and highly risky business that has not been conducted on a similar scale in North America.

Our business plan calls for a large scale planting and harvesting of Jatropha plants, primarily outside of the United States, and for the subsequent production and sale of
Jatropha oil (and other Jatropha byproducts) for use as a bio-fuel in Mexico and in the United States. In addition to all of the risks normally associated with developing a new line
of business, we will be subject to certain risks unique to our Jatropha bio-fuels business, including the large scale production of plants that have not heretofore been grown in large
scale farms in Mexico, logistical issues related to the oil and biomass produced at such farms, market acceptance, uncertain pricing of our products, developing governmental
regulations, and the lack of an established market for our products.

Our business could be significantly impacted by changes in government regulations over energy policy.

Our planned operations and the properties we intend to cultivate are subject to a wide variety of federal, provincial and municipal laws and regulations, including those
governing the use of land, type of development, use of water, use of chemicals for fertilizer, pesticides, export or import of various materials including plants, oil, use of biomass,
handling of materials, labor laws, storage handling of materials, shipping, and the health and safety of employees. As such, the nature of our operations exposes us to the risk of
claims with respect to such matters and there can be no assurance that material costs or liabilities will not be incurred in connection with such claims. In addition, these
governmental regulations, both in the United States and in the foreign countries in which we may conduct our business, may restrict and hinder our operations and may
significantly raise our cost of operations. Any breach by our company of such legislation may also result in the suspension or revocation of necessary licenses, permits or
authorizations, civil liability and the imposition of fines and penalties, which would adversely affect our ability to operate and our financial condition.

Further, there is no assurance that the laws, regulations, policies or current administrative practices of any government body, organization or regulatory agency in the
United States or any other jurisdiction, will not be changed, applied or interpreted in a manner which will fundamentally alter the ability of our company to carry on our business.
The actions, policies or regulations, or changes thereto, of any government body or regulatory agency, or other special interest groups, may have a detrimental effect on our
company. Any or all of these situations may have a negative impact on our operations.

Our future growth is dependent upon strategic relationships within the feedstock and bio-diesel industries. If we are unable to develop and maintain such relationships,
our future business prospects could be significantly limited.

Our future growth will generally be dependent on relationships with third parties, including alliances with feedstock oil and bio-diesel processors and distributors. In
addition, we will likely rely on third parties to oversee the operations and cultivation of the Jatropha plants in our non-U.S. properties. Accordingly, our success will be
significantly dependent upon our ability to establish successful strategic alliances with third parties and on the performance of these third parties. These third parties may not
regard their relationship with us as important to their own business and operations, and there is no assurance that they will commit the time and resources to our joint projects as is
necessary, or that they will not in the future reassess their commitment to our business. Furthermore, these third parties may not perform their obligations as agreed. In the event
that a strategic relationship is discontinued for any reason, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

A significant decline in the price of oil could have an adverse impact in our profitability.

Our success is dependent in part upon the historic high price of crude oil and on the high price of seed oils that are currently used to manufacture bio-diesel. A significant
decline in the price of either crude oil or the alternative seed oils will have a direct negative impact on our financial performance.
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There are risks associated with conducting our business operations in foreign countries, including political and social unrest.

All of our currently operating farms are located in Mexico. We expect that most, if not all, of our future agricultural operations will also be primarily located in foreign
countries, particularly in Mexico. Accordingly, we are subject to risks not typically associated with ownership of U.S. companies and therefore should be considered more
speculative than investments in the U.S.

For example, Mexico is a developing country that has experienced a range of political, social and economic difficulties over the last decade. Our operations could be
affected in varying degrees by political instability, social unrest and changes in government regulation relating to foreign investment, the biofuels industry, and the import and
export of goods and services. Operations may also be affected in varying degrees by possible terrorism, military conflict, crime, fluctuations in currency rates and high inflation.

In addition, Mexico has a nationalized oil company, and there can be no assurance that the government of Mexico will continue to allow our business and our assets to
compete in any way with their interests. Our operations could be adversely affected by political, social and economic unrest in Mexico and any other foreign countries in which we
commence agricultural operations.

We plan to grow rapidly and our inability to keep up with such growth may adversely affect our profitability.

We plan to grow rapidly and significantly expand our operations. We currently have a very small staff and few resources. If we succeed in significantly expanding our
operations, our growth may place a significant strain on our management team and other company resources. We will not be able to implement our business strategy in a rapidly
evolving market without effective planning and management processes. If we grow significantly, we will have to manage multiple farms in various foreign locations, hundreds of
foreign employees, and relationships with various domestic and foreign strategic partners. To manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will have to
significantly supplement our existing managerial, financial and operational staff, systems, procedures and controls. We may be unable to supplement and complete, in a timely
manner, the improvements to our systems, procedures and controls necessary to support our future operations, and consequently our operations will not function effectively. In
addition, our management may be unable to hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required personnel, or successfully identify, manage and exploit existing and potential market
opportunities. As a result, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Our business will not be diversified because we will be primarily concentrated in one industry. As a consequence, we may not be able to adapt to changing market
conditions or endure any decline in the bio-diesel industry.

We expect our business will be substantially dependent upon the success of Jatropha as a bio-fuel. Accordingly, we expect that virtually all of our revenues will be
derived from some form of Jatropha (either from the sales of feedstock oil harvested from our Jatropha farms, the bio-diesel production and sales of Jatropha oil, the sale of carbon
credits produced from Jatropha farms, and the development and management services related to the cultivation and production of Jatropha plants and bio-fuel). We do not have
any other lines of business or other sources of revenue to rely upon if the Jatropha business does not become viable and if we are unable to produce and sell feedstock oil and bio-
diesel, or if the markets for such products decline. Our lack of diversification means that we may not be able to adapt to changing market conditions or to withstand any significant
decline in the bio-diesel industry.

Reductions in the price of bio-diesel, and decreases in the price of petroleum-based fuels could affect the price of our feedstock, resulting in reductions in our revenues.
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Historically, bio-diesel prices have been highly correlated to the Ultra Low Sulfur (“ULS”) diesel prices. Increased volatility in the crude oil market has an effect on the
stability and long-term predictability of ULS diesel, and hence the biofuels prices in the domestic and international markets. Crude oil prices are impacted by wars and other
political factors, economic uncertainties, exchange rates and natural disasters. A reduction in petroleum-based fuel prices may have an adverse effect on bio-diesel prices and
could apply downward pressure on feedstock, affecting revenues and profits in the feedstock industry, which could adversely affect our financial condition.

Delays due to, among others, weather, labor or material shortages, permitting or zoning delays, or opposition from local groups, may hinder our ability to commence
operations in a timely manner.

We could incur delays in the implementation of our plans to plant and harvest Jatropha, or our plans for the construction of support facilities, due to permitting or zoning
delays, opposition from local groups, adverse weather conditions, labor or material shortages, or other causes. In addition, changes in political administrations at the federal, state
or local level that result in policy changes towards the large scale cultivation of Jatropha, or towards biofuels in general, could result in delays in our business plan timetable. Any
such delays could adversely affect our ability to fully commence operations and generate revenues.

We may be unable to locate suitable properties and obtain the development rights needed to build and expand our business.

Our business plan focuses on identifying and developing agricultural properties (farms, nurseries, etc.) for the production of biofuels feedstock. The availability of land
for this activity is a key element of our projected revenue generation. Our ability to acquire appropriate land in the future is uncertain and we may be required to delay planting,
which may create unanticipated costs and delays. In the event that we are not successful in identifying and obtaining rights on suitable land for our agricultural and processing
facilities, our future prospects for profitability will likely be affected, and our financial condition and resulting operations may be adversely affected.

Technological advances in feedstock oil production methods in the bio-diesel industry could adversely affect our ability to compete and the value of your investment.

Technological advances could significantly decrease the cost of producing feedstock oil and biofuels. There is significant research and capital being invested in
identifying more efficient processes, and lowering the cost of producing feedstock oil and biofuels. We expect that technological advances in feedstock oil/biofuel production
methods will continue to occur. If improved technologies become available to our competitors, they may be able to produce feedstock oil, and ultimately biofuels, at a lower cost
than us. If we are unable to adopt or incorporate technological advances into our operations, our ability to compete effectively in the feedstock/biofuels market may be adversely
affected, which in turn will affect our profitability.

The development of alternative fuels and energy sources may reduce the demand for biofuels, resulting in a reduction in our profitability.

Alternative fuels, including a variety of energy alternatives to biofuels, are continually under development. Technological advances in fuel-engines and exhaust system
design and performance could also reduce the use of biofuels, which would reduce the demand for bio-diesel. Further advances in power generation technologies, using cleaner
hydrocarbon based fuels, fuel cells and hydrogen are actively being researched and developed. If these technological advances and alternatives prove to be economically feasible,
environmentally superior and accepted in the marketplace, the market for biofuels could be significantly diminished or replaced, which would adversely affect our financial
condition.
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Our ability to hire and retain key personnel and experienced consultants will be an important factor in the success of our business and a failure to hire and retain key
personnel may result in our inability to manage and implement our business plan.

We are highly dependent upon our management and on Richard Palmer (our Chief Executive Officer) in particular. The loss of the services of any of our management
personnel may impair management's ability to operate our company or our ability to locate and develop new Jatropha farms. We have not purchased key man insurance on any of
our officers, which insurance would provide us with insurance proceeds in the event of their death. Without key man insurance, we may not have the financial resources to develop
or maintain our business until we could replace such individuals or to replace any business lost by the death of such individuals. We may not be able to attract and retain the
necessary qualified personnel. If we are unable to retain or to hire qualified personnel as required, we may not be able to adequately manage and implement our business.

Our operating costs could be higher than we expect, and this could reduce our future profitability.

In addition to general economic conditions, market fluctuations and international risks, significant increases in operating, development and implementation costs could
adversely affect our company due to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control. These increases could arise for several reasons, such as:

Increased cost for land acquisition;

Increased unit costs of labor for nursery, field preparation and planting;

Increased costs for construction of facilities;

Increased transportation costs for required nursery and field workers;

Increased costs of supplies and sub-contacted labor for preparing of land for planting;
Increase costs for irrigation, soil conditioning, soil maintenance; or

Increased time for planting and plant care and custody.

In addition, our Jatropha farm operations will also subject us to ongoing compliance with applicable governmental regulations, including those regulations governing land
use, water use, pollution control, worker safety and health and welfare and other matters. We may have difficulty complying with these regulations and our compliance costs could
increase significantly. Increases in operating costs would have a negative impact on our operating income, and could result in substantially decreased earnings or a loss from our
operations, adversely affecting our financial condition.

Fluctuations in the Mexican peso to U.S. dollar exchange rate may adversely affect our reported operating results.

The Mexican peso is the primary operating currency for our current business operations while our financial results are reported in U.S. dollars. Because our costs will be
primarily denominated in pesos, a decline in the value of the dollar to the peso could negatively affect our actual operating costs in U.S. dollars, and our reported results of
operations. We do not currently engage in any currency hedging transactions intended to reduce the effect of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on our results of
operations. We cannot guarantee that we will enter into any such currency hedging transactions in the future or, if we do, that these transactions will successfully protect us against
currency fluctuations.

Our future profitability is dependent upon many natural factors outside of our control. If these factors do not produce favorable results our future business profitability
could be significantly affected.

Our future profitability is mainly dependent on the production output from our agricultural operations. There are many factors that can effect growth and fruit production

of the Jatropha plant including weather, nutrients, pests and other natural enemies of the plant. Many of these are outside of our direct control and could be devastating to our
operations.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

Our stock is thinly traded, so you may be unable to sell your shares at or near the quoted bid prices if you need to sell a significant number of your shares.

The shares of our common stock are thinly-traded on the OTC Bulletin Board and on the OTCQB market, meaning that the number of persons interested in purchasing
our common shares at or near bid prices at any given time may be relatively small or non-existent. This situation is attributable to a number of factors, including the fact that we
are a small company which is relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock brokers, institutional investors and others in the investment community that generate or influence sales
volume, and that even if we came to the attention of such persons, they tend to be risk-averse and would be reluctant to follow an unproven, early stage company such as ours or
purchase or recommend the purchase of our shares until such time as we became more seasoned and viable. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when
trading activity in our shares is minimal or non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will generally support
continuous sales without an adverse effect on share price. We cannot give you any assurance that a broader or more active public trading market for our common shares will
develop or be sustained, or that current trading levels will be sustained. Due to these conditions, we can give you no assurance that you will be able to sell your shares at or near
bid prices or at all if you need money or otherwise desire to liquidate your shares.

Our existing directors, officers and key employees hold a substantial amount of our common stock and may be able to prevent other shareholders from influencing
significant corporate decisions.

As of March 24, 2011, our directors and executive officers beneficially owned approximately 27.99% of our outstanding common stock. These shareholders, if they act
together, may be able to direct the outcome of matters requiring approval of the shareholders, including the election of our directors and other corporate actions such as:

our merger with or into another company;
a sale of substantially all of our assets; and
amendments to our articles of incorporation.
The decisions of these shareholders may conflict with our interests or those of our other shareholders.
The market price of our stock may be adversely affected by market volatility.
The market price of our common stock is likely to be volatile and could fluctuate widely in response to many factors, including:
fluctuation in the world price of crude oil;
market changes in the biofuels industry;
government regulations affecting renewable energy businesses and users;
actual or anticipated variations in our operating results;

our success in meeting our business goals and the general development of our proposed operations;
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general economic, political and market conditions in the U.S. and the foreign countries in which we plan to operate; and
the occurrence of any of the risks described in this Annual Report.
Obtaining additional capital though the sale of common stock will result in dilution of shareholder interests.

We may raise additional funds in the future by issuing additional shares of common stock or other securities, which may include securities such as convertible debentures,
warrants or preferred stock that are convertible into common stock. Any such sale of common stock or other securities will lead to further dilution of the equity ownership of
existing holders of our common stock. Additionally, the existing options, warrants and conversion rights may hinder future equity offerings, and the exercise of those options,
warrants and conversion rights may have an adverse effect on the value of our stock. If any such options, warrants or conversion rights are exercised at a price below the then
current market price of our shares, then the market price of our stock could decrease upon the sale of such additional securities. Further, if any such options, warrants or
conversion rights are exercised at a price below the price at which any particular shareholder purchased shares, then that particular shareholder will experience dilution in his or her
investment.

We are unlikely to pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid dividends on our stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of
our business. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, and it is unlikely that investors will derive any current income from ownership of our stock.
This means that your potential for economic gain from ownership of our stock depends on appreciation of our stock price and will only be realized by a sale of the stock at a price
higher than your purchase price.

Trading of our stock may be restricted by the Securities and Exchange Commission's penny stock regulations, which may limit a shareholder’s ability to buy and sell our
stock.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted regulations which generally define “penny stock™ to be any equity security that has a market price less than $5.00
per share or an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. Our securities are covered by the penny stock rules, which impose additional sales practice
requirements on broker-dealers who sell to persons other than established customers and “accredited investors”. The term “accredited investor” refers generally to institutions with
assets in excess of $5,000,000 or individuals with a net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or annual income exceeding $200,000 or $300,000 jointly with their spouse. The penny
stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to deliver a standardized risk disclosure document in a form
prepared by the Securities and Exchange Commission, which provides information about penny stocks and the nature and level of risks in the penny stock market. The broker-
dealer also must provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction and
monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held in the customer's account. The bid and offer quotations, and the broker-dealer and salesperson
compensation information, must be given to the customer orally or in writing prior to effecting the transaction and must be given to the customer in writing before or with the
customer's confirmation. In addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from these rules, the broker-dealer must make
a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser's written agreement to the transaction. These disclosure
requirements may have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity in the secondary market for the stock that is subject to these penny stock rules. Consequently, these penny
stock rules may affect the ability of broker-dealers to trade our securities. We believe that the penny stock rules discourage investor interest in and limit the marketability of our
common stock.




ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Executive Offices. Currently, we operate out of offices located at 100 W. Broadway, Suite 650, Long Beach California 90802. Our leased offices consist of
approximately 2,000 square feet and are leased at a monthly rate of $1.70 sq. ft per month. The term of the lease expires on August 31, 2012.

As of March 24,2011, we own the following two Jatropha farms through our GCE Mexico I, LLC joint venture:

1. Our first farm consists of seven separate parcels of land collectively representing 2,084 hectares (approximately 5,149 acres). We purchased these parcels in
2008. The farm is located approximately 12 miles northeast of Tizimin, Yucatan, Mexico and is approximately 110 miles from Merida and the port of Progresso, and 75 miles
from Cancun. Irrigation systems have been installed in test areas of the farm. All of the land has been improved and we have completed planting on all of the planned
farmland. We financed the purchase of this farm through a mortgage loan in the amount of $2,051,282, which bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum.

2. In March 2010, we purchased approximately 3,460 acres of additional land that is contiguous to our first farm. We have commenced preparing this farmland for
Jatropha plantation and expect that the new farm will be fully planted by the end of the second quarter of 2011. We financed the purchase of this farm thought a mortgage loan in
the amount of $742,652. That loan bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

On April 12, 2010, Mobius Risk Group, LLC (‘Mobius”) filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court Southern District of Texas Houston
Division, alleging that the Company breached that certain Services Agreement, dated April 30, 2007, between Mobius and the Company. Under the Services Agreement, Mobius
was required to provide professional services in connection with growing, producing, manufacturing, and selling seed oils. As permitted by the Services Agreement, the Company
terminated the Services Agreement on July 11, 2008. In its complaint, Mobius has alleged that the Company failed to pay Mobius a total of $551,178. The Company has disputed
the Mobius claim, and has asserted a counter claim against Mobius for direct damages sustained by the Company from the lack of performance of Mobius under the terms of the
Service Agreement. Furthermore, the Company has also filed a counterclaim for breach of fiduciary duty against Eric Melvin, the CEO of Mobius and a former member of the
Company’s Board of Directors, for conduct arising from his prior position as a director of the Company.

On July 13,2010, Dee Burgess, a former consultant of Medical Discoveries, Inc. (the name of our company until changed in connection with our new Jatropha business),

filed a complaint against the Company in the Third Judicial District Court, State of Utah. The complaint alleges that Ms. Burgess is owed $80,000 for services allegedly provided to
the Company in 2004, 2005, and 2006. The Company has not yet been served with the complaint.

20




ITEM 4. RESERVED.
PART II

ITEM S. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.

Shares of our common stock are traded on the OTC Bulletin Board and on the OTCQB market under the symbol “GCEH.” The following table sets forth the range of
closing prices for our common stock for the quarters indicated. Such quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions, and may not
represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2009 High Bid Low Bid

First Quarter $ .038 $ .015
Second Quarter $ 030 $ .010
Third Quarter $ 022§ .010
Fourth Quarter $ 028 $ .010
Fiscal Year Ended December 31,2010 High Bid Low Bid

First Quarter $ 020 $ .010
Second Quarter $ 140 S .010
Third Quarter $ 050 $ .030
Fourth Quarter $ 040 $ .030

Shareholders

As of March 24, 2011, there were approximately 1,500 holders of record of our common stock, not including any persons who hold their stock in “street name.”
Dividends

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock to date and do not anticipate that we will pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Any payment of cash dividends
on our common stock in the future will be dependent upon the amount of funds legally available, our earnings, if any, our financial condition, our anticipated capital requirements

and other factors that the Board of Directors may think are relevant. However, we currently intend for the foreseeable future to follow a policy of retaining all of our earnings, if
any, to finance the development and expansion of our business and, therefore, do not expect to pay any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table contains information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2010:

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Future
Issuance under
Number of Equity
Securities to be Weighted- Compensation
Issued upon Average Plans
Exercise of Exercise Price (Excluding
Outstanding of Outstanding Securities
Options, Options, Reflected in
Warrants and Warrants and the First
Plan Category Rights Rights Column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
1993 Incentive Plan (1) 3,383,000 $ 0.13 —
2002 Stock Incentive Plan 19,200,000 $ 0.04 800,000
2010 Equity Incentive Plan 14,400,000 $ 0.03 8,600,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Options 1,350,000 $ 0.02
Warrants 57,674,145  $ 0.02
Total 96,007,145 9,400,000

(1) The 1993 Incentive Plan has expired and no additional options or awards can be granted under this plan.
Recent Issuances Of Unregistered Securities
We did not issue any unregistered securities during the three-month period ended December 31, 2010 that were not previously reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K.
Repurchase of Shares
We did not repurchase any of its shares during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
Not applicable to a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of SEC Regulation S-K.
ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview
Until recently, this company was a developmental stage company. In October 2009, the Company achieved two milestones:
o  The substantial completion of the planting of all Jatropha trees on our primary 5,149-acre farm.
o The commencement of sales of Jatropha (and related by-products) and revenues generated thereby.

Consequently, management determined that the Company has commenced its planned principal operations and, therefore, it was appropriate to discontinue reporting as a
development stage company.

During the past two years, the Company has focused on acquiring, improving, and planting Jatropha farms (which are located in Mexico). To date, the Jatropha trees that
we planted in our new farms have not been mature enough to bear significant amount of Jatropha fruit from which we could produce commercial quantities of Jatropha oil. The
first trees that we planted are now, however, maturing to the point that we anticipate being able to harvest substantial quantities of fruit in 2011. As a result, we anticipate that our
farms will commence generating increased revenues in 2011. We currently are preparing the new properties that we recently purchased for planting and we expect to continue to
plant Jatropha trees on our farms during the next four months. As these newly planted trees mature they will bear fruit from which we can produce Jatropha oil. With the
additional productive trees, revenues from our farm are expected to significantly increase in the future.
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During the past year, our principal sources of revenues have been fees for providing advisory and consulting services to third parties regarding Jatropha farms and the uses
of Jatropha bio-diesel, and subsidy revenue.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported assets, liabilities, sales and expenses in the accompanying financial statements. Critical accounting policies are those that require the most
subjective and complex judgments, often employing the use of estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

Operational Company. On October 1, 2009, we commenced our planned principal operations, which indicated that we were no longer subject to the accounting standards
for accounting and reporting by development stage enterprises. Our financials therefore are presented for an operational company.

Agricultural Producer. All costs incurred until the actual planting of the Jatropha plant are capitalized as plantation development costs, and are included in “Property and
Equipment” on the balance sheet. Plantation development costs are being accumulated in the balance sheet during the development period and will be accounted for in accordance
with accounting standards for Agricultural Producers and Agricultural Cooperatives. The direct costs associated with each farm and the production of the Jatropha revenue streams
have been deferred and accumulated as a noncurrent asset and are included in “Deferred Growing Costs” on the balance sheet. Other general costs without expected future benefits
are expensed when incurred.

Certain other critical accounting policies, including the assumptions and judgments underlying them, are disclosed in Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010. However, we do not believe that there are any alternative methods of accounting for
our operations that would have a material effect on our financial statements.

Results Of Operations

Revenues. During the years ended December 31, 2010 (“fiscal 2010”) and 2009 (“fiscal 2009”), we recognized revenues of $848,808 and $373,060, respectively. The
revenues that we generated in 2010 and 2009 represented fees for Jatropha related advisory services we rendered to third parties and sales of Jatropha seeds and other products
(waste wood, Jatropha seed husks, etc.) from our Mexico farms. The Jatropha plants that we have planted are maturing and will be harvested beginning in 2011. The increase in
revenues in fiscal 2010 compared with fiscal 2009 is the result of an increase in our Jatropha farm advisory services to third parties, subsidy payments and, to a lesser extent, from
revenues generated from the sale of our Jatropha farm products. Our goal is to increase the amount of advisory services that we render to third parties in 2011. In addition, now
that some of the Jatropha trees that we planted are maturing, we anticipate that sales of Jatropha seeds will become a material source of revenues for our Mexico operations
commencing in 2011.

General And Administrative Expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009 were $2,659,588 and $1,516,395, respectively. General
and administrative expenses principally consist of officer compensation, outside services (such as legal, accounting, and consulting expenses), share-based compensation, and
other general expenses (such as insurance, occupancy costs and travel). The net increase in general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2010 compared to the prior year was
principally the result of a $925,000 increase in administrative costs for the wholly owned subsidiaries of our joint venture, GCE Mexico I, LLC. As our operations have expanded,
the related administrative staffing and other administrative costs have increased, along with an increase in the cost of outside services for legal, accounting, and consulting services
at the corporate level.
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Plantation and Operating Costs. We recorded plantation and operating costs of $389,738 and $738,759 for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009, respectively. Even though we
had 12 months of plantation and operating costs in fiscal 2010 as compared to three months of such costs in fiscal 2009, the costs decreased as a result of the change from being a
development stage company to becoming an operational company. This decrease is related to the leftover planting costs in fiscal 2009, which were incurred in the 4th quarter after
becoming an operational company. However, in fiscal 2010, materially all costs incurred were related to cultivation and harvesting. These costs were deferred into the long-term
asset, “Deferred Growing Cost”.

Other Income/Expense. The principal component of Other Income/Expense for fiscal 2010 was the $601,114 gain that we recognized from the settlement of
liabilities. Gain on settlement of liabilities represents gains we realized by discharging historic liabilities (most of which were incurred while this company operated as a
developmental-stage bio-pharmaceutical company) at less than the accrued amount of such liabilities. There was no gain on the settlement of liabilities in fiscal 2009.

In fiscal 2010, we incurred $489,039 of interest expense, compared to interest expense of $334,313 in fiscal 2009. This increase in interest expense is primarily due to the
increase in debt associated with the acquisition of additional land for our farm operations in Tizimin, Mexico. We currently own approximately 8,600 acres of land in Mexico that
is subject to interest bearing mortgages, compared to approximately 5,150 acres of such land owned in 2009.

Income from Discontinued Operations. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we sold the SaveCream legacy assets related to our former bio-pharmaceutical
business. In connection with that sale, we recognized a gain of $3,298,511 for fiscal 2009. During the fiscal 2010, we recognized income from discontinued operations of $31,266
as a result of foreign currency exchange rate gains on remaining liabilities associated with our former bio-pharmaceutical business, which are denominated in euros.

Net loss attributable to the non-controlling interest. Our Mexico farm operations are owned through GCE Mexico I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“GCE
Mexico”). We own 50% of the common membership interests of GCE Mexico and five investors own the other 50% of the common membership interests. The proceeds from the
sale of the preferred membership units, and from subsequent capital contributions, have been used to fund the operations of Asideros Globales Corporativo 1 (“Asideros 1) and
Asideros Globales Corporativo 2 (“Asideros 2”), each of which have acquired the land in Mexico that, collectively, constitute our Jatropha farms. We own 1% of Asideros 1 and
Asideros 2, and the balance is owned by GCE Mexico. Accordingly, we own 50.5% of Asideros 1 and Asideros 2 either directly or through our common membership interest in
GCE Mexico. As such, our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of both Asideros farm entities. Under GCE Mexico’s LLC Agreement, the net loss allocated
from Asideros 1 and Asideros 2 to GCE Mexico is then further allocated to the members of GCE Mexico according to the investment balances. Accordingly, since the common
membership interest did not make a capital contribution, all of the losses allocated to GCE Mexico have been further allocated to the preferred membership interest. The net loss
attributable to the non-controlling interest in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations represents the allocation of the net loss of GCE Mexico to the preferred
membership interests.

Net income/loss attributable to Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. In fiscal 2010, we incurred a net loss from continuing operations of $2,088,358 because of limited
revenues and significant general and administrative expenses. However, we realized $601,114 of gains from the settlement of liabilities, which reduced the amount of the
losses. Our net loss from continuing operations in fiscal 2009 was $2,226,196. Of the net loss from continuing operations in fiscal 2010, $1,431,805 was attributable to the
investors who own the other GCE Mexico membership interests. As a result, excluding the net losses attributable to these non-controlling interests, our net loss for fiscal 2010 was
$625,287. In fiscal 2009, we recognized income of $3,167,098, most of which was attributable to the gain on the sale of our former bio-pharmaceutical asset. As a result, although
we had a loss from continuing operations of $2,226,196 in fiscal 2009, we had net income of $2,238,365 in fiscal 2009.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2010, we had $1,097,000 in cash and a working capital deficit of $5,035,000, as compared with $834,000 in cash and a working capital deficit of
$4,986,000 at December 31, 2009. However, virtually all of the cash reflected on our balance sheet is reserved for the operation of GCE Mexico and our Jatropha
farms. Accordingly, most of those funds are not available to finance our general and administrative or other operating expenses. Based on the funds we have available and the
proceeds we expect to receive during this year, we believe that we will have sufficient funds to pay our administrative and other operating expenses during 2011. However, we do
not have sufficient cash to repay all of our current liabilities should we be required to do so, nor do we have any funds available to make any capital investments.

Since our inception, we have financed our working capital needs primarily (i) through private sales of equity and debt financing, and (ii) from fees that we have
generated by providing consulting and advisory fees to third parties related to Jatropha farm operations and the uses of Jatropha as a biofuel. During fiscal 2010, the total amount
of such advisory/consulting fees was $354,774. In addition, on a monthly basis, GCE Mexico pays us a fee to reimburse us for a portion of our corporate overhead and for costs
associated with managing the Jatropha farms in Mexico. In fiscal 2010, the total amount of payments that we received from GCE Mexico was $280,476. The amount of these
fees/reimbursements is based on the size of the farms that we manage. Since we have purchased additional farms in fiscal 2010, the total amount of monthly fees will increase in
2011. We currently anticipate that the projected amount of advisory/consulting fees and the projected payments from GCE Mexico will, collectively, be sufficient to fund our
corporate overhead during 2011. However, no assurance can be given that we will, in fact, receive all of these projected amounts, or that our costs will not exceed our
projections. If we do not receive all of these payments, or if our actual costs exceed our expectations, we will have to obtain funding from alternative sources or reduce the scope
of our future operations. We currently do not have any bank facilities or other sources of additional capital.

In fiscal 2010 we obtained both debt and equity funding. In March 2010, we raised $500,000 from the sale of common stock to two accredited investors, which funds
were used for working capital purposes. In addition, in order to repay certain secured loans that we obtained in September 2007, which secured loans matured on January 31,
2010, in March 2010 we obtained $567,000 of unsecured loans. The March 2010 convertible notes mature on the earlier of (i) March 16, 2012, and (ii) upon written demand of
payment by the investors following our default thereunder. The maturity date of the convertible notes may be extended by written notice made by the holders at any time prior to
March 16, 2012. Interest accrues on the convertible notes at a rate of 5.97% per annum, and is payable quarterly in cash, in arrears, on each three-month anniversary of the
issuance of the convertible notes. However, we have the right, exercisable at our option, in lieu of paying interest in cash, to pay interest by delivering a number of unregistered
shares of our common stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the amount of such interest by the arithmetic average of the volume weighted average price (VWAP) for
each of the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the interest payment date. At any time following the first anniversary of the issuance of the convertible notes, at
the option of the holders of these convertible notes, the outstanding balance thereof (including accrued and unpaid interest thereon) may be converted into shares of our common
stock at a conversion price equal to $0.03. The conversion price may be adjusted in connection with stock splits, stock dividends and similar events affecting our capital stock. As
of March 24, 2011, the convertible notes rank senior to all other indebtedness, and thereafter will remain senior or pari passu with all accounts payable and other similar liabilities
incurred by us in the ordinary course of business. We may not prepay the convertible notes without the prior consent of the note holders. Virtually all of the proceeds from these
convertible notes were used to fully repay and extinguish the outstanding secured loans that had matured and were due and payable.
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Our business plan calls for us to acquire, develop and operate large Jatropha farms for the purpose of harvesting Jatropha oil for use as a bio-fuel. The cost of acquiring
and developing these farms has exceeded our funding capabilities. Accordingly, we have funded the acquisition of the Mexico Jatropha farms through the GCE Mexico joint
venture. In fiscal 2010, we purchased approximately 3,460 acres of additional farmland in Mexico. The purchase of that land was financed through a $742,652 mortgage loan. As
a result, the purchase of the land did not negatively impact our current liquidity. We anticipate that we may make additional land purchases in Mexico through the GCE Mexico
joint venture.

Our business plan also calls for significant infusion of additional capital to establish additional Jatropha farms in Mexico and other locations that are owned primarily by
this company. Because of our negative working capital position, we currently do not have the funds necessary to acquire and cultivate additional farms solely for our own
account. In order to purchase additional Jatropha farms, or to acquire or build facilities to process our Jatropha oil, we will have to obtain significant additional capital through the
sale of equity and/or debt securities, the forward sale of Jatropha oil and carbon offset credits, and from other financing activities. No assurance can be given that we will be able
to obtain sufficient capital from these sources. The trading price of our common stock and the downturn in the equity and debt markets are expected to make it more difficult to
obtain financing through the issuance of equity or debt securities. The sale of additional equity or debt securities may result in further dilution to our existing stockholders, and
new equity securities that we may issue may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of our common stock. If additional financing is not available
or is not available on acceptable terms, we will not be able to complete our business plan and expand our operations as planned.

Effective July 2, 2009, we purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of Technology Alternatives Limited, a company formed under the laws of Belize (“TAL”), from
its four shareholders. TAL owns a 400-acre farm in subtropical Belize, Central America, which was used for Jatropha farming purposes. In consideration for the purchase of all of
the shares of TAL, among other consideration, we issued four promissory notes to the four former owners. These notes are secured by a lien on the 400-acre farm and had an
aggregate initial principal balance of $516,139 Belize Dollars (US $268,036 based on exchange rates in effect at July 2, 2009). The maturity date of these notes has been extended
to July 15, 2011. Since the TAL promissory notes are secured by a mortgage on the 400-acre farm, our failure to pay this note upon its maturity could result in the loss of that farm
and our investment in the Belizean Jatropha farm. We have determined that the Belizean farm was not operating to our expectations and was not an efficient use of corporate
capital. Therefore, we have ceased operations at that farm and have relocated its research and farm assets to our Mexico farms. We have reclassified the Belizean farm as an
investment property and are currently in discussions with various potential purchasers of the property. If the land is sold, we will use a portion of the proceeds to repay the
outstanding four secured notes.

Inflation and changing prices have had no effect on our continuing operations during our two most recent fiscal years.
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable to a “smaller reporting company.”
ITEMS8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
Financial Statements are referred to in Item 15, listed in the Index to Financial Statements and filed and included elsewhere herein as a part of this Annual Report on Form

10-K.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures which are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in the reports it files or submits under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended, the “Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer (“Certifying Officers”), to allow
timely decisions regarding required financial disclosures.

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report, our Certifying Officers evaluated the effectiveness of management’s disclosure controls and procedures, as of
December 31, 2010, in accordance with Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the Certifying Officers concluded that management’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2010.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act,
and for assessing the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

Internal control over financial reporting is intended to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors, and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitions, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Management, with the participation of our principal executive and financial officers, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting, as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2010, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm as such attestation is not required for non-accelerated filers
such as us pursuant to applicable SEC rules.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 that materially affected, or are

reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The following table sets forth the name, age and position held by each of our executive officers and directors. Directors are elected for a period of one year and thereafter
serve until the next annual meeting at which their successors are duly elected by the stockholders.

Name Age Position
David R. Walker () 66 Chairman of the Board
Richard Palmer 50 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Bruce Nelson 56 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Mark A. Bernstein, Ph.D. (1) 57 Director
Martin Wenzel 52 Director
) Member of our Audit Committee

Business Experience and Directorships

The following describes the backgrounds of current executive officers and directors. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Walker, Mr. Wenzel and Dr.
Bernstein are independent directors as defined in the Nasdaq rules governing members of boards of directors.

David R. Walker

David R. Walker joined the Board of Directors on May 2, 1996, and was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors on May 10, 1998. He has served as Chairman of
the Audit Committee since its establishment in 2001. For over 20 years, Mr. Walker has been the General Manager of Sunheaven Farms, the largest onion growing and packing
entity in the State of Washington. In the capacity of General Manager, Mr. Walker performs the functions of a traditional chief financial officer. Mr. Walker holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree in economics from Brigham Young University with minors in accounting and finance.

The Board believes that Mr. Walker’s experience regarding the operation and management of large-scale agricultural farms and his experience as a financial officer are
valuable resources to our Board in formulating business strategy, addressing business opportunities and resolving operational issues that arise from time to time.

Richard Palmer

Richard Palmer was appointed as our President and Chief Operating Officer in September 2007, and been a member of the Board of Directors since September 2007. Mr.
Palmer became our Chief Executive Officer on December 21, 2007. Mr. Palmer has over 25 years of hands-on experience in the energy field, holding senior level management
positions with a number of large engineering, development, operations and construction companies. He is a co-founder of Mobius Risk Group, LLC, an energy risk advisory
services consulting company, and was a principal and Executive Vice President of that consulting company from January, 2002 until September 2007. From 1997 to 2002, Mr.
Palmer was a Senior Director at Enron Energy Services. Prior thereto, from 1995 to 1996 Mr. Palmer was a Vice President of Bentley Engineering, and a Senior Vice President of
Southland Industries from 1993 to 1996. Mr. Palmer received his designation as a Certified Energy Manager in 1999, holds two Business Management Certificates from University
of Southern California’s Business School, and is an active member of both the American Society of Plant Biologists and the International Tropical Farmers Association.
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Over the last 25 years, Mr. Palmer has held senior level management positions with a number of large engineering, development, operations and construction companies,
and, as a result, he has garnered a wealth of experience in the energy field. Mr. Palmer’s experience is important to the development and execution of the Company’s business
plan. Mr. Palmer is the only member of management who serves as a director of the Company.

Mark A. Bernstein

Mark A. Bernstein, Ph.D., joined our Board of Directors on June 30, 2008. Dr. Bernstein is current a teaching professor at The University of Southern California (USC)
where he also serves as the Managing Director of USC’s Energy Institute. Dr. Bernstein is an internationally recognized expert on energy policy and alternative energy
technologies. Dr. Bernstein was awarded a Ph.D. in Energy Management and Policy from the University of Pennsylvania, holds a Masters degree in Mathematics from Ohio State
University, and a B.A. from State University of New York at Albany.

Mr. Bernstein’s expertise in energy policy and alternative energy technologies led to the conclusion that he should serve as a director of the Company.
Bruce Nelson

Bruce Nelson was appointed as our Chief Financial Officer in March 2008. He has served as our Executive Vice-President and Secretary since August 2010. Prior to
commencing his relationship with the Company, Mr. Nelson served as Chief Financial Officer of US Modular, a private technology company located in Irvine, California. From
April 2002 through February 2007, Mr. Nelson served as Chief Financial Officer of netGuru, Inc., a NASDAQ-listed global engineering software and IT service company. Prior to
netGuru, Mr. Nelson founded and operated Millennium Information Technologies from 1997 to 2002. From 1992 to 1997 he served as President and CFO of Comprehensive
Weight Management, a national healthcare service provider. From 1985 to 1991 he served as Treasurer of Comprehensive Care Corporation, a NYSE listed national healthcare
provider. Mr. Nelson served as a U.S. Naval Officer after graduating from the University of Southern California, majoring in finance. He holds a MBA degree from Bryant
University in Smithfield, R.I. He has also served on the board of directors of two commercial banks, a NASDAQ-listed technology company, and a privately held specialty
hospital.

Martin Wenzel

Martin Wenzel joined our Board of Directors in April 2010, and serves on the Board’s audit committee. Mr. Wenzel is currently the President and Chief Executive
Officer of Colorado Energy, the operating entity of Bicent Power, LLC, which is a privately owned limited liability company that owns and operates power generating stations in
Colorado, Montana and California. From 2005 until August 2007, he served as the Senior Vice President (Sales and Marketing) of Miasole Inc. Prior thereto, from 2001 to 2004,
Mr. Wenzel was President and Chief Executive Officer of Alpha Energy LLC. He is also a member of the Board of the Deming Center of Entrepreneurship at the University of
Colorado. Mr. Wenzel holds an Executive MBA from Columbia Business School; a Masters degree in Systems Management from the University of Southern California; and a
Bachelors degree in Engineering and Management from the US Naval Academy.

Mr. Wenzel has an extensive background in the energy industry, including over 25 years of developing, constructing and operating energy projects, marketing energy

commodities and operating energy assets in the U.S. and internationally. The Board concluded that Mr. Wenzel’s expertise in energy policy and alternative energy technologies is a
valuable asset for the Board of Directors of the Company.
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Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of our
equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Executive officers, directors and greater than 10% shareholders are required by SEC
regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on information provided to us by our officers and our review of copies of reporting forms received by us, we believe that during fiscal year ended December
31, 2010, our current officers and directors complied with the filing requirements under Section 16(a).

Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officers, principal financial officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions (“Code of Ethics”). A copy of our Code of Ethics will be furnished without charge to any person upon written request. Requests should be sent to: Secretary, Global
Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., 100 W. Broadway, Suite 650, Long Beach, California 90802.

Board Committees
Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, but does not currently have a Compensation Committee or a Nominating Committee.

The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and with our independent registered public accounting firm to, among other things, review the results of the
annual audit and quarterly reviews and discuss the financial statements. The audit committee also hires the independent registered public accounting firm, and receives and
considers the accountant’s comments as to controls, adequacy of staff and management performance and procedures. The Audit Committee is also authorized to review related
party transactions for potential conflicts of interest. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, Mr. Walker and Dr. Bernstein constituted all of the members of the Audit
Committee. Both Mr. Walker and Dr. Bernstein are non-employee directors and independent as defined under the Nasdaq Stock Market’s listing standards. Mr. Walker has
significant knowledge of financial matters, and our Board has designated Mr. Walker as the “audit committee financial expert” of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee met
four times during fiscal 2010 in connection with this Annual Report and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-QSB. The Audit Committee operates under a formal charter that
governs its duties and conduct.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Summary Compensation Table.

The following table set forth certain information concerning the annual and long-term compensation for services rendered to us in all capacities for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 of all persons who served as our principal executive officer and principal financial officer during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010. No other

executive officers earned annual compensation during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 that exceeded $100,000. The principal executive officer and the other named
officers are collectively referred to as the “Named Executive Officers.”
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Summary Compensation Table

Fiscal Salary
Name and Year Paid or Bonus Paid Stock Option All Other
Principal Ended Accrued or Accrued Awards Awards Compensation Total
Position 12/31 $) (%) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Richard Palmer 2010 $ 250,000 $ 250,000 0 23,200 523,200
2009 $ 250,000 0 0 0 23,400 273,400
Bruce Nelson 2010 175,000 § 175,000 0 0 12,000 362,000
2009 175,000 0 0 0 10,000 185,000

Stock Option Grant

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2010, concerning unexercised options, unvested stock and equity incentive plan awards for the executive
officers named in the Summary Compensation Table.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan
Incentive Awards:
Equity Plan Market or
Incentive Awards: Payout
Plan Number of Value of
Awards: Market Unearned Unearned
Number of Number of Number of Number of Value of Shares, Shares,
Securities Securities Securities Shares or Shares or Units or Units or
Underlying Underlying Underlying Units of Units of Other Other
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Stock That Stock That Rights That Rights That
Options Options Unearned Exercise Option Have Not Have Not Have Not Have Not
#) #) Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable #) ($) Date (#) ($) #) ($)
Richard Palmer 6,000,000 0.03 8/20/2012
6,000,000 0.03 8/20/2012
6,000,000 0.02 3/16/2020
6,000,000 0.02 3/16/2020
Bruce Nelson 500,000 0.05 3/20/2018
500,000 0.05 3/20/2018
500,000 0.05 3/20/2018
500,000 0.05 3/20/2018
1,250,000 0.05 3/20/2013
1,250,000 0.05 3/20/2013

Director Compensation.

On April 22, 2009, our Board of Directors adopted a compensation policy for non-employee directors (Compensation Policy”), effective as of July 1, 2009. Pursuant to
the Compensation Policy, non-employee directors will be entitled to receive the following benefits, among others, in consideration for their services as directors of the Company:
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Monthly cash payments of $2,000;
Annual grants of non-qualified stock options to purchase up to 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock;
Participation in the Company’s stock option plans; and
Reimbursement of certain expenses incurred in connection with attendance of meetings of the Board and Board Committee.
The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation paid to each of our non-employee directors during fiscal 2010 for their services rendered as
directors. The compensation of Richard Palmer, who serves as a director and as our President and Chief Executive Officer, is described above in the Summary Compensation

Table.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR FISCAL YEAR 2010

Fees Nonqualified
Earned Non-Equity Deferred
or Paid Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other
Name in Cash Awards Awards(D) Compensation Earnings Compensation Total

David R. Walker $ 24,000 $ 18,900 $ 42,900
Richard Palmer — — —
Mark A. Bernstein,
Ph.D. $ 24,000 $ 18,900 $ 42,900
Martin Wenzel $ 18,000 $ 4,650 $ 22,650
Total $ 66,000 $ 42,450 $ 108,450
€)) This column represents the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated

forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. For additional information on the valuation assumptions with respect to the option grants, refer to Note J of our
financial statements in this Annual Report. These amounts do not correspond to the actual value that will be recognized by the named directors from these awards.

?2) Pursuant to the company’s director compensation, each non-employee director is entitled to an annual grant of options to acquire 500,000 shares. Effective April 1,
2010, the company appointed Martin Wenzel to its board of directors, and in connection therewith, awarded Mr. Wenzel an option to purchase 500,000 shares of the
company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share. Each of Messrs. Bernstein and Walker received options to acquire 500,000 shares of the company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $0.04 per share, effective July 1, 2010.

Employment Agreements

Richard Palmer. On September 7, 2007, we entered into an employment agreement (the ‘Employment Agreement”) with Richard Palmer pursuant to which we hired Mr.
Palmer to serve as our President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Palmer was also appointed to serve as director on our Board of Directors to serve until the next election of
directors by our shareholders. Upon the resignation of our prior Chief Executive Officer in December 2007, Mr. Palmer also became our Chief Executive Officer.

Under the Employment Agreement, we granted Mr. Palmer an incentive option to purchase up to 12,000,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.03
(the trading price on the date the agreement was signed), subject to our achievement of certain market capitalization goals. The option expires after five years. As of April 22,
2009, all 12,000,000 shares under the option remained unvested. On April 22, 2009, our Board of Directors approved accelerating the vesting of all 12,000,000 unvested shares
under the option, and accelerated the release from escrow of 652,503 shares of restricted common stock issuable to Mr. Palmer under the Global Agreement. As a result, on that
date, all of the restricted and escrowed shares were released to Mr. Palmer.
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In addition, Mr. Palmer’s compensation package includes a base salary of $250,000, and a bonus payment contingent on Mr. Palmer’s satisfaction of certain performance
criteria, which will not exceed 100% of Mr. Palmer’s base salary. In the event that (i) we terminate Mr. Palmer’s employment for reasons other than “cause” (as defined in the
Employment Agreement to include material breaches by him of the agreement, fraud, misappropriation of funds or embezzlement), or if (ii) Mr. Palmer resigns because we
breached the Employment Agreement, we will be obligated to pay Mr. Palmer an amount equal to one (1) times his then-current annual base salary plus fifty percent (50%) of the
target bonus in effect on the date of his termination. However, if Mr. Palmer’s employment is terminated for death or disability, or if Mr. Palmer resigns or is terminated for
“cause,” he will not be entitled to receive any severance payments or other post-employment benefits. The original term of the Employment Agreement commenced September 1,
2007, and was scheduled to expire on September 30, 2010.

On March 16, 2010, the Company and Richard Palmer entered into an amendment (the ‘Amendment”) to the Employment Agreement. Pursuant to the Amendment, the
Company extended the term of Mr. Palmer’s employment for an additional two years, i.e., through September 30, 2012. Thereafter, the term of employment shall automatically
renew for successive one-year periods unless otherwise terminated. In connection with the Amendment, the Company and Mr. Palmer entered into an option agreement (“Option
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company granted Mr. Palmer a new option to acquire up to 12,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $0.02, subject to the Company’s achievement of certain market capitalization goals. The new option expires after ten (10) years.

Bruce Nelson. On March 20, 2008, we entered into an employment agreement with Bruce K. Nelson pursuant to which we hired Mr. Nelson to serve as our Executive
Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer effective April 1, 2008. Mr. Nelson’s employment agreement has an initial term of employment that continues through March 20,
2010. Thereafter, the term of employment shall automatically renew for successive one-year periods unless otherwise terminated by us. The employment agreement was
automatically extended in March 2010 through March 20, 2011. We agreed to pay Mr. Nelson a base salary of $175,000, subject to annual increases based on the Consumer Price
Index for the immediately preceding 12-month period, and a bonus payment based on Mr. Nelson’s satisfaction of certain performance criteria established by the compensation
committee of our Board of Directors. The bonus amount in any fiscal year will not exceed 100% of Mr. Nelson’s base salary. Mr. Nelson is eligible to participate in this
company’s employee stock option plan and other benefit plans.

At the time we employed Mr. Nelson, we granted him a ten-year option to acquire up to 2,000,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.05 (the trading
price on the date the agreement was signed). These options vested in tranches of 500,000 shares over the first two years of the employment term. We also granted Mr. Nelson a
five-year option to acquire up to 2,500,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.05, if this company meets certain market capitalization goals. As of April 22,
2009, options to acquire up to 3,500,000 shares remained unvested pursuant to the terms of the Company’s employment agreement with Mr. Nelson. On April 22, 2009, our Board
of Directors approved accelerating the vesting of all 3,500,000 unvested shares under the option.

In the event that, commencing after March 20, 2009, (i) we terminate Mr. Nelson’s employment for reasons other than “cause” (as defined in his employment agreement
to include material breaches by him of his employment agreement, fraud, misappropriation of funds or embezzlement), or if (ii) Mr. Nelson resigns because we breached his
employment agreement, we will be obligated to pay Mr. Nelson an amount equal to the salary he would have received through the end of the term of his employment
agreement. However, if Mr. Nelson’s employment is terminated for death or disability, or if Mr. Nelson resigns or is terminated for “cause,” he will not be entitled to receive any
severance payments or other post-employment benefits.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 24, 2011 by (a) each person known by us to own
beneficially 5% or more of each class of our outstanding voting shares (i.e. our common stock and our Series B Preferred Stock), (b) each of our named executive officers listed in
the Summary Compensation Table and each of our directors and (c) all executive officers and directors of this company as a group. As of March 24, 2011, there were 270,464,478
shares of our common stock issued and outstanding. As of the same date, there were 13,000 shares of our Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, which shares of
preferred stock were convertible into an aggregate of 11,818,181 shares of common stock. Unless otherwise noted, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting
and investment power with respect to all the shares beneficially owned by them.

Percent

Shares Beneficially of Class of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Owned (2) Common Stock
Preferred Stock:
Corporativo LODEMO S.A DE CV 9,090,908(3) 3.25%
Calle 18, #201-B x 23 y 25,
Colonias Garcia Gineres, C.P. 97070
Merida, Yucatan, Mexico
Greenrock Capital Holdings LLC 2,727,273(4) 1.00%

10531 Timberwood Circle, Suite D
Louisville, Kentucky 40223

Common Stock:

Roll Energy Investments LLC and affiliates 32,044,500(5) 11.41%
11444 West Olympic Boulevard, 10 Floor

Los Angeles, California 90064

Michael Zilkha 34,085,000(6) 12.14%
1001 McKinney, Suite 1900
Houston TX 77002

Directors/Named Executive Officers:

Richard Palmer 72,030,241(7) 25.50%
Bruce Nelson 5,543,000(8) 2.02%
David R. Walker 2,153,539(9) o
Mark A. Bernstein 1,000,000(10) *
Martin Wenzel 500,000(11) .
All Named Executive Officers and Directors as a group (5 persons) 81,226,780 27.99%

* Less than 1%

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each person listed is c/o Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., 100 W. Broadway, Suite 650, Long Beach, California 90802.
(2) For purposes of this table, shares of common stock are considered beneficially owned if the person directly or indirectly has the sole or shared power to vote or direct the voting
of the securities or the sole or shared power to dispose of or direct the disposition of the securities. Shares of common stock are also considered beneficially owned if a person has
the right to acquire beneficial ownership of the shares upon exercise or conversion of a security within 60 days of March 24, 2011.

(3) Consists of 9,090,908 shares of common stock that may be acquired upon the conversion of shares of Series B Preferred Stock. Corporativo LODEMO owns 10,000 shares of
our Series B Preferred Stock, which represents approximately 76.92% of the issued and outstanding shares of that class of securities.
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(4) Consists of 2,727,273 shares of common stock that may be acquired upon the conversion of shares of Series B Preferred Stock. Greenrock owns 3,000 shares of our Series B
Preferred Stock, which represents approximately 23.08% of the issued and outstanding shares of that class of securities.

(5) Includes (i) 945,000 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of currently exercisable warrants, and (ii) 9,450,000 shares issuable upon conversion of an outstanding
convertible promissory note. The common shares, warrants and convertible note disclosed herein are directly owned by Roll Energy Investments LLC (“Roll LLC”). However,
Stewart Resnick is the sole manager of Roll LLC and, as a result of his control over Roll LLC, he is deemed to beneficially own the securities held by Roll LLC.

(6) Includes (i) 945,000 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of currently exercisable warrants, and (ii) 9,450,000 shares issuable upon conversion of an outstanding
convertible promissory note.

(7) Consists of 12,000,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of currently exercisable options. Mr. Palmer also has options to acquire 12,000,000 shares of common
stock that are not currently exercisable and will not become exercisable unless certain conditions are met.

(8) Includes 4,500,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of currently exercisable options.

(9) Includes 1,750,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options.

(10) Includes 1,000,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options.

(11) Includes 500,000 shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of options

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

On March 16, 2010, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with Roll Energy Investments LLC (Roll LLC”) and Michael Zilkha pursuant to which the company
issued to each investor a senior unsecured convertible promissory note in the original aggregate principal amount of $283,500 (the “Convertible Notes™), and warrants to acquire an
aggregate of 945,000 shares of our common stock (“Warrants”).

The Warrants are exercisable at a strike price of $0.03 per share, and expire on March 16, 2013. The Convertible Notes mature on the earlier of (i) March 16, 2012, and
(ii) upon written demand of payment by the holders following our default thereunder. Interest accrues on the convertible notes at a rate of 5.97% per annum, and is payable
quarterly in cash, in arrears, on each three-month anniversary of the issuance of the notes. We may, at our option, in lieu of paying interest in cash, pay interest by delivering a
number of unregistered shares of our common stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the amount of such interest by the arithmetic average of the volume weighted
average price (VWAP) for each of the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the interest payment date. At any time following the first anniversary of the issuance of
the convertible notes, at the option of the investors, the outstanding balance thereof (including accrued and unpaid interest thereon) may be converted into shares of our common
stock at a conversion price equal to $0.03 per share.

Roll LLC and Mr. Zilkha are our largest stockholders, and each presently owns more than 10% of our common stock. Stewart Resnick is the sole manager of Roll LLC
and, as a result of his control over Roll LLC, he is deemed to beneficially own the securities held by Roll LLC.

As noted elsewhere in this report, we currently own 50% of the issued and outstanding common membership units of GCE Mexico, with the remaining 50% held by five
other investors (the “Common Members”). Additionally, two investors (the “Preferred Members™) own all of the preferred membership units of GCE Mexico. Mr. Resnick is
affiliated with one of the Common Members and one of the Preferred Members. Mr. Zilkha is affiliated with four of the Common Members and the other Preferred Member. The
Preferred Members are entitled to a preferential 12% per annum cumulative compounded return on their investment in GCE Mexico.

As of March 24, 2011, the Preferred Members have contributed a total of $8,908,858 to GCE Mexico. The two Preferred Members funded the purchase by GCE Mexico
of the approximately 5,149 acres of land in the State of Yucatan in Mexico by making a $2,051,282 loan to pay the purchase price of that land. The land is secured by a mortgage
in the amount of $2,051,282 in favor of the Preferred Members. The mortgage bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum and is due April 23, 2018. The two Preferred Members
also have made a $742,652 mortgage loan to purchase the approximately 3,460 acres of additional farmland in Mexico that GCE Mexico acquired in March 2010. The second
mortgage bears interest at the rate of 12% per annum and is due February 29, 2020.
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Director Independence

Our common stock is traded on the OTC Bulletin Board and OTCQB Market under the symbol “GCEH.” Neither the OTC Bulletin Board electronic trading platform nor
the OTCQB Market maintains any standards regarding the “independence” of the directors on our company’s Board of Directors, and we are not otherwise subject to the
requirements of any national securities exchange or an inter-dealer quotation system with respect to the need to have a majority of our directors be independent.

In the absence of such requirements, we have elected to use the definition for “director independence” under the Nasdaq Stock Market’s listing standards, which defines
an “independent director” as “a person other than an officer or employee of us or its subsidiaries or any other individual having a relationship, which in the opinion of our Board of
Directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.” The definition further provides that, among others,
employment of a director by us (or any parent or subsidiary of ours) at any time during the past three years is considered a bar to independence regardless of the determination of
our Board of Directors.

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Walker, Mr. Wenzel and Dr. Bernstein are independent directors as defined in the Nasdaq rules relating to director
independence. Each of Mr. Walker, Mr. Wenzel and Dr. Bernstein are non-employee directors.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
Audit Fees

The aggregate fees accrued by Hansen, Barnett & Maxwell. P.C. during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 for professional services for the audit of our
financial statements and the review of financial statements included in our Forms 10-Q and SEC filings were $45,119 and $53,500 respectively.

Audit-Related Fees

Hansen, Barnett & Maxwell. P.C. did not provide and did not bill and it was not paid any fees for, audit-related services in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and
2010.

Tax Fees

Hansen, Barnett & Maxwell. P.C. did not provide, and did not bill and was not paid any fees for, tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning services for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010.

All Other Fees

Hansen, Barnett & Maxwell. P.C. did not provide, and did not bill and were not paid any fees for, any other services in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and
2010.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
Consistent with SEC policies, the Audit Committee charter provides that the Audit Committee shall pre-approve all audit engagement fees and terms and pre-approve any

other significant compensation to be paid to the independent registered public accounting firm. No other significant compensation services were performed for us by Hansen,
Barnett & Maxwell. P.C. during 2009 and 2010.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

Our financial statements and related notes thereto are listed and included in this Annual Report beginning on page F-1. The following documents are furnished as
exhibits to this Form 10-K. Exhibits marked with an asterisk are filed herewith. The remainder of the exhibits previously have been filed with the Commission and are
incorporated herein by reference.

Number Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1994, and incorporated herein by reference).

32 Amended Bylaws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1994, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.1 Certificate of Designations of Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of Medical Discoveries, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.1
to Registration Statement No. 333-121635 filed on Form SB-2 on December 23, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

44 Amendment to Certificate of Designations of Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of Medical Discoveries, Inc. (filed
as Exhibit 4.2 to Registration Statement No. 333-121635 filed on Form SB-2 on December 23, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.5 Certificate Of Designation of Preferences and Rights Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of Medical Discoveries, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 13, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1 2002 Stock Incentive Plan adopted by the Board of Directors as of July 11, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.2 Sale and Purchase Agreement between Attorney Hinnerk-Joachim Miiller as liquidator of Savetherapeutics AG i.L. and Medical Discoveries, Inc.
regarding the purchase of the essential assets of Savetherapeutics AG i.L. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.3 Share Exchange Agreement dated September 7, 2007 among Medical Discoveries, Inc., Richard Palmer, and Mobius Risk Group, LLC (filed as
Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4 Definitive Master Agreement dated as of July 29, 2006, by and between MDI Oncology, Inc. and Eucodis Forschungs und Entwicklungs GmbH
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 3, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.5 Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 7, 2007, between Medical Discoveries, Inc. and Mercator Momentum Fund III, L.P. (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.6 Note Amendment And Maturity Date Extension, dated January 12, 2009, between the Company and Mercator Momentum Fund III, L.P. (filed as

Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 15, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference)
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10.20

Consulting Agreement dated September 7, 2007 between Medical Discoveries, Inc. and Mobius Risk Group, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)

Employment Agreement dated September 7, 2007 between Medical Discoveries, Inc. and Richard Palmer (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)

Release and Settlement Agreement dated August 31, 2007 between Medical Discoveries, Inc. and Richard Palmer (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)

Release and Settlement Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2007, by and among the Company, on the one hand, and Mercator Momentum Fund,
LP, Monarch Pointe Fund, Ltd., and Mercator Momentum Fund III, LP, on the other hand. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed October 26, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Warrant (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 26, 2007, and incorporated herein by
reference)

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2007, by and among Medical Discoveries, Inc. and the Purchasers (as defined therein)
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 13, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference)
Employment Agreement dated March 20, 2008 between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and Bruce K. Nelson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 7, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference)

Exchange Agreement, effective April 18, 2008, by and between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., on the one hand, and Mercator Momentum
Fund, L.P., Mercator Momentum Fund III, L.P., and Monarch Pointe Fund, Ltd. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed April 24, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference)

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 19, 2008, between Medical Discoveries, Inc. and Mercator Momentum Fund III, L.P.
(filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference)

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 30, 2008, between the Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and the four shareholders of Technology
Alternatives Limited, a Belizean Company formed under the Laws of Belize (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-QSB filed November 14, 2008, and incorporated herein by reference)

Limited Liability Company Agreement of GCE Mexico I, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability Company, dated April 23, 2008 (filed on December
31, 2009, as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, and incorporated
herein by reference)

Service Agreement, dated October 15, 2007, between the Company and Corporativo LODEMO S.A DE CV, a Mexican corporation (filed on
December 31, 2009 as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Sale and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 16, 2009, between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., MDI Oncology, Inc., and Curadis
Gmbh (filed as an Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 20, 2009, and incorporated herein by
reference)

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated March 16, 2010, between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and Richard Palmer (filed as
Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference)
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10.21 Stock Option Agreement, dated March 16, 2010, between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and Richard Palmer (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.22 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated March 16, 2010, between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and certain investors named therein
(including certain exhibits thereto) (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2010, and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.23 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 30, 2010, between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and certain investors named therein (filed as
Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.24 Office Lease, dated as of May 24, 2010, between Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and Danari Broadway, LLC*

14.1 Medical Discoveries, Inc. Code of Conduct (filed as Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 15, 2009, and
incorporated herein by reference)

23.1 Consent of Hansen, Barnett & Maxwell. P.C.*

31 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 *
32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC.

March 24, 2011 By: /s/ RICHARD PALMER
Richard Palmer
President and Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ RICHARD PALMER Chief Executive Officer March 24, 2011
Richard Palmer (Principal Executive Officer) and

Director
/s/ BRUCE NELSON Executive Vice-President and Chief March 24, 2011
Bruce Nelson Financial Officer (Principal

Accounting Officer)
/s/ DAVID WALKER Chairman, the Board of Directors March 24, 2011
David Walker
/s/ MARK A. BERNSTEIN Director March 24, 2011
Mark A. Bernstein
/s/ MARTIN WENZEL Director March 24, 2011

Martin Wenzel
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HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Certified Public Accountants
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc.
Los Angeles, CA

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company has incurred significant
losses from current operations, used a substantial amount of cash to maintain its operations and has a large working capital deficit. As discussed in Note B to the financial
statements, these factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans concerning these matters are also described in
Note B. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 24, 2011

B A ot P L ) 5 Triad Center, Suile 750, Salt Lake City, Utah 84180-1128
BAKER TILLY egistered with the Public Company
INTERNATIOMNAL Accounting Oversight Board TEL B01-532-2200 FAX BO1-532-7944  wwwihbrcpas com

ADDING VALUE | NOT COMPLEXITY
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GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,
2010 2009
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,096,618 % 833,584
Accounts receivable 6,428 146,730
Inventory 11,706 -
Other current assets 248,711 131,741
Total Current Assets 1,363,463 1,112,055
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 8,103,537 6,441,489
INVESTMENT HELD FOR SALE 292,350 -
DEFERRED GROWING COST 1,244,419 -
OTHER NONCURRENT ASSETS 11,243 2,691
TOTAL ASSETS $ 11,015,012  § 7,556,235
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 1,810,505 $ 2,117,573
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes 1,713,748 1,491,385
Accrued interest payable 1,154,943 853,811
Accrued return on noncontrolling interest 1,452,744 610,870
Promissory notes - 509,232
Capital lease liability 47,139 -
Notes payable to shareholders 26,000 321,502
Convertible notes payable 193,200 193,200
Total Current Liabilities 6,398,279 6,097,573
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long term capital lease liability 98,372 -
Convertible notes payable 567,000 -
Mortgage notes payable 2,793,934 2,051,282
Total Long Term Liabilities 3,459,306 2,051,282
EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Preferred stock - $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized Series B, convertible; 13,000 shares issued (aggregate
liquidation preference of $1,300,000) 13 13
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 270,464,478 and 236,919,079 shares issued and outstanding,
respectively 270,464 236,919
Additional paid-in capital 23,580,630 22,998,907
Accumulated deficit (26,933,430) (26,308,143)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,195) (6,108)
Total Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. Stockholders' Deficit (3,084,518) (3,078,412)
Noncontrolling interests 4,241,945 2,485,792
Total equity (deficit) 1,157,427 (592,620)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 11,015,012  $ 7,556,235

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009
Revenue $ 848,808 $ 373,060
Operating Expenses
General and administrative 2,659,588 1,516,395
Plantation operating costs 389,738 738,759
Total Operating Expenses 3,049,326 2,255,154
Loss from Operations (2,200,518) (1,882,094)
Other Income (Expenses)
Interest income 85 41
Interest expense (489,039) (334,313)
Gain on settlement of liabilities 601,114 -
Foreign currency transaction adjustments - (9,830)
Total Other Income (Expenses) 112,160 (344,102)
Loss from Continuing Operations (2,088,358) (2,226,196)
Income from Discontinued Operations 31,266 3,167,098
Net Income (Loss) (2,057,092) 940,902
Net Gain (Loss) Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest (1,431,805) 1,297,463
Net Gain (Loss) Attributable to Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. $ (625,287) $ 2,238,365
Amounts Attributable to Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. Common Shareholders:
Loss from Continuing Operations $ (656,553) $ (928,733)
Income from Discontinued Operations 31,266 3,167,098
Net Income (Loss) $ (625,287) $ 2,238,365
Basic and Diluted Loss per Common Share:
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ (0.0025) $ (0.0040)
Income from Discontinued Operations 0.0001 0.0137
Net Income(Loss) per Common Share $ (0.0024) $ 0.0097
Basic and Diluted Weighted-Average Common Shares Outstanding 261,721,283 231,326,107

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Balance at December 31, 2008
Contributions from noncontrolling interests

Shares issued for acquisition of Technology
Alternative, Ltd, $0.02 per share

Issuance of common stock for cash at $0.02 per
share

Share-based compensation from issuance of
options and compensation-based warrants

Amortization of share-based Compensation for
common stock held in escrow

Release of escrowed shares upon satisfaction of
underlying mile stones

Accrual of preferential return for the
noncontrolling interests

Foreign currency translation (loss)

Net income (loss) for the year ended December
31,2009

Balance at December 31, 2009
Contributions from noncontrolling interests

Issuance of common stock for cash at $0.02 per
share

Cashless Exercise of Warrants

Share-based compensation from issuance of
options and compensation-based warrants

Accrual of preferential return for the
noncontrolling interests

Foreign currency translation gain

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2010

Balance at December 31, 2010

GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2010

Accumulated
Additional Other Non-
Series B Common stock Paid in Accumulated Comprehensive controlling
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Interests Total

13,000 $ 13 224,813,819 $§ 224,814 $22373,106 $ (28,546,508) $ -8 1,962,022 $(3,986,554)
- - - - - - - 2,780,177 2,780,177

- - 8,952,757 8,953 170,102 - - - 179,055

- - 2,500,000 2,500 47,500 - - - 50,000

- - - - 366,459 - - - 366,459

- - - - 42,392 - - - 42,392

- - 652,503 652 (652) - - - -

- - o = - - - (472,856) (472,856)

- - - - - - (6,108) (486,088) (492,196)

- - - - - 2,238,365 - (1,297,463) 940,902
13,000 13 236,919,079 236,919 22,998,907 (26,308,143) (6,108) 2,485,792 (592,621)
- - - - - - - 3,713,530 3,713,530

- - 25,000,000 25,000 475,000 - - - 500,000
8,545,399 8,545 (8,545) - - - -

- - - - 115,268 - - - 115,268

- - - - - - - (841,875) (841,875)

- - - - - - 3,913 316,303 320,216

- - - - - (625,287) - (1,431,805) (2,057,092)
13,000 $ 13 270,464,478 $ 270,464  $ 23,580,630 $ (26,933,430) $ (2,195) $ 4,241,945 § 1,157427

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Foreign currency transaction loss
Gain on settlement of liabilities
Share-based compensation
Depreciation
Gain/loss on sale of assets
Gain on disposal of SaveCream Assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Deferred growing costs
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of land
Plantation development costs
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Proceeds from disposal of SaveCream assets
Cash acquired in acquisition of Technology Alternatives, Limited
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock for cash
Proceeds from issuance of preferred membership in GCE Mexico I, LLC
Proceeds from notes payable
Payments on notes payable
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid for interest

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
Cashless exercise of warrants
Accrual of return on noncontrolling interest
Plantation costs financed by accounts payable
Equipment depreciation capitalized to plantation development costs
Release of common Stock held in escrow

Issuance of common stock for net assets of Technology Alternatives, Ltd

Assumption of research and development agreement and of accounts
payable in conjunction with the disposal of SaveCream assets

Reclass of Technology Alternatives, Ltd. To Investments held for Sale
Equipment purchase for debt

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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For the Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2009
(2,057,092) $ 940,902
- 184,853
(601,114) -
115,268 408,851
243,695 50,347
1,234 -
- (3,298,511)
145,130 (146,730)
(11,470) -
(123,133) (12,169)
(1,219,337) -
854,278 646,828
(2,652,541) (1,225,629)
(722,588) -
(1,159,959) (1,289,294)
(256,534) (264,603)
- 12,847
- 500,745
- 2,532
(2,139,081) (1,037,773)
500,000 50,000
3,713,530 2,780,177
742,652 50,554
(485,567) -
567,000 -
5,037,615 2,880,731
17,041 (75,054)
263,034 542,275
833,584 291,309
1,096,618 $ 833,584
168,928 §$ 837
8,545 -
841,875 472,856
32,497 204,388
- 37,610
- 17,618
- 179,055
- 2,779,856
292,525
149,419 -




GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A — ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

History

This company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Utah on November 20, 1991. Effective as of August 6, 1992, the Company merged with and into WPI
Pharmaceutical, Inc., a Utah corporation, pursuant to which WPI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. was the surviving corporation. Pursuant to the merger, the name of the surviving
corporation was changed to Medical Discoveries, Inc. (“MDI”). MDI’s initial business purpose was the research and development of an anti-infection drug. In 2005, MDI
acquired the assets and business associated with the SaveCream technology and carried on the research and development of this drug candidate. As discussed in Note K, MDI
made the decision in 2007 to discontinue further development of its drug candidates and sell the technologies.

On September 7, 2007, MDI entered into a share exchange agreement pursuant to which it acquired all of the outstanding ownership interests in Global Clean Energy Holdings,
LLC, discussed further in Note C. Global Clean Energy Holdings, LLC was an entity that had certain trade secrets, know-how, business plans, term sheets, business
relationships, and other information relating to the start-up of a business related to the cultivation and production of seed oil from the seed of the Jatropha plant. With this
transaction, MDI commenced the research and development of its current business of providing feedstock oil intended for the production of bio-diesel.

On January 29, 2008, the name Medical Discoveries, Inc. was changed to Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., and on July 19, 2010 the company changed its state of
incorporation to Delaware. Unless otherwise specified herein, all references to the “Company” refer to Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Effective April 23, 2008, the Company entered into a limited liability company agreement to form GCE Mexico I, LLC (GCE Mexico) along with six investors. The Company
owns 50% of the common membership interest of GCE Mexico and five of the investors own the other 50% of the common membership interest. Additionally, a total of 1,000
preferred membership units were issued to two of the investors. GCE Mexico owns a 99% interest in Asideros Globales Corporativo, (Asideros) an entity organized under the
laws of Mexico, and the Company owns the remaining 1% directly. GCE Mexico was organized primarily to, among other things, acquire land in Mexico through subsidiaries
for the cultivation of the Jatropha plant.

On July 2, 2009, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interests of Technology Alternatives, Limited (TAL), a Belizean entity that owned and operated a farm in Belize
for cultivation of the Jatropha plant. TAL had developed a nursery capable of producing Jatropha seedlings and rooted cuttings. In 2010, the operations of the Belizean
subsidiary were terminated, and all of its nursery capabilities were transferred to the Company’s other operations in Tizimin, Mexico. As such, the Company has started the
process of selling the land.

On July 19, 2010, the reincorporation of the company from a Utah corporation to a Delaware corporation was completed, as approved by shareholders. In the reincorporation,
each outstanding share of the company’s common stock was automatically converted into one share of common stock of the surviving Delaware corporation. In addition, the
par value of the Company’s capital stock changed from no par per share to $0.001 per share. The effects of the change in par value have been reflected retroactively in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for all periods presented. The effect of retroactively applying the par value of $0.001 per share resulted in
reclassification of $17,409,660 of common stock and $1,290,722 of preferred stock as of December 31, 2008 to additional paid-in capital. The reincorporation did not result in
any change in the company’s name, ticker symbol, CUSIP number, business, assets or operations. The management and Board of Directors of the company remained the same.
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GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc., its subsidiaries, and the variable interest entities of GCE Mexico and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Generally accepted accounting principles related to the consolidation of variable interest entities require that if an entity is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity
(VIE), the entity should consolidate the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the VIE in its consolidated financial statements. An entity is a primary beneficiary if it has
both (a) the power to direct the significant operations of the VIE, and (b) the obligation to absorb the losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially
be significant to the VIE. Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries considers itself to be the primary beneficiary of GCE Mexico and subsidiaries, and accordingly,
has consolidated these entities since April 2008, with the equity interests of the unaffiliated investors in GCE Mexico presented as Non-controlling Interests in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The asset and liability values of the VIE, GCE Mexico 1 and its subsidiaries, included in the consolidated balance sheet, as
of December 31, 2010 and 2009, are shown in the table below:

GCE MEXICO 1, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,

2010 2009
ASSETS
Current Assets 1,136,478 737,553
Property and Equipment 7,538,994 5,188,308
Deferred Growing Costs 1,244,419 -
Other Noncurrent Assets 7,743 -
TOTAL ASSETS $ 9,927,634 § 5,925,861
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 2,821,143 1,414,300
Long Term Liabilities 2,892,306 2,051,282
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 5,713,449 $§ 3,465,582

Accounting for Agricultural Operations

All costs incurred until the actual planting of the Jatropha Curcas plant are capitalized as plantation development costs, and are included in “Property and Equipment” on the
balance sheet. Plantation development costs are being accumulated in the balance sheet during the development period and will be accounted for in accordance with accounting
standards for Agricultural Producers and Agricultural Cooperatives. The direct costs associated with each farm and the production of the Jatropha revenue streams have been
deferred and accumulated as a noncurrent asset, “Deferred Growing Costs”, on the balance sheet. Other general costs without expected future benefits are expensed when
incurred.
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GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments maturing in three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Concentration of Credit Risk

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company had cash and cash equivalents in excess of federally-insured limits of $328,000 and $78,000, respectively, bank deposits in the
United States and $0 and $160,000, respectively for bank deposits in Mexico. The Company has maintained its cash balances at what management considers to be high credit-
quality financial institutions.

Property and Equipment

As described in Note D, substantially all property and equipment relate to plantation costs and related equipment to cultivate theatropha Curcas plant. Property and
equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of office equipment is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years. Plantation equipment is
depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years. Depreciation of plantation equipment has been capitalized as part of plantation
development costs through the date that the plantation becomes commercially productive. Plantation development costs have been accumulated in the balance sheet during the
development period and are being accounted for in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for agricultural producers and agricultural cooperatives. The
initial plantations were deemed to be commercially productive on October 1, 2009, at which date the Company commenced the depreciation of plantation development costs
over estimated useful lives of 10 to 35 years, depending on the nature of the development. Developments and other improvements with indefinite lives are capitalized and not
depreciated. Other developments that have a limited life and intermediate-life plants that have growth and production cycles of more than one year are depreciated over their
respective lives once they are placed in service. Land, plantation development costs, and plantation equipment are located in Mexico and in Belize.

Except for costs incurred during the development period of the plantation, normal maintenance and repair items are charged to costs and expensed as incurred. During the
development period, maintenance, repairs, and depreciation of plantation equipment have been capitalized as part of the plantation development costs. The cost and
accumulated depreciation of property and equipment sold or otherwise retired are removed from the accounts and gain or loss on disposition is reflected in results of
operations.

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, the carrying values of intangible assets and other long-lived
assets are reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or circumstances that may suggest impairment. The Company recognizes impairment when the sum of the
expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment losses, if any, are measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the asset
over its estimated fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, management’s review of the carrying values of long-lived assets did not indicate any
impairment.

F-9




GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and the carryforward of operating losses and tax credits, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws
that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely than not that such tax
benefits will not be realized. Assets and liabilities are established for uncertain tax positions taken or positions expected to be taken in income tax returns when such positions
are judged to not meet the “more-likely-than-not” threshold based on the technical merits of the positions. Estimated interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions are
included as a component of general and administrative expense.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; the
seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; collectibility is reasonably assured; and title and the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the buyer. Value
added taxes collected on revenue transactions are excluded from revenue and are included in accounts payable until remittance to the taxation authority.

Research and Development

Prior to the discontinuation of its bio-pharmaceutical business as discussed in Note K, research and development had been the principal function of the Company. Research
and development costs are charged to expense when incurred.

Foreign Currency

During 2010, the Company had operations located in the United States, Mexico and Belize. During the quarter ended December 31, 2009, the Company changed its
functional currency for certain assets located in Mexico from the U.S. dollar to the Mexican peso. For these foreign operations, the functional currency is the local country’s
currency. Consequently, revenues and expenses of operations outside the United States of America are translated into U.S. dollars using weighted average exchange rates,
while assets and liabilities of operations outside the United States of America are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The effects of
foreign currency translation adjustments are included in equity (deficit) as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Foreign currency transaction adjustments are included in other income (expense) in the Company’s results of operations.

Certain foreign currency transactions related to the discontinued bio-pharmaceutical business are primarily undertaken in Euros. Gains and losses arising on translation or
settlement of foreign currency denominated transactions or balances are included in the determination of income or loss. Consequently, certain foreign currency gains and

losses have been included in income from discontinued operations.

The Company has not entered into derivative instruments to offset the impact of foreign currency fluctuations.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for accounts payable approximate fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of these
financial instruments. The carrying amounts reported for the various notes payable and the mortgage note payable approximate fair value because the underlying instruments
are at interest rates which approximate current market rates.

Estimates

Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements. Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and reported revenues and expenses. Significant estimates used in preparing these financial statements include a) those assumed
in determining the valuation of common stock, warrants, and stock options, b) estimated useful lives of plantation equipment and plantation development costs, and c)
undiscounted future cash flows for purpose of evaluating possible impairment of long-term assets. It is at least reasonably possible that the significant estimates used will
change within the next year.

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is computed on the basis of the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is computed on the basis
of the weighted-average number of common shares and all dilutive potentially issuable common shares outstanding during the year. Common stock issuable upon conversion
of debt and preferred stock, common stock held in escrow, stock options and stock warrants have not been included in the income or loss per common share for 2010 and
2009 as they are anti-dilutive in relation to the calculation of loss per common share from continuing operations.

The potentially issuable common shares as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

December 31,

2010 2009
Convertible notes 19,028,671 128,671
Convertible preferred stock - Series B 11,818,181 11,818,181
Warrants 26,475,662 29,742,552
Compensation-based stock options and warrants 69,531,483 60,859,083

126,853,997 102,548,487

Stock Based Compensation
The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock-based awards expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award based on their
grant date fair value. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes option pricing model which requires management to make estimates for

certain assumptions regarding risk-free interest rate, expected life of options, expected volatility of stock and expected dividend yield of stock.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 24, 2011, the date these consolidated financial statements were issued.
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Recently Issued Accounting Statements

In October 2009, the FASB issued a new accounting standard which amends guidance on accounting for revenue arrangements involving the delivery of more than one element
of goods and/or services. This standard addresses the unit of accounting for arrangements involving multiple deliverables and removes the previous separation criteria that
objective and reliable evidence of fair value of any undelivered item must exist for the delivered item to be considered a separate unit of accounting. This standard also
addresses how the arrangement consideration should be allocated to each deliverable. Finally, this standard expands disclosures related to multiple element revenue
arrangements. This standard is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2011. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE B — BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND GOING CONCERN

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As shown in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, the Company incurred a loss from continuing operations applicable to its common shareholders of $656,553 during the year ended
December 31, 2010, and has an accumulated deficit applicable to its common shareholders of $26,933,430. The Company also used cash in operating activities of
$2,652,541 during the year ended December 31, 2010. At December 31, 2010, the Company has negative working capital of $5,034,816 and a stockholders’ deficit
applicable to its shareholders of $3,084,518. Those factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Company commenced its new business related to the cultivation and production of seed oil from the seed of the Jatropha plant in September 2007. Management plans to
meet its cash needs through various means including securing financing, entering into joint ventures, and developing the new business model. In order to fund its new
operations, the Company initially sold Series B preferred stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 in the amount of $1,300,000. During the years ended December
31, 2010 and 2009, the Company has received $3,713,530 and $2,780,177 in capital contributions from the preferred membership interest in GCE Mexico I, LLC, and has
issued mortgages in the amount of $2,051,282 for the acquisition of land of Asideros and $742,652 for the acquisition of land of Asideros 2. The Company is developing the
new business operation to participate in the rapidly growing bio-diesel industry. The Company plans to rely on additional equity financing from GCE Mexico 1, LLC along
with expected operating revenues, but there can be no assurance that the equity financing will continue to be available. Additionally, the Company continues to expect to be
successful in this new venture, but there is no assurance that its business plan will be economically viable. The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is
dependent on that plan’s success. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

NOTE C — JATROPHA BUSINESS VENTURE

The Company entered into the bio-fuels business in 2007 by acquiring certain trade secrets, know-how, business plans, term sheets, business relationships, and other
information relating to the cultivation and production of seed oil from the Jatropha plant for the production of bio-diesel, and by entering into certain employment agreements
and property management agreements. Subsequent to entering into these transactions, the Company identified certain real property in Mexico it believed to be suitable for
cultivating the Jatropha plant. During April 2008, the Company and six unaffiliated investors formed GCE Mexico I, LLC (GCE Mexico) and Asideros Globales Corporativo
(Asideros), a Mexican corporation. Asideros acquired the land in Mexico for the cultivation of the Jatropha plant. In July 2009, the Company acquired Technology
Alternatives Limited (TAL), which has developed a farm in Belize for cultivation of the Jatropha plant and provides technical advisory services for the propagation of the
Jatropha plant. In March 2010, the Company formed Asideros 2, a Mexican corporation, which has acquired additional land in Mexico adjacent to the land acquired by
Asideros. All of these transactions are described in further detail in the remainder of this note.

F-12




GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share Exchange Agreement

The Company entered into a share exchange agreement (the Global Agreement) pursuant to which the Company acquired all of the outstanding ownership interests in Global
Clean Energy Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (Global), on September 7, 2007 from Mobius Risk Group, LLC (Mobius) and from Richard Palmer (Mr.
Palmer). At that time, Mr. Palmer owned a 13.33% equity interest in Mobius and became the Company’s new President and Chief Operating Officer in September 2007 and its
Chief Executive Officer in December 2007. Global owned certain trade secrets, know-how, business plans, term sheets, business relationships, and other information relating
to the start-up of a business related to the cultivation and production of seed oil from the seed of the Jatropha plant, for the purpose of providing feedstock oil intended for the
production of bio-diesel. Under the Global Agreement, the Company issued 63,945,257 shares of its common stock for all of the issued and outstanding membership interests
of Global. Of the 63,945,257 shares issued under the Global Agreement, 36,540,146 shares were issued and delivered at the closing of the Global Agreement without any
restrictions. The remaining 27,405,111 shares of common stock were, however, held in escrow by the Company, subject to forfeiture in the event that certain specified
performance and market-related milestones were not achieved. Upon the satisfaction, from time to time, of the operational and market capitalization condition milestones, the
restricted shares were released by the Company from escrow and delivered to the buyers in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Global Agreement. In the event
that all of the milestone conditions were not achieved, the restricted shares that had not been released from escrow would be cancelled by the Company and thereafter cease to
be outstanding.

Of the restricted shares issued under the Global Agreement, 13,702,556 shares were to be released from escrow if and when i) certain land lease agreements suitable for the
planting and cultivation of Jatropha curcas were executed and ii) certain operation management agreements with a third-party land and operations management company with
respect to the management, planting and cultivation of Jatropha curcas were executed. These restricted shares were to be held in escrow subject to the satisfaction of these
milestones, at which time such shares would be released from escrow and delivered to the sellers. The Company has accounted for these potentially issuable shares as share-
based compensation for shares of common stock that contain a performance or service condition. The Company has determined the value of these shares to be $369,969, or
$0.027 per share, and amortized this compensation over four months, the period of time in which the satisfaction of the operational milestones was expected to be fulfilled that
would result in the release of the 13,702,556 shares from escrow. For accounting purposes, shares held in escrow are not considered outstanding, but are deemed to be
potential dilutive shares for loss per share calculations. During the years ended December 31, 2008, the Company amortized and recognized $21,581 of share-based
compensation related to these shares. With the acquisition of the land for the Jatropha Farm in April 2008, the operational milestones were satisfied under the Global
Agreement. Consequently, 13,702,556 shares of common stock being held in escrow have been released to the former owners of Global Clean Energy Holdings, LLC.

The remaining 13,702,555 restricted shares issued under the Global Agreement were to be released from escrow upon satisfaction of certain market capitalization levels (based
on the number of outstanding shares at the average closing price of the previous sixty trading days) and average daily trading volume (for the previous sixty trading
days). These potentially issuable shares were to be released in three equal tranches, subject to the satisfaction of the related milestones, at which time such shares were to be
released from escrow and delivered to the sellers. On November 30, 2007, the first of these milestones was met and 4,567,518 shares were released from escrow and delivered
to the sellers. During May 2008, the second market-related milestones under the Global Agreement were satisfied, which resulted in the release of an additional 4,567,518
shares of common stock being held in escrow.




GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During 2009, 652,503 shares of the remaining shares of common stock held in escrow were released upon the approval of the board of directors and the balance of 3,915,016
shares held in escrow were forfeited and returned to the Company for cancelation for failure to meet the remaining milestones by September 7, 2009, the deadline for achieving
the milestones. The Company accounted for these potentially issuable shares as share-based compensation, for shares of common stock that contain a market condition. The
Company determined the value of these shares to be $369,969, or $0.027 per share, and amortized this compensation over the periods of time in which the satisfaction of each
of the three market capitalization and trading volume milestones were expected to be fulfilled. The Company originally estimated these time periods to be approximately three
months for the first tranche of stock and two years for the second and third tranches. For accounting purposes, shares held in escrow are not considered outstanding, but are
deemed to be potential dilutive shares for loss per share calculations. During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company amortized and recognized $0 and
$42,392, respectively, of share-based compensation related to these shares.

Mobius Consulting Agreement

Concurrent with the execution of the Global Agreement, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Mobius pursuant to which Mobius agreed to provide consulting
services to the Company in connection with the Company’s new Jatropha bio-diesel feedstock business. The Company engaged Mobius as a consultant to obtain Mobius’

experience and expertise in the feedstock/bio-diesel market to assist the Company and Mr. Palmer in developing this new line of operations for the Company. Mobius agreed to
provide the following services to the Company: (i) manage and supervise a contemplated research and development program contracted by the Company and conducted by the
University of Texas Pan American regarding the location, characterization, and optimal economic propagation of the Jatropha plant; and (ii) assist with the management and
supervision of the planning, construction, and start-up of plant nurseries and seed production plantations in Mexico, the Caribbean or Central America.

The original term of the agreement was twelve months. The scope of work under the agreement was completed in August 2008 and the agreement was terminated. Mobius
supervised the hiring of certain staff to serve in management and operations roles of the Company, or hired such persons to provide similar services as independent
contractors. Mobius’ compensation for the services provided under the agreement was a monthly retainer of $45,000. The Company also reimbursed Mobius for reasonable
business expenses incurred in connection with the services provided. The agreement contained customary confidentiality provisions with respect to any confidential
information disclosed to Mobius or which Mobius received while providing services under the agreement.

The Company owed Mobius $322,897 for accrued, but unpaid, compensation and costs as of December 31, 2010 and as of December 31, 2009. The Company disputes the
total of these charges and is currently in litigation with Mobius to resolve this liability.
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LODEMO Agreement

On October 15, 2007, the Company entered into a service agreement with Corporativo LODEMO S.A DE CV, a Mexican corporation (the LODEMO Group), to provide
services related to the establishment, development, and day-to-day operations of the Company’s Jatropha Business in Mexico. The Company had agreed to pay the LODEMO
Group a fixed fee per year of $60 per hectare of land planted and maintained with minimum payments based on 10,000 hectares of developed land, to follow a planned
planting schedule. The Agreement had a 20-year term but could be terminated or modified earlier by the Company under certain circumstances. In June 2009, the scope of
work previously performed by LODEMO was reduced and modified based upon certain labor functions being provided internally by the Company and by Asideros, the
Company’s Mexican subsidiary, on a go-forward basis. Under this agreement, the Company has paid the LODEMO Group or accrued $624,329 during the year ended
December 31, 2009, all of which was capitalized as plantation development costs. This agreement was cancelled in 2009. As of December 31, 2010 the Company’s financial
statement reflect that it owes the LODEMO Group $251,500 for accrued, but unpaid, compensation and costs and $204,085 as of December 31, 2009. The Company disputes
the total of these charges and is currently in discussions with LODEMO to resolve this liability.

GCE Mexico I, LLC and Asideros Globales Corporativo

Effective April 23, 2008, the Company entered into a limited liability company agreement (“LLC Agreement”) to form GCE Mexico I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (GCE Mexico), with six investors (collectively, the “Investors”). GCE Mexico was organized primarily to facilitate the acquisition of approximately 5,000 acres of
farm land (the Jatropha Farm) in the State of Yucatan in Mexico to be used primarily for the (i) cultivation of Jatropha curcas, (ii) the marketing and sale of the resulting fruit,
seeds, or pre-processed crude Jatropha oil, whether as biodiesel feedstock, biomass or otherwise, and (iii) the sale of carbon value, green fuel value, or renewable energy credit
value (and other similar environmental attributes) derived from activities at the Jatropha Farm.

Under the LLC Agreement, the Company owns 50% of the issued and outstanding common membership units of GCE Mexico. The remaining 50% of the common
membership units was issued to five of the Investors. The Company and the other owners of the common membership interest were not required to make capital contributions
to GCE Mexico.

In addition, two of the Investors agreed to invest in GCE Mexico through the purchase of preferred membership units and through the funding of the purchase of land in
Mexico. An aggregate of 1,000 preferred membership units were issued to these two Investors who each agreed to make capital contributions to GCE Mexico in installments
and as required, to fund the development and operations of the Jatropha Farm. The preferred members have made capital contributions of $3,713,530 and $2,780,177 during
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, totaling contributions of $8,908,858 received by GCE Mexico from these Investors since the execution of the LLC
Agreement. The LLC Agreement calls for additional contributions from the Investors, as requested by management and as required by the operation in 2011 and the following
years. These Investors are entitled to earn a preferential 12% per annum cumulative compounded return on the cumulative balance of their preferred membership interest. The
preferential return totaled $841,875 and $472,856 during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Two investors holding preferred membership units also directly funded the purchase of the initial approximately 5,000 acres of land in the State of Yucatan in Mexico by the
payment of $2,051,282. The land was acquired in the name of Asideros and Asideros issued a mortgage in the amount of $2,051,282 in favor of these two investors. These
two investors also directly funded the purchase by Asideros 2 of approximately 3,700 acres of land adjacent to the land owned by Asideros by the payment of $742,652. The
land was acquired in the name of Asideros 2 and Asideros 2 issued a mortgage in the amount of $742,652 in favor of these two investors. These mortgages bear interest at the
rate of 12% per annum, payable quarterly. The initial mortgage, including any unpaid interest, is due in April 2018. The second mortgage, including any unpaid interest, is due
in February 2020.
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The net income or loss of Asideros and of Asideros 2 is allocated to its shareholders based on their respective equity ownership, which is 99% to GCE Mexico and 1% directly to
the Company. GCE Mexico has no operations separate from its investments in Asideros and Asideros 2. According to the LLC Agreement of GCE Mexico, the net loss of GCE

Mexico is allocated to its members according to their respective investment balances. Accordingly, since the common membership interest did not make a capital contribution,
all of the losses have been allocated to the preferred membership interest. The noncontrolling interest presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the
carrying value of the preferred membership interests and of the common membership interests owned by the Investors, and excludes any common membership interest in GCE
Mexico held by the Company.

Technology Alternatives, Limited

On October 29, 2008, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with the shareholders of Technology Alternatives, Limited (TAL), a company formed under the laws
of Belize in Central America. Subsequently, the terms and conditions of the stock purchase agreement were modified prior to closing. The closing was primarily delayed to
allow TAL to complete all required conditions for the closing. On July 2, 2009, all closing requirements were completed and the Company consummated the stock purchase
agreement by issuing 8,952,757 shares of its common stock in exchange for 100% of the equity interests of TAL. TAL owns approximately 400 acres of land and has developed
a Jatropha farm in stages over the last three years for the cultivation of the Jatropha plant. During 2009, TAL commenced selling seeds, principally to GCE Mexico.

In connection with the acquisition, certain payables to the former shareholders of TAL were renegotiated and converted into promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount
of $516,139 Belize Dollars (US $268,036 based on exchange rates in effect at July 2, 2009). See Note F for further details.

On the closing date, the common stock issued to acquire TAL was valued at $179,055, or $0.02 per share.The Company’s evaluation of the fair value of net assets acquired
consists of the following:

Assets:
Cash $ 2,532
Land 485,724
Plantation Development Cost 81,189
Plantation Equipment 61,543
Office Equipment 2,246
Total Assets 633,234

Liabilities:
Accounts Payable 26,434
Accrued Compensation 30,629
Payable to Global Clean Energy 129,080
Notes Payable to shareholders 268,036
Total Liabilities 454,179

Net assets acquired $ 179,055
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Investment held for sale

As all of TAL’s nursery capabilities have since been transferred to the Company’s other operations in Tizimin, Mexico and the Company is in the process of selling the land,
the net assets have been reclassified as Investment Held for Sale at December 31, 2010; the promissory notes are netted against the net assets. The Net Assets, measured at fair
value as of December 31, 2010 were $565,473 Belize Dollars (US $292,350 based on exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2010).

NOTE D - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2010 2009
Land $ 2435722 $§ 2,079,914
Plantation development costs 4,805,940 3,633,288
Plantation equipment 1,108,467 805,719
Office equipment 89,721 33,478
Total cost 8,439,850 6,552,399
Less accumulated depreciation (336,313) (110,910)
Property and equipment, net $ 8,103,537 $ 6,441,489

Commencing in June 2008, Asideros purchased certain equipment for purposes of rapidly clearing the land, preparing the land for planting, and actually planting the Jatropha
trees. The Company has capitalized farming equipment and costs related to the development of land for farm use in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
for accounting by agricultural producers and agricultural cooperatives. Plantation equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of 5 to 15
years and has been capitalized as part of plantation development costs through the date that the plantation becomes commercially productive. The initial plantations were
deemed to be commercially productive on October 1, 2009, at which date the Company commenced the depreciation of plantation development costs over estimated useful
lives of 10 to 35 years, depending on the nature of the development. Developments and other improvements with indefinite lives are capitalized and not depreciated. Other
developments that have a limited life and intermediate-life plants that have growth and production cycles of more than one year are being depreciated over their useful lives
once they are placed in service. The land, plantation development costs, and plantation equipment are located in Mexico.

NOTE E - ACCRUED PAYROLL AND PAYROLL TAXES

A substantial portion of accrued payroll and payroll taxes relates to unpaid compensation for officers and directors that are no longer affiliated with the Company. Accrued
payroll taxes will become due upon payment of the related accrued compensation.
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Accrued payroll and payroll taxes are composed of the following:

December 31,

December 31,

2010 2009
Accrued payroll, vacation, and related payroll taxes for current officers $ 1,039,459 $ 570,726
Former Chief Executive Officer, resigned 2007, including $500,000 under the Release and Settlement Agreement 570,949 570,949
Other former officers and directors 77,750 311,200
Accrued payroll taxes on accrued compensation to former officers and directors 25,590 38,510
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes $ 1,713,748  § 1,491,385

On August 31, 2007, the Company entered into a Release and Settlement Agreement with Judy Robinett, the Company’s then-current Chief Executive Officer. Under the

agreement, Ms. Robinett agreed to, among other things, assist the Company in the sale of its legacy assets to Eucodis Pharmaceuticals Forschungs and Entwicklungs GmbH
(Eucodis) and complete the preparation and filing of the delinquent reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Under the agreement, Ms. Robinett agreed to (i) forgive
her potential right to receive $1,851,805 in accrued and unpaid compensation, un-accrued and pro-rata bonuses, and severance pay and (ii) the cancellation of stock options to
purchase 14,000,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.02 per share. In consideration for her services, the forgiveness of the foregoing cash payments, the
cancellation of the stock options, and settlement of other issues, the Company agreed, among other things, to pay Ms. Robinett $500,000 upon the receipt of the cash payment
from Eucodis. Pursuant to this agreement, Ms. Robinett resigned on December 21, 2007. Despite the Company’s efforts, the sale to Eucodis was never completed and Eucodis
has since ceased operations. Accordingly, the conditions precedent to make the $500,000 payment from the Eucodis proceeds described above have not been fulfilled, i.e., the
Company’s sale of the SaveCream Assets to Eucodis did not occur, and the Company does not believe that Ms. Robinett is entitled to this payment. Furthermore, as indicated in

Note K to these consolidated financial statements, the Company subsequently sold the SaveCream Assets to an unaffiliated third party on November 16, 2009.

There is an accrual of Director’s fees included in the Accounts Payable balance as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 of $155,000 and $89,000, respectively.

NOTE F — DEBT

Promissory Notes

Mercator Momentum Fund I11

In order to fund ongoing operations pending closing of the sale of the SaveCream Assets, the Company entered into a loan agreement with, and issued a promissory note in favor
of, Mercator Momentum Fund III, L.P. (Mercator) in September 2007. This note plus $81,909 of accrued interest was paid off in March 2010 from the proceeds of newly-issued

convertible promissory notes and common stock warrants.

Mortgage Notes Payable

See Note C for the further discussion on mortgage notes payable.
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Notes Payable to Shareholders

The Company has notes payable to certain shareholders in the aggregate amount of $26,000 and $56,000 at December 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively. The notes
originated between 1997 and 1999, bear interest at 12%, are unsecured, and are currently in default. Accrued interest on the notes totaled $43,278 and $85,541 at December 30,
2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively.

As more fully disclosed in Note C to these consolidated financial statements, the Company has promissory notes to the former shareholders of TAL in the amount of $526,462
Belize dollars, (US $272,181 based on exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2010), including capitalized interest of $10,322 Belize Dollars. These notes payable to
shareholders were interest free through September 30, 2009, and then bear interest at 8% per annum through the maturity date. The notes are secured by a mortgage on the
land and related improvements. The notes, plus any related accrued interest, were originally due on December 29, 2009, but the due date has been extended to July 15, 2011.

Convertible Notes Payable

In March 2010, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with the preferred members of GCE Mexico pursuant to which the Company issued senior unsecured
convertible promissory notes in the original aggregate principal amount of $567,000 and warrants to acquire an aggregate of 1,890,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The Convertible Notes mature on the earlier of March 16, 2012, or upon written demand of payment by the note holders following the Company’s default thereunder. The
maturity date of the Convertible Notes may be extended by written notice made by the note holders at any time prior to March 16, 2012. Interest accrues on the convertible
notes at a rate of 5.97% per annum, and is payable quarterly in cash, in arrears, on each three-month anniversary of the issuance of the convertible notes. The Company may at
its option, in lieu of paying interest in cash, pay interest by delivering a number of unregistered shares of its common stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing the amount
of such interest by the arithmetic average of the volume weighted average price for each of the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the interest payment date. At
any time following the first anniversary of the issuance of the Convertible Notes, at the option of the note holders, the outstanding balance thereof (including unpaid interest)
may be converted into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price equal to $0.03. The conversion price may be adjusted in connection with stock splits, stock
dividends and similar events affecting the Company’s capital stock. The convertible notes rank senior to all other indebtedness of the Company, and thereafter will remain senior
or pari passu with all accounts payable and other similar liabilities incurred by the Company in the ordinary course of business. The Company may not prepay the convertible
notes without the prior consent of the Investors.

The warrants have an exercise price of $0.03 per share and the exercise price of the warrants may be adjusted in connection with stock splits, stock dividends and similar events
affecting the Company’s capital stock. The warrants expire on March 16, 2013. The fair value of the warrants was immaterial, accordingly, all of the proceeds from the issuance
of the debt were allocated to the Convertible Notes. The Company used substantially all of the proceeds received from the sale of the convertible promissory notes to repay, in
full, an outstanding promissory note in the amount of $475,000, plus accrued interest of $81,909.

The Company has convertible notes payable to certain individuals in the aggregate amount of $193,200 at December 31, 2010 and 2009. The notes originated in 1996, bear

interest at 12%, are unsecured, and are currently in default. Each $1,000 note is convertible into 667 shares of the Company’s common stock. Accrued interest on the
convertible notes totaled $295,167 and $271,983 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Lease Commitment

During June 2010, the Company entered into a new two-year and two month lease agreement with average monthly payments including prescribed common area fees of $3,400,
with a 3% annual increase in lease payments. Rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $25,549.

Future minimum lease payments under operating lease obligations as of December 31, 2010 were as follows:

Year Ending
December 31,
2011 $ 41,500
2012 28,000
Operating Lease Payable $ 69,500

Plantation equipment recorded under the two capital leases is included in “property and equipment” and amounted to $77,396 at December 31, 2010. Depreciation of the
capitalized asset is computed on the straight-line basis over the lease term and is being capitalized in plantation development cost until the farm is operational. The total
accumulated depreciation is $418 for the year ended December 31, 2010. Imputed interest on the lease is 13.25% with principal and interest due in equal monthly installments of
$1,309 each, or $2,618 combined. The balance of the leases payable as of December 31, 2010 was $72,725 and is due to be paid in full by October 2013.

In December 2010, plantation equipment under the two additional capital leases is included in “property and equipment” and amounted to $56,383 at December 31,
2010. Depreciation of the capitalized asset is computed on the straight-line basis over the lease term and will be capitalized in plantation development cost. No depreciation was
accumulated as the equipment was put into operations in the latter half of December 2010. Imputed interest on the lease is 13.25% with principal and interest due in equal
monthly installments of $953 each, or $1,906 combined. The balance of the leases payable as of December 31, 2010 was $55,098 and is due to be paid in full by December
2013.

Transportation equipment recorded under a capital lease is included in “property and equipment” and amounted to $19,095 at December 31, 2010. Depreciation of the
capitalized asset is computed on the straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in depreciation expense. Depreciation expense totals $1,436 during the year ended
December 31, 2010. Imputed interest on the lease is 14.50%,with principal and interest due in monthly installments of $784. The balance of the lease payable as of December
31,2010 was $17,688 and is due to be paid in full in 30 equal monthly installments, or by March 2013.
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Future minimum lease payments under capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2010 were as follows:

Year Ending
December 31,
2011 64,070
2012 64,070
2013 49,761
177,901
Less amount representing interest (32,390)
Capital Lease Payable $ 145,511
Less Current portion 47,139
Long Term Capital Lease Liability 98,372

Settlement of Liabilities

The Company has settled certain liabilities previously carried on the consolidated balance sheet, which settlements resulted in significant gains. The gain on settlement of
liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $601,114. There was no gain on settlement of liabilities for the comparable period in 2009. This gain was primarily from
the settlement of historic liabilities primarily incurred by prior management in connection with the discontinued pharmaceutical operations that had been on the Company’s
records for several years.

NOTE G — EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Common Stock

During May 2009, the Company issued 2,500,000 shares of stock to two individuals for $50,000, or $0.02 per share.

Additionally, as further described in Note C to these consolidated financial statements, in July 2009 the Company issued 8,952,757 shares of its common stock in exchange for
100% of the equity interests of Technology Alternatives, Limited.

On March 30, 2010 the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement whereby the Company agreed to issue and sell 25,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a
price of $0.02 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $500,000, which was paid in cash.

Series B Preferred Stock

In order to obtain additional working capital, on November 6, 2007, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with two accredited investors, pursuant to which
the Company sold a total of 13,000 shares of our newly authorized Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Shares”) for an aggregate purchase price of $1,300,000, less
offering costs of $9,265. Each share of the Series B Shares has a stated value of $100.
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The Series B Shares may, at the option of each holder, be converted at any time or from time to time into shares of the Company’s common stock at the conversion price then in
effect. The number of shares into which one Series B Share shall be convertible is determined by dividing $100 per share by the conversion price then in effect. The initial
conversion price per share for the Series B Shares is $0.11, which is subject to adjustment for certain events, including stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, or other
recapitalizations affecting the Series B Shares.

Each holder of Series B Shares is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of the Company’s common stock into which the Series B Shares could be
converted on the record date for such vote, and has voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and powers of the holders of the Company’s common stock. In the event of
the Company’s dissolution or winding up, each share of the Series B Shares is entitled to be paid an amount equal to $100 (plus any declared and unpaid dividends) out of the
assets of the Company then available for distribution to shareholders.

No dividends are required to be paid to holders of the Series B shares. However, the Company may not declare, pay or set aside any dividends on shares of any class or series of
the Company’s capital stock (other than dividends on shares of our common stock payable in shares of common stock) unless the holders of the Series B shares shall first
receive, or simultaneously receive, an equal dividend on each outstanding share of Series B shares.

NOTE H — INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are provided for temporary differences between financial and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The following is a reconciliation of the amount of benefit that
would result from applying the federal statutory rate to pretax loss with the benefit from income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Federal income tax (benefit) at statutory rate (34%) $ (699,000) $ 320,000
State income tax (benefit) , net of federal benefit (31,000) 138,000
Foreign income tax benefit 37,000 17,000
Gain on sale of SaveCream assets - (1,096,000)
Losses allocated to preferred members of GCE Mexico 488,000 443,000
Foreign currency translation adjustment (13,000) 70,000
Share-based compensation 64,000 115,000
Expiration of operating loss and research credit carryforwards 403,000 813,000
Adjustment of operating loss carryforwards (6,000) 951,000
Other differences 1,000 (1,000)
Change in valuation allowance (244,000) (1,770,000)
Income tax benefit $ - 3 -
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The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows at December 31, 2010 and 2009, using a combined deferred income tax rate of 40%:

2010 2009
Net operating loss carryforward $ 7,121,000 $ 7,524,000
Share-based compensation 746,000 765,000
Accrued compensation and other liabilities 831,000 653,000
Other (2,000) (2,000)
Valuation allowance (8,696,000) (8,940,000)
Net deferred tax asset $ - 3 -

Inasmuch as it is not possible to determine when or if the net operating losses will be utilized, a valuation allowance has been established to offset the benefit of the utilization
of the net operating losses.

The Company has available net operating losses of approximately $17,803,000 which can be utilized to offset future earnings of the Company. The utilization of the net
operating losses are dependent upon the tax laws in effect at the time such losses can be utilized. The loss carryforwards expire between the years 2011 and 2030. Should the
Company experience a significant change of ownership, the utilization of net operating losses could be reduced.

The Company and its subsidiaries file tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and, in the state of California. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal tax
examinations for tax years before and including December 31, 2006. The Company is no longer subject to examination by state tax authorities for tax years before and
including December 31, 2005. During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company did not recognize interest and penalties.

NOTE I - EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

Palmer Employment Agreement

Effective September 1, 2007, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Richard Palmer pursuant to which the Company hired Mr. Palmer to serve as its
President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Palmer was also appointed to serve as a director on the Company’s Board of Directors to serve until the next election of directors by
the Company’s shareholders. Upon the resignation of the former Chief Executive Officer on December 21, 2007, Mr. Palmer also became the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer. The Company hired Mr. Palmer to take advantage of his experience and expertise in the feedstock/bio-diesel industry, and in particular, in the Jatropha bio-diesel and
feedstock business. The term of employment currently expires on September 30, 2012.

Mr. Palmer’s compensation package includes an annual base salary of $250,000, subject to annual increases based on changes in the Consumer Price Index, and a bonus payment
based on Mr. Palmer’s satisfaction of certain performance criteria established by the compensation committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. The bonus amount in any
fiscal year will not exceed 100% of Mr. Palmer’s base salary. Mr. Palmer is eligible to participate in the Company’s employee stock option plan and other welfare plans. The
Company granted Mr. Palmer an incentive option to purchase up to 12,000,000 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $0.03 per share (the trading price on the date
the agreement was signed). The vesting of these options was originally conditioned upon the achievement of certain market conditions, however, as further explained in Note J
to these consolidated financial statements, the board of directors approved the vesting of these options in April 2009 prior to the achievement of the market conditions. The
option expires five years after grant.
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If Mr. Palmer’s employment is terminated by the Company without “cause” or by Mr. Palmer for “good reason”, he will be entitled to severance payments including 100% of his
then-current annual base salary, plus 50% of the target bonus for the fiscal year in which his employment is terminated.

The Company has accounted for the options under Mr. Palmer’s employment agreement as share-based compensation for options to purchase common stock that contain a
market condition. The Company valued these options at $264,000 using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The Company amortized this compensation over the period of time in
which the satisfaction of the market conditions was expected to be fulfilled. The weighted average fair value of the stock options was $0.022 per share. The weighted-average
assumptions used for the calculation of fair value were risk-free rate of 4.21%, volatility of 116%, expected life of five years, and dividend yield of zero. In April 2009, all
remaining unamortized compensation was recognized with the vesting of the options. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company amortized and recognized
$146,348 of share-based compensation related to these options.

As more fully described in Note L to these consolidated financial statements, the employment agreement with Mr. Palmer was amended in March 2010 to provide for a two-year
extension and the grant of options to acquire 12 million shares of the Company’s common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company amortized and
recognized $83,574 of share-based compensation related to these options.

Nelson Employment Agreement

On March 20, 2008, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Bruce K. Nelson pursuant to which the Company hired Mr. Nelson to serve as its Executive Vice-
President and Chief Financial Officer effective April 1, 2008. The initial term of employment expired on March 20, 2010, but, according to its terms, automatically renews for
successive one-year periods unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the employment agreement.

Mr. Nelson’s compensation package includes a base salary of $175,000, subject to annual increases based on the Consumer Price Index for the immediately preceding 12-month
period, and a bonus payment based on Mr. Nelson’s satisfaction of certain performance criteria established by the compensation committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.
The bonus amount in any fiscal year will not exceed 100% of Mr. Nelson’s base salary. Mr. Nelson is eligible to participate in the Company’s employee stock option plan and
other benefit plans.

The Company granted Mr. Nelson an option (the Initial Option) to acquire up to 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.05. The Initial
Option vests in tranches of 500,000 shares after 90 days, nine months, fifteen months, and two years of the employment term. The Initial Option expires after 10 years. The
Company also granted Mr. Nelson an option (the Performance Option) to acquire up to 2,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.05, subject to
the Company’s achievement of certain market capitalization goals. The Performance Option expires after five years. As further explained in Note J to these consolidated
financial statements, the board of directors approved the vesting of all unvested options in April 2009.
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The Company has accounted for the options under Mr. Nelson’s employment agreement as share-based compensation. The Company valued these options at $189,500 using the
Black-Scholes pricing model. The weighted average fair value of the stock options was $0.042 per share. The weighted-average assumptions used for the calculation of fair
value were risk-free rate of 2.38%, volatility of 127%, expected life of 5.2 years, and dividend yield of zero. The Company amortized this compensation over the vesting period
for the Initial Option and over the period of time in which the satisfaction of market capitalization milestones for the Performance Option was expected to be fulfilled that would
result in the vesting of these stock options. In April 2009, all remaining unamortized compensation was recognized with the vesting of the options. During the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company amortized and recognized $0 and $98,154, respectively of share-based compensation related to these options.

NOTE J - STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Stock Options and Compensation-Based Warrants

The Company has two incentive stock option plans wherein 24,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance there under. The Company granted
stock options during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 to acquire 12,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The
Company granted stock options during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 to acquire 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to non-employee directors. These
options are exercisable at $0.02 per share, vest monthly over ten months starting August 31, 2009, and expire July 3, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the
Company also issued compensation-based stock warrants to an investment banking firm to acquire 7,700,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.0325 per share and
350,000 options to purchase the Company’s common stock at $$0.02 per share. Additionally, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, the Company issued
compensation-based warrants to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock to a law firm.

On July 19, 2010, the stockholders approved the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan. The granting of options and other stock awards is an important incentive tool for the Company’s
employees, officers and directors. The 2010 Plan provides a means by which employees, directors and consultants of the Company may be given an opportunity to benefit from
increases in the value of our common stock, and to attract and retain the services of such persons. All of our employees, directors and consultants are eligible to participate in the
2010 Plan. The total number of shares of common stock which may be offered, or issued as restricted stock or on the exercise of options or Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs)
under the Plan shall not exceed twenty million (20,000,000) shares of common stock. The shares subject to an option or SAR granted under the Plan that expire, terminate or are
cancelled unexercised shall become available again for grants under this Plan. If shares of restricted stock awarded under the Plan are forfeited to the Company or repurchased
by the Company, the number of shares forfeited or repurchased shall again be available under the Plan. Where the exercise price of an option is paid by means of the optionee’s
surrender of previously owned shares of common stock or the Company’s withholding of shares otherwise issuable upon exercise of the option as may be permitted herein, only
the net number of shares issued and which remain outstanding in connection with such exercise shall be deemed “issued” and no longer available for issuance under this
Plan. No eligible person shall be granted options or other awards during any twelve-month period covering more than Five Hundred Thousand (500,000) shares of common
stock.

On July 1, 2010, the Company granted stock options to acquire 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to non-employee directors. These options are exercisable at
$0.04 per share, vest monthly over ten months starting August 1, 2010, and expire June 30, 2015.

On August 17, 2010, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, and directed management to issue 900,000 share options to certain
consultants in the United States and certain employees in Mexico. These options shall vest over the next 12 to 24 months and have an exercise price of $0.04 per share.
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No income tax benefit has been recognized for share-based compensation arrangements. The Company has recognized plantation development costs totaling $124,565 related to
a liability that was satisfied by the issuance of warrants in 2008. Otherwise, no share-based compensation cost has been capitalized in the consolidated balance sheet.

A summary of the status of options and compensation-based warrants at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and changes during the years then ended is presented in the following
table:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Shares Average Remaining Aggregate
Under Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Option Price Life Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 52,159,083 $ 0.03
Granted 16,750,000 0.03
Exercised - -
Expired - -
Cancelled (7,700,000) 0.03
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 61,209,083 0.03 6.2 years $ 168,609
Granted 14,650,000 0.02
Exercised (5,827,600) 0.01 $ 268,070
Expired (500,000) 0.25
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 69,531,483 0.03 5.1 years $ 450,970
Exercisable at December 31, 2010 55,668,983 $ 0.03 4.1 years $ 324,095

At December 31, 2010, 80,000 of the options outstanding have no stated contractual life. Except for warrants issued in satisfaction of accounts payable, the fair value of each
stock option grant and compensation-based warrant is estimated on the date of grant or issuance using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In the case of the warrants issued
in satisfaction of accounts payable, the warrants were valued at the amount of the accounts payable satisfied. The weighted-average fair value of stock options and
compensation-based warrants issued during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $0.01186. The weighted-average assumptions used for options granted and compensation-
based warrants issued during the year ended December 31, 2010 were risk-free interest rate of 3.34%, volatility of 157%, expected life of 9.1 years, and dividend yield of
zero. The weighted-average fair value of stock options and compensation-based warrants issued during the year ended December 31, 2009 was $0.01573. The weighted-average
assumptions used for options granted and compensation-based warrants issued during the year ended December 31, 2009 were risk-free interest rate of 2.5%, volatility of 152%,
expected life of 5.0 years, and dividend yield of zero. The assumptions employed in the Black-Scholes option pricing model include the following. The expected life of stock
options represents the period of time that the stock options granted are expected to be outstanding prior to exercise. The expected volatility is based on the historical price
volatility of the Company’s common stock. The risk-free interest rate represents the U.S. Treasury constant maturities rate for the expected life of the related stock options. The
dividend yield represents anticipated cash dividends to be paid over the expected life of the stock options.
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Effective April 22, 2009, the Board of Directors approved the following changes in compensation for the members of the board of directors and for the executive officers:

Options will be granted to each non-employee member of the Board of Directors to purchase 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock commencing July 1,
2009 and annually thereafter on July 1 of each successive year. The exercise price of the options will be at fair market value, as determined by the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on the day prior to the grant. The options will have a term of five years until expiration. The options will vest and become exercisable in
ten equal monthly installments.

Approved the release of 652,503 shares of common stock to Richard Palmer, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. These shares were previously part of the shares

from the share exchange agreement to acquire Global Clean Energy Holdings, LLC in September 2007 that were being held in escrow pending the achievement of
certain market-related milestones. Mr. Palmer was also awarded the immediate vesting of options to purchase 12 million shares of the Company’s common stock

previously granted. These options were originally granted under the employment agreement with Mr. Palmer in September 2007 with vesting originally contingent
upon the achievement of certain market-capitalization milestones. The exercise price of these options remained unchanged at $0.03 per share and the term remained
unchanged at five years from the date of employment.

Approved the immediate vesting of options to purchase 2.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock held by Bruce Nelson, the Company’s Chief Financial
Officer. These options were originally granted under the employment agreement with Mr. Nelson in March 2008 with vesting originally contingent upon the
achievement of certain market-capitalization milestones. The exercise price of these options remained unchanged at $0.05 per share and the term remained
unchanged at five years from the date of employment.

Approved the immediate vesting of options to purchase an additional one million shares of the Company’s common stock held by Mr. Nelson. These options were
originally granted under the employment agreement with Mr. Nelson in March 2008 with vesting scheduled for June 2009 through March 2010. The exercise price of
these options remained unchanged at $0.05 per share and the term remained unchanged at five years from the date of employment.

These modifications accelerated the vesting of the affected options and accelerated the release of the affected common stock held in escrow, which resulted in the acceleration of
the recognition of the remainder of share-based compensation related to these options and common stock held in escrow. Share-based compensation from all sources recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $115,268 and $408,851, respectively, and is reported as general and administrative expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2010, there is approximately $53,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based payments that will be recognized over a weighted average
period of approximately 0.6 years.
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Stock Warrants

A summary of the status of the warrants granted at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and changes during the years then ended is presented in the following table:

Weighted

Shares Average

Under Exercise

Warrant Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 29,742,552 $ 0.01
Issued - -
Exercised - -
Expired - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 29,742,552 $ 0.01
Issued 1,890,000 0.03
Exercised (4,575,495) 0.01
Expired (581,395) 0.13
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 26,475,662 ¢ 0.01

On April 26, 2010, the Company received a notice for the exercise of 4,575,495 financing-based warrants and 5,827,600 compensation-based warrants to acquire common stock
on a cashless basis. The warrants were exercisable at $0.01 per share. The Company issued 8,545,399 shares of its common stock to the entity as a result of the cashless
exercise.

NOTE K - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On November 16, 2009, Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiary, MDI Oncology, Inc., entered into a Sale and Asset Purchase Agreement with Curadis Gmbh, an
unaffiliated German company, for the sale of substantially all of the intellectual property associated with the patents, patent applications, pre-clinical study data and ancillary
clinical trial data concerning the SaveCream asset. The closing occurred on December 22, 2009. The SaveCream asset had no carrying value on the consolidated balance sheet
of the Company. In connection with the sale, the Company recognized a gain of $3,298,511 during the fourth quarter of 2009, consisting of cash received of $518,655, the
assumption of a research and development obligation with a carrying value of $2,758,350 (1,850,000 Euros), and the assumption of accounts payable of $21,506. Should the
pharmaceutical product ever be commercialized, the entire transaction will be valued at 4.2 million Euros. Although management is hopeful that the pharmaceutical product will
be commercialized, no assurance can be given if or when any additional consideration or cash will be provided to the Company after the closing. If additional consideration or
cash is received, the Company will recognize additional gain at that time. The Company will hold a security interest in the sold assets until the final two million Euro payment is
made, if ever.

Pursuant to accounting rules for discontinued operations, the Company has classified all gain, revenue and expense related to the operations, assets, and liabilities of its bio-

pharmaceutical business as discontinued operations. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, Income from Discontinued Operations consists of the foreign currency
transaction gains related to current liabilities associated with the discontinued operations that are denominated in Euros.
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Long Beach, CA 50805

Terant Improvement Allowarce:
(Exbiblt B

Approximately 1.03%.

Tenant shall izse the Presnises salely for general office use and
uses mcldental thereto (the “Permitted Use"), provided,
heeniver, that notwishassnding enything fo fhe contmry set
feath hercinabove, and ns more panmhﬂgmrmhmng
Leass, Tenane shall be respansibe for opemating and
maintaining the Premises pursuant to, and in no evenl muy
Terani's Permitled Use violste, (A) Landbords “Rules and
Pogelations,” ns thal term is set forth in Article § of this Lease,
(B)all "Applicable Lows" s that ferm is =t forth in
Amticle 24 of this Lesse, (C)all applicable zoning, buslding
eodes and any "CC&Rs,” s that terms i set forth in Adigle 5
of this Lease, and {I0) the charncier of the Praject as o firs-
class effice bisilding Project.

§ 3,500,00.

m[i)wvd;ﬂllﬁgw!fbtmqlmmﬂﬂr
square feet of the Premises, The curent rtes for parking
ﬁiwwﬁr@aumﬁpu:wmmﬂsﬂﬂmwr
single reserved pass per month

G033 W, Century Dowlovard, Suite BOS
Lo Angeles, CA_90045

Attention: Brace Metson, CFO
(Priar to Leass Commencement Dinte)
and

100 W, Bropdway, Suite S50Long Beach CA 90402

Atterian: Bruee Melson, CFO
{Afer Leme Commencement Dale)

DANARI BROADWAY, LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED
LIABILITY COMPANY

el Adler Reabty Imvestmens, [ne,

2095) Burbank Bivd., Suite B

Woodland Hills, CA 31367

Attenlion: Asset Maisagement

Reprezeiiing Landlord:

Phil Brodkin, CBRE

990 West 190™ Street, Suite 100
Tarmnte, CA 90502- 1025

Landlord, at Landlard's sole cost and expense, shall install o
sinek and bower esbinets (not bo exceed six {6) feet) in Premises
nmubaslly sgreenble location.
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ARTICLE 1
EREMISES, BUILDING, PROJECT. AND COMMON AREAS

1.1 Eremises, Building, Project and Common Areas.

1Ll The Premises. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord the
premises set forth in Section 2.2 of the Summary (the "Premises”). The outline of the Premiscs is set forth in Exhibit A
attached hereto and each fleor or floors of the Premises has the number of rentable square feet as set forth in Segtion 2.2 of
the Summary. The parties hereto agree that the lease of the Premises is upon and subject to the terms, covenants and
canditions (the "TCCs™) herein set forth, and Tenant covenants as & matcrial part of the consideration for this Lease to keep
and perform each and all of such TCCs by it to be kept and performed and that this Lease is made upon the condition of
such performance. The partics hereto hereby acknowledge that the purpose of Exhibit A is to show the approximate
Iocation of the Premises in the "Building,” as that term is defined in Section 1.1.2, below, anly, and such exhibit is not
meant to constitute an agresment, representation or warranty ns to the construction of the Premises, the precise area thercof
or the specific location of the "Common Areas,” as that term is defined in Scetion 1.1.3, below, or the elements thereof or
of the accessways 1o the Premises or the "Project,” as that term is defined in Section 1,12, below. Except as specifically
set forth in this Lease , Landlord shall not be obligated to provide or pay for any improvement work or services related to
the improvement of the Premises, Tenant also acknowledges thal neither Landlord nor any agent of Landlord has made any
representation or warranty regarding the condition of the Premises, the Building or the Projeet or with respect to the
suitability of any of the foregoing for the canduct of Tenant's business, except as specifically set forth in this Lease. The
taking of possession of the Premises by Tenant shall conclusively establish that the Premises and the Building were at such
time in good and sanitary order, condition and repair.

1,12 The Building and The Project, The Premises are a part of the building set forth in Section 2.1
of the Summary (the "Building™). The Building is part of an office project known as *100 West Broadway." The term
“Project,” as used in this Lease, shall mean (i) the Building and the Common Areas, (i) the land (which is improved with
landscaping, parking facilities and other improvements) upon which the Building and the Common Areas are located.

1.3 Common Aveas. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right to use in commen with other tenants
in the Project, and subject 1o the rules and regulations referred to in Arfigle § of this Lease, those portions of the Project
which are provided, from time to time, for use in common by Landlord, Tenant and any other tennnts of the Project (such
areas, together with such other portions of the Project designated by Landlord, in its discretion, including certain areas
designated for the exclusive use of certain tenants, or o be shared by Landlord and certain tenants, are collectively referred
to hergin as the "Common Areas"). The Common Areas shall consist of the "Project Commaon Areas” and the "Building
Common Areas The tenm "Project Common Arens,” as used [n this Lease, shall mean the portion of the Project
designaied as such by Londlord, The term "Building Common Arens,” as used in this Lease, shall mean the portions of
the Common Areas located within the Building designated as such by Landlord. The manner in which the Common Areas
are maintained and operated shall be at the solo discretion of Landlord and the use thereof shall be subject to such rules,
regulations and restrictions as Landlord may make from time to time, provided that such rules, regulations and restrictions
do not unreasonably interfere with the rights granted to Tenant under this Lease and the permitted use granted under
Section 5.1, below, Landlord reserves the right to close temporarily, make alterations or additions to, or change the
location of elements of the Project and the Common Areas; provided that no such changes shall be permitted which
materially reduce Tenant's rights or access hereunder, Except when and where Tenant's right of access is specifically
excluded in this Lease, Tenunt shall have the right of access to the Premises, the Building, and the Project parking facility
twenty-four {24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week during the "Lease Term,” as that term is defined in Anicle 2,
below,

1.2 ses. For purposecs of this Lease, the "rentable square feel”
of the Building nnd Premusessha]] hedeemed a8 sest ﬁmh in s;;ﬂgn_;,l and Segtion 2.2 of the Summary, respectively.

ARTICLE 2
LEASE TERM: OPTION TERM

21 Initial Lease Term. The TCCs and provisions of this Lease shall be effective as of the date of this
Lease. The term of this Lease (the "Lease Term") shall be as set forth in Sgetion 3,1 of the Summary, shall commence on
the date set forth in Section 3.2 of the Summary (the "Lease Commencement Date”), and shall terminate on the date sct
forth in Section 3.3 of the Summary (the "Lense Expiration Date") unless this Lease is sooner terminated as hereinafter
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provided. For purposes of this Lease, the term "Lease Year” shall mean each consecutive twelve (12) month period during
the Lease Term provided, however, that the first Lease Year shall commence on the Lease Commencement Date and end on
the st day of the month in which the first anniversary of the Lense Commencement Date ocours, and the second and each
succecding Lease Year shall commence on the first day of the next calendar month,

22 Option Term,

2.2.0  Optlon Right. Landlerd hereby grants the Original Tenant and any Permitted Transferee, one
{1} option to extend the Lease Term for the entire Premises by a period of three (1) years (the "Option Term®). Such
option shall be exercisable only by written notice delivered by Tenant 10 Landlord as provided below, provided that, as of
the date of delivery of such notice, (i) Tenant is not then in default under this Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure
periads), (i) Tenant has not been in defoault under this Lense (beyond any applicable notice and cure periods) more thun
once during the prior twelve (12) month period, (iii) Tenant has not been in defuult under this Lease (beyond any applicable
notice and cure periods) more than three (3) tmes during the Lease Term, and (iv) Tenant's financial condition has not
suffered a material, adverse change during the immediately preceding twenty-four (24) month period.  Upon the proper
exercise of such option to extend, and provided that, as of the end of the initial Lease Term, (A) Tenant is not in default
under this Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure periods), (B) Tenant has not been in default under this Lease
(beyond any applicable notice and cure periods) more than once during the prior twelve(12) month period, {C) Tenant has
not been in defiult under this Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure periods) more than three (3) times during the
Lease Term, and (I3} Tenant's financial condition has not suffered a materfal, adverse change during the immediately
preceding twenty-four (24) month period, then the Lease Term, as it applies to the entire Premises, shall be extended for a
period of five (5) years, The rights contained in this Section 2.2 shall enly be exercised by the Original Tenant or its
Affilinte (and not any other assignee, sublessee or other transferee of the Original Tenant's interest in this Lease) if Original
Tenant andfor ita Permitted Transferee is in ocoupancy of the entire then-existing Premises.

222  Option Rent. The "Rent," us that term is defined in Section 4.1 of this Lease, payable by
Tenant during the Option Term (the "Option Rent™) shall be equal to the rent, including all escalations, nt which tenants, as
of the commencement of the Option Term, are leasing non-sublease, non-encumbered, non-cquity space comparable in size,
location and quality to the Premises for a term of three (3) years, which comparable space is located in the downtown Lang
Beach office market, taking into consideration only the following concessions: (i) rental abatement concessions, 1T any,
being granted such tenants in connection with such comparable space, and (ii) tenont improvements or allowances provided
of to be provided for such comparable space, taking into account, and deducting the value of, the existing improvements in
the Premises, such value to be based upon the age, quality and layout of the improvements and the extent to which the same
could be utilized by Tenant based upon the fact that the precise tenant improvements existing in the Premises are
specifically suitable to Tenant.

223 Exercise of Option. The option contained in this Scction 2.2 shall be excercised by Tenant, if a1
all, only in the manner set forth in this Section 2,23, Tenant shall deliver written notice (the “Intent Notice™) to Landlord
not more than twelve (12) months nor less than six (6) menths prior to the expiration of the initial Lease Term, stating that
Tenant s interested in exercising its option. On or before the date which is the later to oecur of (i) thirty (30) days
following its receipt of such Intent Notice, or (ii) the date which is five (3) months prior to the expivation of the initial Lease
Term, Landlard shall deliver to Tenant a written notice (the "Option Rent Notice™) to Tenant, setting forth Landlord's
determination of the Option Rent, Within ten {10} business days of its receipt of the Option Rent Notice, Tenant may, at its
option, either (A) deliver wrilten notice (ihe "Exercise Notice™) to Landlord, which Exercise Notice shall state that Tenant
is exercising its option and excepting the Option Rent, or (B) otherwise elect not 1o so exercise such option. If Tenant dogs
not timely and affirmatively exercise the option contained in this Section 2.2 by delivering the Exercise Notice pursuant to
the TCCs of the foregoing sentence, Tenant shall be deemed ot to have exercised such option, and the option shall
terminate and be of no further force or effect,

ARTICLE 3

BASE RENT

il In General. Tenant shall pay, without prior notice or demand, to Landlord or Landlord's agent at the
management office of the Project, or, al Landlord's option, at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate
in writing, by a check for currency which, at the time of payment, is legal tender for private or public debis in the United
States of America, base rent ("Base Rent") as set forth in Section 4 of the Summary, payable in equal monthly installments
&5 sel forth in Section 4 of the Summary in advance on or before the first day of each and every calendar month during the
Lease Term, without any setoff or deduction whatsoever. The Base Rent for the first full month of the Leass Term which
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occurs afler the expiration of any free rent period shall be paid at the time of Tenant's execution of this Lease. 1 any
payment of Rent is for a period which is shorter than one month, the Rent for any such fractional month shall accrue on a
daily basis during such fractional month and shall total an ameunt equal to the product of (i) a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of days in such fractional month and the denominator of which is the actual number of days oceurring
in such calendar month, and (ii) the then-applicable Monthly Installment of Base Rent. All other payments or adjusiments
required to be made under the TCCs of this Lease that require proration cn a time basis shall be prorated on the same basis.

32 Rent Abatemeryt. Provided that the Tenant is ot then in default of the Lease (as hereby amended) and is
then in occupancy of the entire Premises, then during the period beginning on second (2*%) month of the Lease Term and
ending after the third (3) month of the Lease Term (the “Rent Abatement Period”), Tenunt shall not be abligated to pay
any Base Rent otherwise attributable to the Premises for such Rent Abatement Period (the "Rent Abatement"). Tenant
acknowledges and agrees that during such Rent Abatement Period, such abatement of Base Rent shall have no effect on the
calculation of any future increases in Base Rent, Operating Costs or Landlord's Taxes payable by Tenani pursuant to the
terms of this Lease, which increases shall be caleulated without regard to such abatement of Base Rent, The forcgoing Rent
Abaternent has been granted 1o Tenant as additional consideration for entering into this Agreement, and for agreeing to pay
the rent and performing the terms and conditions otherwise required under the Lease, as amended. If Tenant shall be in
economic default or material non-economic default under the Lease and shall fail to cure such economic default or material
non-economic default within notice and cure period, if any, permitted for cure pursuant to the Lease, then Landlord may at
its aption, by notice 1o Tenant, elect, in addition to any other remedies Landlord may have under the Lease, one or both of
the following remedies: (i) that Tenant shall immediately become obligated to pay to Landlord all Base Rent abated
hereunder during the Rent Abatement Period, with interest as provided pursuant to the Lease from the date such Base Rent
would have otherwise been due but for ihe abatement provided herein, or (ii) that the dollar smount of the unapplied portion
of the Rent Abatement as of such default shall be converted 1o a credit to he applied to the Base Rent applicable 1o the
Premises at the end of the Second Extended Term and Tenant shall immediately be obligated to begin paying Basc Rent for
the Premises in full.

ARTICLE 4
ADDITIONAL RENT
4.1 General Terms. In addition 1o paying the Base Rent specified in Anicle 3 of this Lease, Tenant shall
piy "Tenant's Share" of the annual "Divect Expenses," as those terms are defined in Sections 4.2.6 and 4.2.2 of this

Lense, respectively, which are in excess of the amount of Direct Expenses applicable to the "Base Year," as that term is
defined in Scction 4.2.1, below; provided, however, that in no event shall any decrease in Direct Expenses for any Expense
Year below Divect Expenses for the Base Year entitie Tenant to any decrease in Base Rent or any credit against sums due
under this Lease. Such payments by Tenant, together with any and all other umounts payoble by Tenant to Landlord
pursuant to the TCCs of this Lease, are hereinafier collectively referred to as the "Additional Rent," and the Base Rent and
the Additional Rent are herein collectively referred to as "Rent.” All amounts due under this Arlicle 4 as Additional Rent
shall be payable for the same periods and in the same manner as the Base Rent; provided, however, the parties horeby
acknowledge that the first monthly installment of Tenant's Share of any "Estimated Excess,” as that torm is set forth in, and
pursuant to the terms and conditions of, Section 4.4.2 of this Lease, shall first be due and payable for the calendar month
occurring immediately following the expiration of the Base Year, Without limitation on other obligations of Tenant which
survive the expiration of the Lease Term, the obligations of Tenant to pay the Additional Rent provided for in this Article 4
shall survive the expiration of the Lease Term,

4.2 i . As used in this Article 4, the following terms
shull have the meanings hercinafter set forth:

421  "Base Year” shall mean the period sct forth in Section § of the Summary.
422 “Direct Expenses” shall mean “Operating Expenses” and “Tax Expenses.”

423  “Expense Year" shall mean each calendar year in which any portion of the Lease Term falls,
through and including the calendar year in which the Lease Term expires, provided that Landlord, upon notice to Tenant,
may change the Expense Year from time to time to any other twelve (12) consecutive month period, and, in the event of
any such change, Tenant's Share of Direct Expenses shall be equitably adjusted for any Expense Year invalved in any such
change,

424  "Operating Expenses” shall mean all expenses, costs and amounts of every kind and nature
which Landlord pays or ecerues during any Expense Year because of or in conneetion with the ownership, management,
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maintenance, security, repair, replacement, restoration or operation of the Project, or any portion thereof, in accordance
with sound real estate management and accounting principles, consistently applied. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Operating Expenses shall specifically include any and all of the following: (i) the cost of supplying all utilitics
(other thun the cost of electricity, the payment for which shall be made in accordance with the TCCs of Section 6,1.2 of this
Lease), the cost of operating, repairing, maintaining, snd renovating the utility, telephone, mechanical, sanitary, storm
drainage, and elevator systems, and the cost of maintenance and service contracts in connection therewith; (ii) the cost of
licenses, certificates, permits and inspections and the cost of contesting any governmental enaetments which may affect
Operating Expenses, and the costs incurred in connection with a governmentally mandated transporiation system
management program or similar program; (iif) the cost of all insurance carried by Landlord in connection with the Project;
{iv) the cost of Iandscaping, relamping, and all supplies, tools, equipment and materials used in the operation, repair and
maintenance of the Project, or any portion thereaf; (v) costs incurred in connection with the parking areas servicing the
Project; (vi) fees and other costs, including management fees, consulting fees, legal fees and accounting fees, of all
contractors and consultants in connection with the management, operation, maintenance and repair of the Project;
{vii) payments under any equipment rental sgreements and the fair rental value of any management office space;
(wiii) wages, salarics and other compensation and benefils, including taxes levied thereon, of all persons (other than persons
generally considered to be higher in rank than the pasition of Project manager) engaged in the operation, maintenance and
security of the Project; (ix) costs under any instrument pertaining to the sharing of costs by the Project; (x) operation,
repair, maintenance and replacement of all systems and equipment and components thereof of the Building; (xi) the cost of
janitorial services to the Common Areas and the cost of alamm, security and other services, replacement of wall and floor
coverings, ceiling tiles and fixtures in common areas, maintenance and replacement of curbs and walkways, repair to roofs
and re-roofing; (xii) amortization of the cost of acquiring or the rental expense of personal properly used in the
mainienance, operation and repair of the Project, or any portion thereol (which amortization caleulation shall include
interest al the "Interest Rate,” as that term is set forth in Article 25 of this Lease); (xiii) the cost of capitel improvements or
other costs incurred in comnection with the Project (A) which are intended to effect economies in the operation or
maintenance of the Project, or any portion thereof, (B) that are required to comply with present or anticipated conservation
programs, (C) which are replacements or modifications of nonstructural items located in the Common Areas required to
keep the Common Areas in good order or condition, or ([} that are required under any governmental law or regulation by a
federal, state or local governmental agency, except for capital repairs, replacements or other improvements to remedy a
condition existing prior to the Lease Commencement Date which an applicable governmental authority, if it hed knowledge
of such condition prior to the Lease Commencement Date, would have then required to be remedied pursuant to then-
current governmental laws or regulations In their form existing as of the Lease Commencement Date and pursugnt to the
then-current interpretation of such governmental laws or regulations by the applicable governmental authority as of the
Lease Commencement Date; provided, however, that any capital expenditure shall be shall be amortized with interest at the
Interest Rate over the shorter of (X) seven {7) years, or (Y) ils useful life as Landlord shall reasonably determine in
accordance with sound real estate management and accounting principles; (xiv) costs, fees, charges or assessments imposed
by, or resulting from any mandate imposed on Landlord by, any federl, state or local government for five and police
protection, trash removal, community services, or other services which do not constitute "Tax Expenses" as that term is
defined in Scction4.2.5, below; and (xv) payments under any easement, license, operating agreement, declaration,
restrictive covenant, or instrument periaining to the sharing of costs by the Building.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of this Lease, Opersting Expenses shall not, however, include:

{a) costs, including marketing costs, legal fees, space planners' fees, advertising and
promotional expenses, and brokerage fees incurred in connection with the original construction or development, or original
or future leesing of the Project, and costs, including permit, license and inspection costs, incurred with respeet to the
installation of tenant improvements made for new tenants initially occupying space in the Project afier the Lense
Commencement Dafe or incurred in renovating or otherwise improving, decorating, painting or redecorating vacant space
for tenants or other occupants of the Project (excluding, however, such costs relating to any common areas of the Project or
parking facilities);

. (b} except as set forth in ilems (xif), {xiif), and (xiv) above, depreciation, intercst and
principal payments on mortgages and other debt costs, if any, penalties and interest;

(c) costs for which the Landbord is reimbursed by any tenant or occupant of the Project or
by insurance by its carrier or any lenant's carrier or by anyone else, and electric power costs for which any tenant directly
contracts with the local public service company;

{dy any bad debt loss, rent loss, or reserves for bad debis or rent loss;

(e costs associated with the operation of the business of the parinership or entity which
constitutes the Landlord, as the same are distinguished from the cests of operation of the Project (which shall specifically
ABLER REALTY
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include, but not be limited 10, accounting costs associated with the operation of the Project). Costs associated with the
operation of the business of the partnership er entity which constitutes the Landlord include costs of partnership accounting
and lezal matters, costs of defending any lawsuits with any mortgagee {(except as the actions of the Tenant may be in issue),
costs of selling, syndicating, financing, mertgaging or hypothecating any of the Landlord's interest in the Project, and costs
incurred in connection with any disputes between Landlord and its employees, between Landlord and Project management,
or between Landlord and other tenants or occupants, and Landlord's gencral corporate overhead and general and
administrative expenses;

ify the wages and benefits of any employee who does rot devote substantially all of his or
her employed time to the Project unless such wages and benefits are prorated to reflect time spent on operating and
managing the Project vis-h-vis time spent en matters unrelated to eperating and managing the Project; provided, that in no
event shall Operating Expenses for purpeses of this Lease include wages and/or benefits attributeble 1o personnel above the
lewel of Project mannger;

(2) amount paid as ground rental for the Project by the Landlord;

(h) overhead and profit increment paid to the Landlord or to subsidiaries or afMliates of the
Landlord for services in the Project to the extent the same exceeds the costs of such services rendered by qualified, first-
clags unaffiliated third parties on a competitive basis;

(i) any compensation pmd to elerks, atiendants or ather persons in commercial concessions
operated by the Landlord, provided that eny compensation paid to any concierge at the Project shall be includable as an
Operating Expense;

() rentals and other related expenses incurred in leasing air conditioning systems,
elevators or other equipment which if purchased the cost of which would be excluded from Operating Expenses as a capital
cost, except equipment not affixed to the Project which is used in providing janitorial services to the Common Area (or
similar services to the Project) and, further excepting from this exclusion such equipment rented or leased to remedy or
ameliorate an emergency condition in the Project;

(k) all items and services for which Tenant or any other tenant in the Project reimburses
Landlosd or which Landlord provides selectively to ane or more tenants (other than Tenant) without reimbursement;

{n costs, other than those incurred in ordinary maintenance and repair, for sculpture,
paintings, fountains or other objects of art;

(m)  any costs expressly excluded from Operating Expenses elsewhere in this Lease;

(n) rent for any office space occupied by Project management personnel to the extent the
size or rental rate of such office space exceeds the size or fair market rental value of office space occupied by management
personnel of the Comparable Buildings in the vicinity of the Building, with adjustment where appropriate for the size of the
applicable project;

(5] costs arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its agents,
employees, vendors, contractors, or providers of materials or services; and

{p costs incurred to comply with laws relating to the removal of haeardous material (as
defined under applicable law) which was in existence in the Building or on the Project pricr to the Lease Commencement
Date, and was of such a nature that a federal, State or municipal governmestal authority, if it hed then had knowledge of the
presence of such hazardous material, in the state, and under the conditions that it then existed in the Building or on the
Project, would have then required the removal of such hazardous material or other remedial or containment action with
respect thereto; and costs incurred Lo remove, remedy, contain, or treat hazardous material, which hazardous material is
brought into the Building or anto the Project after the date hereof by Landlord or any other tenant of the Project and is of
such a nature, at that time, that a federal, State or municipal govermental autharity, if it had then had knowledge of the
presence of such hazardous material, in the state, and under the conditions, that it then exists in the Building or on the
Project, would have then required the removal of such hazardous materinl or other remedial or contaimment action with
respect thereto.

If Landlord is not furnishing any particular work or service (the cost of which, if performed by Landlord, would be
included in Operating Expenses) to a tenant who has undertaken to perform such work or service in lieu of the performance
thereof by Landlord, Operating Expenses shall be deemed to be increased by an amount equal to the pdditional Operating
Expenses which would reasonably have been incurred during such pericd by Landlord if it had at its own expense furnished
such work or service to such tenant. [f the Project is not at least ninety-five percent (95%) occupied during all or a portion
of the Base Year or any Expense Year, Landlord may elect to make an appropriate adjusiment lo the components of
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Operating Expenses for such year to determine the amount of Operating Expenses that would have been incurred had the
Praject been nincty-five percent (95%) occupied; and the amount so determined shall be deemed o have been the amount
of Operating Expenses for such year. Operating Expenses for the Base Year shall not include market-wide cost increases
due to extraordinary circumstances, including, but not limited to, Force Majeure, boyeotts, strikes, conservation surcharges,
embargoes or shortages, or amortized costs relating to capital improvements. In no event shall the components of Direct
Expenses for any Expense Year related to Project utility, services, or insurance costs be less than the components of Direct
Expenses related to Project utility, services, or insurance costs in the Base Year, Landlord shall not (i} make o profit by
charging items to Operating Expenses that are otherwise also charged separately to others and (if) subject to Landlord's
right to adjust the components of Operating Expenses described above in this paragraph, collect Operating Expenses from
Tenant and all other tenants in the Building in an amount in excess of what Landlord incurs for the items included in
Operating Expenses,
425 Taxes.

4251 “I'nx Expenses” shall mean all federal, state, county, or local governmental or
municipal taxes, fees, charges or other impositions of every kind and nature, whether general, special, ordinary or
extraordinary, (including, without limitation, real estate taxes, general and special assessments, transit taxes, leasshold taxes
or taxes based upon the receipt of rent, including gross receipls or sales taxes applicable to the receipt of rent, unless
required to be paid by Tenant, personal property taxes impesed upon the fixtures, machinery, equipment, apparatus,
systems and equipment, appurienances, fumniture and other personal property used in connection with the Project, or any
portion thereof), which shall be paid or acorued during any Expense Year (without regard to any different fiscal year used
by such governmental or municipal authority) because of or in connection with the cwnership, leasing and operation of the
Project, or any portion thereof,

4252  Tax Expenses shall include, without limitation: (i) Any tax on the rent, right to rent or
other income from the Project, or any porion thereof, or as against the business of lcasing the Project, or any portion
thereof; (i) Any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge in addition to, or in substitution, partially or totally, of any assessment,
tax, fee, levy or charge previously included within the definition of real property tax. Tax Expenses shall also include any
governmental or private assessments ar the Project’s contribution towards a governmental or private cost-sharing agreement
for the purpose of augmenting or improving the quality of services and amenities normally provided by governmental
agencies; (i) Any assessment, t1ax, fee, levy, or charge allocable to or measured by the area of the Premises or the Rent
payable hereunder, including, without limitation, any business or gross income tax or excise tax with respect to the receipt
of such reni, or upon or with respect to the possession, leasing, operating, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, use
or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises, or any portion thereof; and (iv) Any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge, upon this
transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party, creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.

4,253  Any costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attomeys' fees)
incurred in attempting to protest, reduce or minimize Tax Expenses shall be included in Tax Expenses in the Expense Year
such expenses are paid, Except as set forth in Section 4.2.5.4, below, refunds of Tax Expenses shull be credited against Tax
Expenses and refunded to Tenant regardiess of when received, based on the Expense Year to which the refund is applicable,
provided that in no event shall the amount 1o be refunded to Tenant for any such Expense Year exceed the total amount
paid by Tenant as Additional Rent under this Article 4 for such Expense Year, If Tax Expenses for any period during the
Lease Term or any extension thereof are increased after payment thereof for any reason, including, without limitation, error
or reassessment by applicable governmental or municipal authorities, Tenant shall pay Landlord upon demand Tenant's
Share of any such increased Tax Expenses included by Landlord as Building Tax Expenses pursuant to the TCCs of this
Lease. Motwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Sectjon 4.2.8 (except as set forth in Section 4.2.8.1,
above), there shall be excluded from Tax Expenses (1) all excess profits taxes, franchise taxes, gift taxes, capital stock taxes,
inheritance and succession taxes, estate taxes, federal and state income taxes, and other taxes (o the extent applicable to
Landlord's general or nct income (as opposed to rents, receipts or income attributable to operations at the Project), (ii) any
items included as Operating Expenses, and (iii) any items paid by Tenant under Scction 4.5 of this Lease.

4254 MNotwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, the amount of Tax
Expenses for the Base Year and any Expense Year shall be calculated without taking into account any decrenses in real
estate taxes and, therefore, the Tax Expenses in the Base Yenr andfor an Expense Year may be greater than those actually
incurred by Landlond, but shall, nonetheless, be the Tax Expenses due under this Lease; provided that (i) any costs and
expenses incurred by Landlord in securing any Tax Expense reduction shall not be included in Direct Expenses for
purpeses of this Lease, and (ii) tax refunds shall not be deducted from Tax Expenses, but rather shall be the sole property of
Lendlord.

426 "Tenant's Share” shall mean the percentage set forth in Section & of the Summary.
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4.3 Allpention of Direct Expenses. The parties acknowledge that the Building is o part of a multi-building
project and that the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Project (i.g. the Direct Expenses) should be shared
between the tenants of the Building and the tenants of the other buildings in the Project. Accordingly, as set forth in
Section 4,2 above, Direct Expenses (which consists of Operating Expenses and Tax Expenses) are determined annually for
the Project as & whole, and a portion of the Direct Expenses, which portion shall be determined by Landlord on an equitable
basis, shall be allocated to the tenants of the Building (as opposed to the tenanis of any other buildings in the Project) and
such portion shall be the Dircet Expenses for purposes of this Lease. Such portion of Direct Expenses allocated to the
tenants of the Building shall include all Direct Expenses attributable solely to the Building and an equitable portion of the
Direct Expenses aftributable to the Project as a whole.

4.4 Caleulation and Payment of Additional Rent. [f for any Expense Year ending or commencing within
the Lease Term, Tenant's Share of Direct Expenses for such Expense Year exceeds Tenant's Share of Direct Expenses
applicable to the Base Year, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in the manner set forth in Section 4,4.1, below, and as
Additional Rent, an amount equal to the excess (the "Excess").

4.4.1 it p ant, Landlord shall give
to Tenant following the end af mh Expﬂnse "l'eir. & mtemem {the “Smmnenl"] wh[ch shn[l sme in general major
categories the Bullding Direct Expenses fncurved or scerued for the Base Year or such preceding Expense Year, as
applicable, and which shall indicate the amount of the Excess. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
deliver such Statement to Tenant on or before May 1 following the end of the Expense Year to which such Statement
relntes. Upon receipt of the Statement for each Expense Year commencing or ending during the Lease Term, if an Excess
is present, Tenant shall pay, within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Statement, the full amount of the Excess for such
Expense Year, less the amounts, if any, paid during such Expense Year as "Estimated Excess,” as that term is defined in
Segtion 4.4.2, below, and if Tenant paid more as Estimated Excess than the actual Excess, Tenant shall recelve a credit in
the amount of Tenant's overpuyment against Rent next due under this Lease. The failure of Landlord to timely furnish the
Statement for any Expense Year shall not prejudice Landlord or Tenant from enforcing its rights under this Apticle 4. Even
though the Lease Term has expired and Tenant has vacated the Premises, when the final determination is made of Tenant's
Share of Building Direct Expenses for the Expense Year in which this Lease terminates, if an Excess is present, Tenant
shall, within thiny (30) days after receipt of the Statement, pay to Landlord such amount, and if Tenant paid more as
Estimated Excess than the actual Excess, Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days, deliver a check payable 1o Tenant in the
amount of the overpayment. The provisions of this Sectipn 4.4, shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the
Lease Term. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, Tenant shall not be responsible for Tenant's Share of
any Building Direct Expenses attributable to any Expense Year which are first billed to Tenant more than two (2) calendar
years after the Lease Expiration Date, provided, however, that Tenant shall nevertheless remain responsible for Tenant's
Share of Direct Expenses levied by any governmental authority or by any public ulility companies at any time following the
Lease Expiration Drate which are attributable 1o any Expense Year,

442  Statement of Estimated Building Direct Expenses. In addition, Landlord shall give Tenant a
yearly expense estimate statement (the "Estimate Statement") which shall st forth in gencral major categories Landlord's
reasonable estimate (the "Estimate”) of what the wtal amount of Building Direct Expenses for the then-current Expense
Year shall be and the estimated excess (the "Estimated Excess™) as caleulated by comparing the Building Direct Expenses
for such Expense Year, which shall be based upon the Estimate, to the amount of Building Direct Expenses for the Base
Year. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver such Estimate Statentent to Tenant on or before May |
following the end of the Expense Year to which such Estimate Statement relates. The failure of Landlord to timely fumnish
the Estimate Statement for any Expense Year shall not preclude Landlord from enforcing its rights to collect any Additional
Rent under this Article 4, nor shall Landlord be prohibited from revising any Estimate Statement or Estimated Hxcess
theretofore delivered to the extent necessary. Thereafler, Tenant shall pay, within thirty (30) days after receipt of the
Estimale Statement, a fraction of the Estimated Exeess for the then-current Expense Year (reduced by any amounis paid
pursuant to the second to lust sentence of this Section 4.4.2). Such fraction shall have as its numerator the number of
maonths which have clapsed in such current Expense Year, including the month of such payment, and twelve (12) as its
denominator. Until a new Estimate Statement is fumished (which Landlord shall have the right to deliver to Tenant at any
time), Tenant shall pay monthly, with the monthly Base Rent installments, an amount equal to one-twelfih (1/12) of the
total Estimated Excess set forth in the previous Estimate Staterment delivered by Landlord to Tenant. Throughout the Lease
Term Landlord shall maintain books and records with respect to Building Direct Expenses in accordance with generally
accepted real estate accounting and management practices, consistently applied.

4.5

#.5.1  Tenant shall be liable for and shall pay ten (10) days before delinquency, taxes levied against
Tenant's equipment, fumiture, fixtures and any other personal property located in or about the Premises, If any such taxes
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on Tenant's equipment, furniture, fixtures and any other personal property are levied against Landlord or Landlord's
property or if the assessed value of Landlord's property is increased by the inclusion therein of a value placed upon such
equipment, fumiture, fixtures or any other personal properly and if Landlord pays the taxes besed upon such increased
assessment, which Landlord shall have the right to do regardless of the validity thereal but oaly under proper protest if’
requested by Tenant, Tenant shall upon demand repay te Landlord the taxes so levied against Landlord or the proportion of
such faxes resulting from such increase in the assessment, as the case may be.

452 If the tenant improvements in the Premises, whether installed and/or paid for by Landlerd or
Tenant and whether or not affixed to the real property so as to become a part thereof, are assessed for real property tax
purposes al a valuation higher than the valuation at which tenant improvements conforming to Landlord's “building
stundard” in other space in the Building aro assessed, then the Tax Expenses levied against Landlord or the property by
reason of such excess assessed valuation shall be deemed 1o be taxes levied against personal property of Tenant and shall be
governed by the provisions of Section 4.5.1, abave.

453  Motwithstanding any contrary provision herein, Tenant shall pay prior to delinquency any (i) rent
tax or sales tax, service tax, transfer tax or value added tax, or any other applicable tax on the rent or services herein or
otherwise respecting this Lease, (i) taxes assessed upon or with respect to the possession, leasing, operation, management,
maintenance, alteration, repair, use or ocoupancy by Tenant of the Premises or any portion of the Project, including the
Project parking facility; or (jii) taxes assessed upon this transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party creating or
transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.

4.6 Landlord's Books and Records. Upan Tenant's written request given not more than ninety (90) days
afler Tenant's receipt of a Statement for a particular Expense Year, and provided that Tenant is not then in default under this
Lease beyond the applicable cure period provided in this Lease, Landlord shall furnish Tenant with such reasonable
supparting documentation in connection with said Building Direct Expenses as Tenant may reasonably request. Landlord
shall provide said information to Tenant within sixty (60) days after Tenant's written request therefor. Within one hundred
eighty (180} days after receipt of a Statement by Tenant (the *Review Period™), if Tenant disputes the amount of
Additional Rent set forth in the Statement, an independent certified public saccountant (which accountant (A) is 8 member of
o nationully or regionally recognized accounting firm, and (B) is not working on a contingency fee basis), designated and
paid for by Tenant, may, after reasonable notice to Landlord and at reasonable times, inspect Landlond’s records with
respect o the Statement at Landlord's offices, provided that Tenant is not then in default under this Lease (beyond any
applicable notice and cure periods) and Tenant has paid all amounts vequired o be paid undsr the applicable Estimate
Statement and Statement, as the case may be. In connection with such inspection, Tenant and Tenant's agents must agree in
advance to fillow Landlond’s reasonable rules and procedures regarding inspections of Landlord's records, and shall execute
a commercially reasonable confidentiality agreement regarding such inspection. Tenant's failure to dispute the amount of
Additional Rent set forth in any Statement within the Review Period shall be deemed to be Tenant's approval of such
Statement and Tenant, thereafter, waives the right or ability to dispute the amounts set forth in such Statement. 1 after such
inspection, Tenant still disputes such Additional Rent, a determination as to the proper amount shall be made, at Tenant's
cxpense, by an independent certified public accountant (the "Accountant”) selected by Landlord and subject to Tenant's
reasonable approval; provided that if such determination by the Accountant proves that Direct Expenses were overstated by
more than five percent (5%6), then the cost of the Accountant and the cost of such determination shall be paid for by
Landlord. Tenant hereby acknowledges that Tenant's sole right to inspect Landlord's books and records and 1o contest the
amount of Direct Expenses payable by Tenant shall be as set forth in this Seetion 4.6, and Tenant hereby waives any and all
other rights pursuant to applicable [aw to inspect such books and records and/or to contest the amount of Direct Expenses
payable by Tenant.

ARTICLE §
USF OF PREMISES

Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the *Permitted Use,” as that term is defined in Section 7 of the Summary,
and Tenant shall not use or permit the Premises to be used for any other purpose ar purpases whatsoever without the prior
written consent of Landlord, which may be withheld in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion. Tenant covenanis and
agrees that it shall not use, or suffer or permit any person or persons to use, the Premises or any part thereof for any use or
purpose contrary to the rules and regulations promulgated by Landlord from time to time ("Rules and Regulations™), or in
violation of the laws of the United States of America, the State of California or the ordinances, vegulations or requirements
of the local municipal or county goveming body or other lawful authorities having jurisdiction over the Building, or in &
manner ofherwise inconsistent with the character of the Project as a first-class office building Project. Tenant shall
faithilly observe and comply with the Rules and Regulations, the current set of which (as of the date of this Lease) is
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gttached to this Lease as Exhibit D; provided, however, Landlord shall not enforce, change or modify the Rules and
Regulations in a discriminatory manner end Landlord agrees that the Rules and Regulations shall not be unreasonably
modificd or enforced in a manner which will unreasonably interfere with the nermal and customary conduct of Tenant's
business,

ARTICLE 6
SERVICES AND UTILITIES

6.1 Standard Tenant Services. Landlord shall provide the fallowing services and wtilities.

6.1.1  Subject to reasonable change implemented by Landlord and all governmental rules, regulations
and guidelines applicable thercto, Landlord shall provide heating and air conditioning when necessary for normal comfort
for normal office use in the Premises ("HVAC") from Monduy through Friday from 8:00 am. to 7:00 p.m., and on
Saturday from 2:00 am. to 1:00 pm. (collectively, the "Building Hours"), except for the date of observation of locally and
nationally recognized holidays (collectively, the "Holidays"). The daily time periods identified hereinabove are somelimes
referred to as the "Business Hours." Landlord shall make available HVAC at other times at Tenant's expense, provided
that such HVAC usage will be separately metered and billed to Tenant at the hourly rate charged by Landlord for after
hours HVAC usage. Tenant shall install, operate and maintain, at its expense, such additions or medifications to HVAC
Equipment as may be reasonably determined by Landlord to be necessary in order to maintaln buflding HVAC standards or
to correst temperature imbalance resulting from Tenunt's installation and operation of lights, machines, computer or
elecironic data processing equipiment o othier special equipment or facilitics placing a greater burden on HVAC Equipment
than would general office use,

612  Landlord shall provide adequate electrical wiring and facilities and power for normal general
office use as determined by Landlord. Temant shall bear the cost of replacement of lamps, starters and ballasts for non-
Building stendard lighting fixtures within the Premises. Building standard electrical power to the Premises shall be
sufficient for operation under nonnal business conditions of building standerd office lighting (approximately 3 watts per
square foot of Usable Aren) and receplacles (approximately | watt per square foot of Usable Area). Tenant shall not install
or wse o permit installation or use in the Premises of any electronic data processing equipment, special lighting in excess of
building standard office lighting, or any other item of clectrical equipment which singly consumes more than 0.25 kilowats
per hour al rated capacity or requires a voltage other than 120 volts single phase without Landlord's prior written consent,
In no event shall Tenant's use of electric current ever exceed the capacity of the Building standard feeders, risers or wiring
to the Building or Premises.

613  Landlord shall provide city water from the regular Building outlets for drinking, lavatory and
foilet purposes,

6.4  Landlord shall provide janitorial services five (5) days per weck, except the date of observation
of the Holidays, in and about the Premises and window washing services in a manner consistent with other comparable
buildings in the vicinity of the Project

615 Landlord shall provide nonexclusive, non-attended automatic passenger elevator service during
the Building Hours, shall have one elevator availablc a1 all other fimes, except on the Holidays.

6.2 Electricity: Janitorial Service; Above Standard Tenant Seivices,

6.2  Electricity. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in Sectiond or this Article 6,
Tenant shall direetly pay for all electricity attributable o its use of the entire Premises (i.e., subject 1o any equitable
adjusiments for any over-standard use more particularly identified in Section 6.3, below, Tenant's Share of the cost of
electricity for the Building). Tenant's payment of such amounts shall be made (i) concurrently with its monthly payment of
Base Rent to the extent Landlord has previously delivered a "monthly estimate® notification, or (ii) within ten (10) days
afler demand (inclusive of any reconciliation statements), in either event as Additional Rent under this Lease. Given
Tenant's direct puyment obligations set forth hereinabove, the cost of clectrizity for the Building shall be excluded from
Operating Expenscs.

622  Above-Standard Tenant Services. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in
Section 4 or this Antigle 6, Tenant shall directly pay to Landlord one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of all services
required by Tenant to be provided by Landlord which are in cxcess of the services set forth in Section 6.1, above
{collectively, the "Above-Standard Tenant Service"), including, but not limited to, (i) twenty-four (24) hour security
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services, (i) twenty-four (24) hour porter service, (iii) any over-standard use more particularly identified in Section 6.3,
below. G ¥

6.3 Overstandard Tenant Use. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use heat-
generating machines, machines other than normal fractional horsepower office machines, or equipment or lighting other
than Building standard lights in the Premises, which may affect the temperature otherwise maintained by the air
conditioning system or increase the water normally fumished for the Premises by Landlord pursuant to the terms of
Section 6.1 of this Lease. If such consent is given, Landlord shall have the right to install supplementary air conditioning
units or other facilitics in the Premises, including supplementary or additional metering devices, and the cost thereof,
including the cost of installation, operation and maintenance, increased wear and tear on cxisting equipment and other
similar charges, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon billing by Landlord. If Tenant uses water, electricity, heat or air
conditioning in excess of that supplied by Landlord pursuant to Seetion 6.1 of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord,
upon billing, the cost of such excess consumption, the cost of the installation, operation, and maintenance of equipment
which is installed in order to supply such excess consumption, and the cost of the increased wear and tear on existing
equipment caused by such excess consumption; and Landlord may install devices to separately meter any increased use and
in such event Tenant shall pay the increased cost directly to Landlord, on demand, at the rates charged by the public utility
compary furnishing the same, including the cost of such additional metering devices. Tenant's use of electricity shall never
exceed the capacity of the feeders Lo the Project or the risers or wiring installation. Tenant shall not install or use or perniit
the installation or use of any computer or clectronic data processing equipment in the Prenises, without the prior written
consent of Landlord. 1f Tenant desires to use heat, ventilation or air conditioning during hours other than those for which
Landlord is obligated to supply such utilities pursuant ta the terms of Section 6.1 of this Lease, Tenant shall give Landlord
such prier notice, if any, as Landlord shall from time to time establish as appropriate, of Tenant's desired use in order to
supply such utilities, and Landlord shall supply such utilities to Tenant at such hourly cost to Tenant {which shall be treated
s Additional Rent) as Landlord shall from time to time establish.

6.4 Interruption of Use. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, Tenant agrees that Landlord
shall not be liable for damages, by abatement of Rent or otherwise, for Tenant's failure to obtain, or for any failure to
furnish or delay in furnishing, any service (including telephone and telecommunication services), or for any diminution in
the quality or quantity thereof, when such failure or delay or diminution is cccasioned, in whole or in part, by repairs,
replacements, or improvements, by any strike, lockout or other lzbor trouble, by inability to secure electricity, gas, water, or
ather fuel at the Building after reasonable effort to do so, by any nccident or casualty whatsoever, by aet or default of
Tenant or other parties, or by any other cause; and such failures or delays or diminution shall never be deemed 1o constitute
an evietion or disturbance of Tenant’s use and possession of the Premises or relieve Tenant from paying Rent or performing
any of its obligations under this Lease, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, Furthermore, Landlord shall
not be liable under any circumstances for a loss of, or injury to, property or for injury to, or interference with, Tenant's
business, including, without limitation, loss of profits, however ocewring, through or in connection with or incidental to
Tenant's failure to obtain, or for any fatlure to furnish any of the services or utilitics as set forth in this Article 6.

Rent Abatement. If (i) Landlord fails to perform the obligations required of Landlord under the TCCs of this Lease, (i}
such failure causes all or a portion of the Premises to be untenantable and unusable by Tenant, and (iii) such failure relates
to (A) the nonfunctioning of the heat, ventilation, and air conditioning system in the Premiscs, the electricity In the
Premises, the nonfunctioning of the elevator service to the Premises, or (B) a failure to provide access to the Premises,
Tenant shall give Landlord notice (the “Initinl Notice™), specifying such fallure to perform by Landlord (the “Landlord
Default"), 1f Landiord has not cured such Landlord Default within five (5) business days afier the receipt of the Initial
Natice (the "Eligibility Period”), Tenant may deliver an additional notice 1 Landlord (the "Additional Notice"),
specifying such Landlord Defuult and Tenant's intention 1o abate the payment of Rent under this Lease. If Landlord does
not cure such Landlord Default within five (5) business days of receipt of the Additional Motice, Tenant may, upon written
notice to Landlord, immediately abate Rent payable under this Lease for that portion of the Premises rendered unienantable
and not used by Tenant, for the period beginning on the date five (5) business days afler the Initial Notice to the carlier of
the date Landlord cures such Landlord Default or the date Tenant recommences the use of such portion of the Premises.
Such right to abate Rent shall be Tenant's sole and exclusive remedy at law or in equity for a Landlord Default. Except as
provided in this Section 6.4, nothing contained herein shall be interpreted to mean that Tenant is excused from paying Rent
due hereunder.
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ARTICLE T
REPAIRS

Tenant shall, at Tenant's own expense, keep the Premises, including all improvemenis, fixtures, equipment,
window coverings, and fumishings therein, in good order, repair and condition at all times during the Lease Term. In
addition, Tenant shall, at Tenant's own expense but under the supervision and subject to the prior approval of Landlord, and
within any reasonable period of time specified by Landlord, promptly and adequately repair all damage to the Premises and
replace or vepair all damaged or broken fixtures and appurtenances; provided however, that, at Landlord's option, or if
Tenant fails to make such repairs, Landlord may, but need not, make such repairs and replacements, and Tenant shall pay
Lendlord the cost thereof, including a percentage of the cost thereof (1o be uniformly established for the Building) sufficient
to reimburse Landlord for all overhead, general conditions, fees and other costs or expenses arising from Landlord’s
involvement with such repairs and replacements forthwith upon being billed for same. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Landlord shall be responsible for repairs to the exterior walls, foundation and roof of the Building, the structural portions of
the floors of the Building, and the systems and equipment of the Building (collectively, the "Base Building"), except to the
extent that such repairs are reguired due to the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant; provided, however, that if such
repairs are duc 1o the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, Landlord shall nevertheless make such repairs at Tonant's
expense, or, if covered by Landlord's insurance, Tenant shall only be obligated to pay any deductible in connection
therewith, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, enter the Premises at all reasonable times to meke such repairs,
alterations, improvements and additions 1o the Premises or to the Building or to any equipment locuted in the Building as
Landlord shall desire or deem necessary or as Landlord may be required to do by governmentsl or quasi-governmental
authority or court order or decree; provided, however, except for (i) emergencies, (ii) repairs, alterations, improvements ar
additions required by governmental or quasi-governmental authorities or court order or decree, or (iii) repairs which are the
obligation of Tenant hereunder, any such entry into the Premises by Landlord shall be performed in a manner so as not to
materially interfere with Tenant's use of, or access to, the Premises; provided that, with respect to items (ii) and (iii) above,
Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to not materially interfere with Tenant's use of, or access to, the
Premises.

ARTICLE§

ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS

Tenant may not make any improvements, alterations, additions or changes to the Premises during the Lease Term
without the consent of Landlord, which consent may be granted, withheld or conditioned in the sole and absolute discretion
of Landlord. Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agree that (i) all Alterations, improvements, fixiures,
equipment andfor appunenances which may be installed or placed in or about the Premises, from time to time, shall be at
the sole cost of Tenant and shall be and become the property of Landlord, and (i) the Tenant Improvements to be
construcied in the Premises pursuant to the TCCs of the Tenant Work Letter shall, upon completion of the same, be and
become a part of the Premises and the property of Landlord; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant
may remove any Alterations, improvements, fixtures andfor equipment which Tenant can substantiate to Landlord have not
been paid for with any Tenant improvement allowance funds provided to Tenant by Landlord, provided Tenant repairs any
damage 1o the Premises and Building caused by such removal and returns the affected portion of the Premises to a building
standard tenant improved condition as determined by Landlord.

ARTICLES -
COVENANT AGAINST LIENS
Tenant has no authority or power to cause or permit any lien or encumbrance of any kind whatsoever, whether
created by act of Tenant, operation of law or otherwise, 10 attach to or be placed upon the Building or Premises, and any
and all liens and encumbrunces created by Tenant shall attach to Tenant's interest only. Tenant covenants and agrees naot to
suffer or permit any lien of mechanics or materialmen or others to be placed against the Building or the Premises with
respect to work ar services claiimed 1o have been performed for or materials cluimed to have been funished to Tenant or the
Premises, and, in case of any such lien attaching or notice of any lien, Tenant covenants and agrees to cause it to be
immediately released and removed of record, Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, in the event

that such lien is not released and removed on or before the date notice of such lien is delivered by Landlord to Tenant,
Landlord, at its sole option, may immediately take all action necessary to release and remave such lien, without any duty to
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investigate the validity thereof, and all sums, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys” fees and costs, incurred
by Landlord in connection with such lien shall be decmed Additional Rent under this Lease and shall immediately be due
and payable by Tenant,

ARTICLE 10

INSURANCE

10.]  Indemnification and Waiver. To the extent not prohibited by law, Landlord, its members, partners and
their respective officers, agents, servants, employees, and independent contractors (collectively, "Landlord Parties") shall
not be liable for any demage cither to person or properly or resulting from the loss of use thereof, which damage is
sustained by Tenant or by other persons claiming through Tenant, Tenant shall indemnify, defend, proteet, and hold
harmless Landlord Partics from any and all loss, cost, damage, expense and liability (including without limitation court
costs and reasonable attomeys' fees) incurred in connection with or arsing from (i) any cause in, on or about the Premises,
and {ii) any acts, omissions or negligence of Tenant or of any person claiming by, through or under Tenant, its partners, and
thelr respective officers, agents, servants, employees, and independent contraetors (collectively, the "Tenant Parties”), in,
on or about the Project, in either event either prior to, during, or after the expiration of the Lease Term, provided that the
terms of the foregoing indemnity shall nat apply to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord. The provisions
of this Section 10,1 shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease with respect to any claims or liability
oceurring prior to such expiration or termination. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, nothing
in this Lease shall impose any obligations on Tenant or Landlord to be responsible or liable for, and each hereby relenses
the other from all liability for, consequential damages other than those consequential damages incurred by Landlord in
connection with a holdover of the Premiscs by Tenant after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease or incurred by
Landlord in connection with any repair, physical construction or improvement work performed by or on behalf of Tenant in
the Project, but Tenant shall not be responsible for any direet or consequential damages resulting from Landlord's or
contractor's acts in connection with the completion by Landlord of the tenant improvements in the Premises pursuant to the
Tenant Work Letter,

10,2 a pee. Tenant shall, at Tenant's
expense, comply as to lhe Premls.cs wuh aJI insurance numpnny roquiremcnu pcmmlﬂg fo the use of the Premises. If
Tenant's conduct or use of the Premises causes any increase in the premium for such insurance policies, then Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord for any such imcrease. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall comply with all rules, orders, regulations or
requirements of the American Insurance Association (formerly the Mational Board of Fire Underwriters) ane with any
similar body,

103 Tenant's Insuranee. Tenant shall maintain Commercial/Comprehensive General Liability Insurance
covering the insured against claims of bodily injury, personal injury and property damage (including loss of use thereof)
arising out of Tenant's operations, and contractual liabilitles {covering the performance by Tenant of its indemnity
agreements) Including & Broad Form endorsement covering the insuring provisiens of this Lease and the performance by
Tenant of the indemnity agreements set forih in Scction 10.1 of this Lease, for limits of liability net less than $1,000,000.00
for each occurrence and $2,000,000.00 annual aggregate, with 0% Insured's participation. In addition, Tenant shall carry
Property Insurance covering all office fumiture, trade fixtures, office equipment, merchandise and all other items of
Tenant's property on the Premises installed by, for, or at the expense of Tenant. Such insurance shall be written on an "all
risks" of physical loss or damage basis, for the full replacement cost value new without deduction for depreciation of the
covered items and in amounts that meet any co-insurance clauses of the policies of insurance and shall include a vandalism
and malicious mischief endorsement, sprinkler leakage coverage and carthquake sprinkler leakage coverage. Furthermore,
Tenant shall maintain (A) Worker's Compensation or other similar insurance pursuant to all applicable state and local
statutes and regulations, and Employer's Liability Insurance or other similar insurance pursuant to all applicable state and
local statutes and regulations, with a waiver of subrogation endorsement and with minimum limits of One Million and
Naf100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per employee and One Million and No/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per eccurrence, and
{B) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, hired, or non-owned vehicles with the following
limits of liability: One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage.

104 Form of Policies. The minimum limits of policies of insurance required of Tenant under this Lease shall
in no event limit the liability of Tenant under this Lease. Such insurance shall (i} name Landlord, and any other party it so
specifies, as an additional insured; {ii) specifically cover the liability assumed by Tenant under this Lease, including, but
not limited to, Tenant's ub]igmans under Sgotion 10.1 of this Lr.nsu (lii) be issued by an insurance company having a
rating of not less than A-VIIl in Best's Insurance Guide or which is otherwise aceeptable o Landlord and licensed w do
business in the State of California; (iv) be primary insurance os to all claims thereunder and provide that any insurance
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carried by Landlord is excess and is non-contributing with any insurance requirement of Tenant; (v) provide that said
insurance shall not be canceled or coverage changed unless thivty {30) days' prior written notice shall have been given 1o
Landlord and any morgagee of Landlord, the identity of whom has been provided to Tenant in writing, Tenant shall
deliver said policy or pelicies or certificates thereof to Landlord on or before the Lease Commencement Date and at least
thirty (30) days before the expiration dates thereof. In the event Tenant shall fail 1o procure such insurance, or to deliver
such polieies or certificate, Landlord may, at its option, after written notice to Tenant and Tenant's failure to obtain such
insurance within five () days thereafter, procure such policies for the aceount of Tenant, and the cost thereof shall be paid
to Landlord as Additional Rent within five (5) days after delivery to Tenant of bills therefore,

105  Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant agree to have their respective insurance companics issuing property
damage insurance waive any rights of subrogation that such companies may have against Landlord or Tenant, as the case
may be, 50 long as the insurance carried by Landlord and Tenant, respectively, is not invalidated thereby. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Landlord and Tenant hereby waive any right that cither may have against
the other on account of any loss or damage to their respestive property to the extent such loss or damage is insurable under
policies of insurance for fire and all risk coverage, theft, public liability, or other similar insurance.

© 106 Tenant shall earry and maintain during the entire Lease Term, ut
Tenant's sole cost and expense, increased amounts of the insurance required to be carried by Tenant pursiant to this
Anticle 10, and such other reasonable types of insurance coverage and in such reasonable amounts covering the Premises
and Tenant's operations thercin, as may be reasonably requested by Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord's
request shall only be considered reasonable if such increased coverage amounts and/or such new types of insurance are
consistent with the requirements of a majority of Comparable Buildings, and Landlord shall not so increase the coverage
amounts or require additional types of insurance during the first five (5) years of the Lease Terms and thereafler no more
often than one time in any five (5) year period, :

ARTICLE11
DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

1.1 Repair of Damage to Premises by Landlord. If the Premises or any common areas of the Building
serving or providing access to the Premises shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, Landlord shall promptly and
diligently, subject to reasonable delays for insurance adjustment or other matters beyond Landlord's reasonable control, and
subject 1o all other terms of this Article 11, vestore the base, shell and core of the Premises and such common areas, Such
restoration shall be to substantially the same condition of the base, shell and core of the Premises and common areas prior
to the casualty, except for modifications required by zoning and building codes and other laws or by the holder of a
mortgage on the Building, or any other modifications to the common areas deemed desirable by Landlord, which are
consistent with the character of the Project, provided access o the Premises and any commaon restrooms serving the
Premises shall not be materially impaired. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease, upon the oceurrence of any
damage to the Premises, Tenant shall assign to Landlord (or 1o any perty designated by Landlord) all insurance proceeds
payeble to Tenant under Tenant's insurance carried under Section 10,3 of this Lease, and Landlord shall repair any injury or
damnge to the tenant improvements installed in the Premises and shall return such tenant improvements to their original
condition; provided that if the cost of such repair by Landiord execeds the amount of insurance proceeds received by
Landlord from Tenant's insurance carrier, as assigned by Tenant, the cost of such repairs shall be paid by Tenant to
Landlord prior to Landlord’s repair of the damage. In connection with such repairs and replacements, Tenant shall, prior o
the commencement of construction, submit to Landlord, for Landlord's review and approval, all plans, specifications and
working drawings relating thereto, and Landlord shall select the contractors to pevform such improvement work, Landlord
shall not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant o its visitors, or injury o Tenant's business resulting in
any way from such damage or the repair thereof; provided however, that if such fire or other casualty shall have damaged
the Premises or common arcas necessary 1o Tenant's occupancy, and the Premises are not oceupied by Tenant as a result
thereof, then during the time and to the extent the Premises are unfit for eceupancy, the Rent shall be abated in proportion
to the ratio that the amount of rentable squure feet of the Premises which is unfit for occupancy for the purposes permitted
under this Lease bears to the total rentable square feet of the Premises; provided, however, the foregoing nbatement shall
not apply to the extent such damage is not the result of the willful misconduct of Tenant or Tenant's employces, coniractors,
licensees, or invilees.

112 Landlord's Option to Repair. Motwithstanding the terms of Section 11.1 of this Lease, Landlord may
elect not to rebuild andfor resiore the Premises and'or Building and instead terminate this Lease by notifying Tenant in
writing of such termination within sixty (60) days after the date of discovery of such damage, such notice 1o include a
termination date giving Tenant ninety (90) days to vacate the Premises, but Landlord may so elect only if the Building shall
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be damaged by fire or other casualty or cause, whether or not the Premises are affected, and one or more of the following
conditions s present: (i) repairs cannol reasonably be completed within one hundred eighty (180} days of the date of
diseovery of damage {when such repairs are made without the payment of overtime or other premiums); (i) the holder of
any mortgage on the Building shall require that the insurance proceeds or any portion thereof be used to retire the morlgage
debty or (iii) the damage is not fully covered, except for deductible amounts, by Landlord's insurance policies. In addition,
in the event that the Premises or the Building is destroyed or damaged to any substantial extent during the last twelve (12)
manths of the Lease Term, then notwithstanding anything contained in this Article 11, Landlord shall have the option fo
terminate this Lease by giving written notice to Tenant of the exercise of such option within thirty (30) days after the date
of such damage or destruction, in which event this Lease shall cease and terminate as of the date of such notice. Upon any
such termination of this Lease pursuant to this Segtion 11.2, Tenant shall pay the Base Rent and Additional Rent, properly
apportioned up 1o such date of termination, and both parties hereto shall thereafter be freed and discharged of all further
abligations hereunder, except as provided for in provisions of this Lease which by their terms survive te expiration or
earlier termination of the Lease Term,

113 Waiver of Statutory Provisions, The provisions of this Lease, including this Article 11, constitute an
express agreement between Landlord and Tenant with respect to any and all damage to, or destruction of, all or any part of
the Premises, the Building or any other poriion of the Project, and any statute or regulation of the state in which the
Building is located, with respect to any rights or obligations conceming damage or destruction in the absence of an express
agreement between the parties, and any other statute or regulation, now or hereafter in effect, shall have no application to
this Lease or any damage or destruction to all or any part of the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Project.

ARTICLE 12

NONWAIVER

No waiver of any provision of this Lease shall be implied by any failure of Landlord to enforce any remedy on
account of the violation of such provision, even if such vialation shall continue or be repeated subsequently, any waiver by
Landlord of any provision of this Lease may only be in writing, and no express waiver shall affect any provision other than
the ane specified Tn such waiver and that one only for the time and in the manner specifically stated. No receipt of monies
by Landlord from Tenant after the termination of this Lease shall in any way alter the length of the Lease Term or of
Tenant's right of possession hereunder or after the giving of any notice shall reinstate, continue or extend the Lease Term or
affect any notice given Tenant prior to the receipt of such monies, it being agreed that afier the service of notice or the
commencement of & suit or after final judgment for possession of the Premises, Landlord may receive and collect any Rent
due, and the payment of said Rent shall not waive or affect said notice, suit or judgment.

ARTICLE 13
CONDEMNATION

If the whole or any material part of the Premises or Building shall be taken by power of eminent domain or
condemned by any competent authority for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, or if any adjacent propeny or street
shall be so taken or condemned, or reconfigured or vacated by such authority in such manner s to require the use,
reconstruction or remodeling of any part of the Premises or Building, or if Landlord shall grant a deed or cther instrument
in lien of such taking by eminent domain or condemnation, this Lease shall terminate upon notice by cither Landlord or
Tenant to the other party. Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entire award or payment in connection therewith.

ARTICLE 14
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

14.1 Transfers. Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, assign, morigage, pledge,
hypothecate, encumber, or permit any Hen to uttach fo, or otherwise transfer, this Lease or any Interest hereunder, permit
any assignment, or ather transfer of this Lease or any interest hereunder by operation of law, sublet the Premises or any part
thereof, or enter into any lcense or concession agreements or atherwise permit the oceupancy or use of the Premises or any
part thereaf by any persons other than Tenant and its employees and contractors. In connection with any such transfer
contemplated by Tenant, Tenant shall submit a written request for consent notice to Landlord, together with any
information reasonably required by Landlord which will enable Landlord to determine (i) the financial responsibility,
character, and reputation of the proposed transferce, (if) the nature of such transferee’s business, (iii) the proposed use of the
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applicable portion of the Premises, and (iv) any other reasonable consent parameters. Any transfer made without
Landlord's prior writien consent shall, at Landlord's option, be null, void and of no effect, and shall, at Landlord's option,
constitute a default by Tenant under this Lease. Whether or not Landlord consents to any proposed transfer, Tenant shall
piy Landlord's review and processing fees, us well us any reasonable professional fees (including, without limitation,
allomeys, accountants', architects!, engineers' and consultants' fees) incurred by Landlord, within thirty (30) days after
wrilten request by Landlord.

142  Landlord's Consent. Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to any proposed Transfer of
the Subject Space to the Transferee on the terma specified in the Transfer Notice, Without limitation as to other reasonable
grounds for withholding consent, the parties hereby agree that it shall be reasonable under this Lease and under any
applicable law for Landlord to withhold consent to any propased Transfer where one or more of the following apply:
(i) transferee is of a charucter or reputation or engaged in a business which is not consistent with the quality of the Building
or the Project; (ii) trausferes is not o party of reasonable financial worth and/or financial stability in light of the
responsibilities to be undertaken in connection with the transfer on the date consent is requested; (iii) transferee intends to
use the applicable portion{s) of the Premises for purposes which are not permitted under this Lease; (iv) transferce is either
a governmental agency or instrumentality thereof; or (v) the proposed transfer would cause a violation of another lease for
space in the Project, or would give an occupant of the Project a right to cancel its lease. Notwithstanding anything to the
conteary in this Lease, if Tenant or any proposed transferee claims that Landlord has unreasonably withheld or delayed its
consent under Section 14,2 or otherwise has breached or acted unreasonably under this Article 14, their sole remedies shall
be a declaratory judgment and an injunction for the relief sought without any monetary damages, and Tenant hereby waives
all other remedies, including, without limitation, any right at law or equity to terminate this Lease, on its own behalf and, to
the extent permitted under all Applicable Luws, on behalf of the proposed Transferce. Tenant shall indemnify, defend and
hold harmless Landlord from any and all liability, losses, claims, damages, costs, expenses, causes of action and
proceedings involving any third party or parties {including without limitation Tenant's proposed subtenant or assignee) who
claim they were damaged by Landlord’s wrongful withholding or conditioning of Landlord's consent.

143  Trapsfer Premium. If Landlord consents to a proposed transfer, as a condition thereto which the parties
hereby agree is reasonwble, Tenant shall pay to Landlord fifty percent (50%) of any "Transfer Premium," as that term is
defined in this Section 14,3, received by Tenant from such Transferee. "Transfer Premium" shall mean all rent, additional
rent or other consideration payable by such transferee in connection with the transfer in excess of the Rent and Additional
Rent payable by Tenant under this Lease during the term of the transfer (on a per rentable square foot basis if less than all
aof the Premises is transferred); provided, however, such Transfer Premium shall also include, but not be limited to, key
money, bonus money or other cash consideration paid by transferee to Tenant in connection with such wransfer, and any
payment in excess of fair market value for services rendered by Tenant to transferce or for assets, fixtures, inventory,
equipment, or furniture transferred by Tenant to transferce in connection with such Transfer,

144  Landlord's Option as to Subject Spage. Motwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Anigle 14, Landlord shall have the option, by giving written notice to Tenant within thirty (30) days after receipt of
Tenant's written request for consent to so transfer, to recapture the corresponding portion of the Premises. Such recapture
notiee shall cancel and terminate this Lease with respoct to such portion of the Premises as of the effective date of the
sed transfer, In the event of a recapture by Landlord, if this Lease shall be canceled with respect to less than the entire
Premises, the Rent reserved herein shall be provated on the basis of the number of rentable square feet retained by Tenant in
proportion to the number of rentable square feet contained in the Premises, and this Lease as so amended shall continue
thereafter in full force and effect, and upon request of either party, the parties shall execute written confirmation of the
same. If Landlord declines, or fails to elect in a timely manner to recapture the subject space under this Section 14.4, then,
provided Landlord has consented to the proposed transfer, Tenant shall be entitled to proceed to transfer the subject space
to the proposed transferee, subject to provisions of this Article 14.

145 Effeet of Transfer. If Landlord consents to & transfer, (i) the TCCs of this Lease shall in no way be
deemed to have been waived or modified, (ii) such consent shall not be deemed consent to any further transfir by cither
Tenant or a transferee, (iif) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, promptly after execution, an original executed copy of all
documentation pertaining to the transfer in form reasonably acceptable to Landlord, (iv) Tenant shall furish wpon
Landlord’s request a complete statement, certified by an independent centified public accountant, or Tenant's chief financial
officer, setting forth in detail the computation of any Transfer Premium Tenant has derived and shall derive from such
Transfer, and (v) no Transfer relating 1o this Lease or sgreement entered info with respect thereto, whether with or without
Landlord's consent, shall relieve Tenant or any guarantor of the Lease from any liability under this Lease, including,
without limitation, in connection with the subject space. Landlord or its authorized representatives shall have the right at
all reasonable times fo audit the books, records and papers of Tenant relating to any Transfer, and shall have the right to
make copics thereof, If the Transfer Premium respecting any Transfer shall be found undersiated, Tenant shall, within
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thirty (30) days afler demand, pay the deficiency, and if understated by more than two percent (2%), Tenant shall pay
Landlord's costs of such audit,

146  Oceurrence of Default. Any transfer hereunder shiall be subordinate and subject to the provisions of this
Lease, and if this Lease shall be terminated during the term of any transfer, Landlord shall have the right to: (i) treat such
transfier as cancelled and repossess the subject space by any lawful means, or (i) requive that such transferee attom to and
recognize Landlord as its landlord under any such transfer, If Tenant shall be in default under this Lease, Landlord i
hereby irrevocably authorized, as Tenant's agent and attorney-in-fact, to direct any transferee to make all puyments under or
in connection with the transfer directly to Landlord (which Landlord shall apply towards Tenant's obligations under this
Lease) until such default is cured. Such transferee shall rely on any representation by Landlord that Tenant is in default
hereunder, without any need for confirmation thereof by Tenant. Upon any assignment, the assignee shall assume in
wriling all obligations and covenants of Tenant thereafier to be performed or observed under this Lease. Mo collection or
acceptance of rent by Landlord from any transfieree shall be deemed n waiver of any provision of this Article 14 or the
approval of any transferee or a release of Tenant from any obligation under this Lease, whether theretofore or thereafter
aecruing. In no event shall Landlord's enforcement of any provision of this Lease against any transferee be deemed a
waiver of Landlord's right o enforce any term of this Lease against Tenant or any other person. If Tenant's obligations
hereunder have bean guarantesd, Landlord's consent to any Transfer shall not be effective unless the guaranior also
consents to such Transfer.

147  Mon-Transfers. Neiwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 14, (i} an assignment
or subletting of all or a portion of the Premises to an affiliste of Tenant (an entity which is coatrolled by, controls, or is
under common control with, Tenant), (ii) an assignment of the Premises to an entity which ncquires all or substantially all
of the assets or interests (partnership, stock or other) of Tenant, or (iii) an assignment of the Premises 1o an entity which is
the resulting entity of a merger or consolidation of Tenant, shall not be deemed a Transfer under this Aticle 14, provided
that Tenant notifies Landlord of any such assignment or sublease and promptly supplies Landlord with any documents or
[nformation requested by Landlord regarding such assignment or sublease ar such affiliate, and furlher provided that such
assignment or sublease is not a subterfuge by Tenant to avoid its obligations under this Lease or otherwise cffectunte any
“release” by Tenant of such obligations. The transferee under a transfer specified in items (i), (ii) or (ili) above shall be
referred 1o s a "Permitted Transferee.” "Control," as used in this Section 14.8, shall mean the ownership, directly or
indirectly, of at least fifty-one pereent (51%%) of the voting securities of, or possession of the right to vote, in the ordinary
direction of its affairs, of at least fifty-one percent (51%) of the voting interest in, any person or entity.

ARTICLE 13
OWNERSHIF AND REMOVAL OF TRADE FIXTURES

15.]  Surrender of Premises. Mo aet or thing done by Landlord or any agent or employee of Landlord during
the Lease Term shall be deemed to constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of the Premises unless such intent is
specifically acknowledged in & writing signed by Landlord. The delivery of keys to the Premises to Landlord or any agent
or employee of Landlord shall ot constitute a surrender of the Premises or effect a termination of this Lease, whether or
not the keys are thereafler retained by Landlord, and notwithstanding such delivery Tenant shall be entitled to the retum of
such keys at any reasonable time upon request until this Lease shall have been preperly terminated,

152  BRemoval of Tenant Property by Tenant. Upon the expirtion of the Lease Term, or upon any carlicr
termination of this Lease, Tenant shall, subject to the provisions of this Adicle IS, quit and surrender possession of the
Premises to Landlord in as good order and condition as when Tenant took possession and as thereafier improved by
Landlord andfor Tenant, reasonable wear and tear and damage from casunlty excepted. Upon such expiration or
termination, Tenant shall, without expense to Landlord, remove or cause to be removed from the Premises all debris and
rubbish, and such items of furniture, equipment, free-standing cabinet work, and other articles of personal property owned
by Tenant or installed or placed by Tenant at its expense in the Premises, and such similar articles of any other persons
claiming under Tenant, as Landlord may, in its sole discretion, require to be removed, and Tenant shall repair at its own
expense all damage to the Premises and Building resulting from such removal.

ARTICLE 16
HOLDING OVER

If Tenant halds over afler the expiration of the Lease Term hereof, with or without the express or implied consent
of Landlord, such tenancy shall be from month-to-month only, and shall not constitute a renewal hereof or an extension for
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any further term, and in such case Rent shall be payable at o monthly rate equal to the produet of (i) the Rent applicable
during the last rental period of the Lease Term under this Lease, and (if) a percentage equal to one hundred fifty percent
{150%) during the first two (2) manths immediately following the expiration or carlier termination of the Lease Term, and
two hundred percent (200%6) thereafter. Such month-to-month tenancy shall be subject to every other term, covenant and
agreement contained herein, Nothing contained in this Article 16 shall be construed as consent by Landlord to any holding
over by Tenant, and Landlord expressly reserves the right to require Tenant to surrender possession of the Premises to
Landlord as provided in this Lease upon the expiration or other termination of this Lease. The provisions of this Article 16
shall not be deemed 1o limit or constitute a waiver of any other rights or remedies of Landlord pravided herein or at law. If
Tenant fails to surrender the Premises upon the termination or expiration of this Lease, in addition to any other linbilities to
Lundlerd aceruing therefrom, Tenant shall proteet, defend, indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all loss, costs
{including reasonable attormeys' fees) and liability resulting from such failure, including, without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, any claims made by any succeeding tenant founded upon such failure to surrender, and any lost profits to
Landlord resulting therefrom.

ARTICLE 17
ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES

Within ten {10) days following a request in writing by Landlord, Tenant shall execule and deliver to Landlord an
estoppel certificate, which, as submitted by Landlord, shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit C, attached hereto, (or
such other form as may be required by any prospective morigagee or purchaser of the Project, or any portion thereof),
indicating therein any exceptions thereto that may exist at that time, and shall also contain any ofher information reasonably
requested by Landlord or Landlond's morigagee or prospective mortgagee. Tenant shall execute and deliver whatever other
instruments may be reasonably required for such purposes. At eny time during the Lease Term, Landlord may require
Tenant to pravide Landlord with & current financial statement and financial statements of the two (2) years prior to the
current financial statement year. Such statements shall be preparcd in accordance with generally accepted sccounting
pringiples and, if such is the nommal practice of Tenant, shall be audited by an independent certified public accountant,
Failure of Tenant to timely execute and deliver such estoppel certificate or other instruments shall constitule an geceptance
of the Premises and an acknowledgment by Tenant that statements included in the estoppel certificate are true and correct,
without exception,

ARTICLE 18
SUBORDINATION

This Lease is subject and subordinate to all present and future grownd or underlying leases of the Project and to the
lien of any mortgages or trust deeds, now or hereafler in force against the Project and the Building, If any, and to all
renewals, extensions, modifications, consolidations and replacements thereof, and to all advances made or hereafier fo be
made upon the security of such mortgages or trust deeds, unless the holders of such morigages or trust deeds, or the Jessors
under such ground lease or underlying leases, require in writing that this Lease be superior thereto. Tenant covenants and
agrees in the event any proceedings are brought for the foreclosure of any such mortgage, or if any ground or underlying
lease is terminated, to attorn, without any deductions or set-offs whatsoever, to the purchaser upon any such foreclosure
sale, or to the lessor of such ground or underlying lease, as the case may be, if so requested to do so by such purchaser or
lessor, and to recognize such purchaser or lessor as the lessor under this Lease. Tenant shall, within five (5) days of request
by Lendlord, execute such further mstruments or assurances as Landlord may reasonably deem necessary to evidence or
confirm the subordination or superiority of this Lease to any such morgages, trust deeds, ground leases or underlying
leases. Tenant hereby irrevocably authorizes Landlord 1o execute and deliver in the name of Tenant any such instrument or
instruments il Tenant fails to do so, provided that such authorization shall in no way relieve Tenant from the obligation of
executing such instruments of subardination or superiority. Tenant waives the provisions of any current or future statute,
rule or law which may give er purport to give Tenant any right or election to terminate or otherwise adversely affect this
Lease and the obligations of the Tenant hereunder in the event of any foreclosure proceeding or sale,
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ARTICLE 19
DEFAULTS: REMEDIES

19,0  Events of Default, Fvents of Default, The occurrence of any of the fallowing shall constitute a default
of this Lease by Tenant:

19.1.1  Any failure by Tenant to pay any Rent or any other charge required 1o be paid under this Lease,
ar any part thereof, when duc unless such failure is cured within three (3) days afler notice; or

19.1.2  Except where a specific time period is otherwise set forth for Tenant's performance in this Lease,

in which event the failure to perform by Tenant within such time period shall be a default by Tenant under this

, any failure by Tenant to observe or perform any other provision, covenant or condition of this Lease to be

observed or performed by Tenant where such failure continues for thirty (30) days after writlen notice thereof from

Landlord to Tenant; provided that if the nature of swch default is such that the same cannot reasonably be cured within a

thirty (30) day period, Tenant shall not be deemed to be in default if it diligently commences such cure within such peried

and thereafter diligently proceeds o rectify and cure such default, but in no event exceeding a period of time in excess of
sixty (60) days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant; or

19.1.3  To the extent permitied by law, a general assignment by Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease
for the benefit of creditors, or the taking of any corporate action in furtherance of bankruptoy or dissolution whether or not
there exists any proceeding under an insolvency or bankrupicy law, or the filing by or against Tenant or any guarantor of
any praceeding under an insolvency or bankruptcy law, unless in the case of a proceeding filed against Tenant or any
guarantor the same is dismissed within sixty (60) days, or the appointment of & trustee or receiver o take possession of all
or substantially all of the assets of Tenant or any guarantor, unless possession is restored to Tenant or such guarantor within
thirty (30) days, or any execution or other judicially authorized seizure of all or substantially all of Tenant's assets located
upon the Premises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease, unless such seizure is discharged within thirty (30) days; or

1914 The fallure hy Tenant to observe or perform eccording to the provisions of
Artigles 5, 14, 17 or 18 of this Lease where such failure continues for more than two (2) business days after notice from
Landlord.

The notice periods provided herein are in lieu of, and not in addition to, any notice periods provided by law.,

192 Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of any event of default by Tenant, Landlord shall have,
in addition to any other remedies available 1o Landlord at law or in equity (all of which remedies shall be distinet, separate
and cumulative), the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies, each and all of which shall be cumulative
and nonexclusive, without any notice or demand whatsoever.

192.1 Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender the Premises 1o
Landlord, and if Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may, without prejudice to any other remedy which it may have for
possession oF arrearages in rent, enter upon and take possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant and any other
persen who may be occupying the Premises or any part thereof, without being liable for prosecution or muy cluim or
damages therefore; and Landlord may recover from Tenant the following: (1) the worth at the time of award of any unpaid
rent which has been eamed at the time of such termination; plus (ii) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which
the unpaid rent which would have been camed after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental
loss that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus (iii) the worth at the time of award of the amount by
which the unpaid rent for the balance of the Lease Teem afler the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that
Tenunt proves could heve been reasonably avoided; plus (iv) any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all
the detriment proximately caused by Tenant's failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary
course of things would be likely to result therefrom, specifically including but not limited to, brokerage commissions and
advertising expenses incurred, expenses of remodeling the Premises or any portion thereof for a new tenant, whether for the
same or a different use, and any special concessions made 1o obtain a new tenant; and (v) at Landlord's election, such other
amounts in addition 1o or in lien of the foregoing as may be permitted from time to time by upplicable law, The term “rent”
as used in this Section 19.2,1 shall be deemed to be and 1o mean all sums of every nature required to be paid by Tenant
pursuant to the terms of this Lease, whether to Landlord or to others. As used in Sections 19.2,1(i) and (i}, above, the
“yworth at the time of award” shall be computed by allowing interest at the rate set forth in Article 24 of this Lense, but in no
case greater than the maximum amount of such interest permitled by law. As used in Section 19.2.1(iii} above, the “worth
at the time of award” shall be computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of
San Francisco at the time of award plus one percent (1%).
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19,22 If Landlord does not elect to terminate this Lease on account of any default by Tenant, Landlord
may, from time to time, without terminating this Lease, enforce all of its rights and remedies under this Lease, including the
right 10 recover all rent as it becomes due,

1923 Landlord shall at all times have the rights and remedies (which shall be cumulstive with cach
other and cumulative and in addition to these rights and remedies available under Sections 19.2,1 and 19.2.2, above, or any
law or other provision of this Leasc), without prier demand or notice except as required by applicable law, to seck any
declaratory, injunctive or other equitable relief, and specifically enforce this Lease, or restrain or enjoin a violation or
breach of any provision hereof,

193 Waiver of Default. No waiver by Landlord or Tenant of any violation or breach of any of the terms,
provisions and covenants herein contained shall be doemed or construed to constitute a waiver of any other or later
violation or breach of the same or any other of the terms, provisions, and covenants herein contained. Forbearance by
Landlord in enforcement of one or more of the remedies herein provided upon an event of default shall not be deemed or
construed to constitute a waiver of such default. The acceptance of any Rent hereunder by Landlord following the
accurrence of any default, whether or not known to Landlord, shall not be deemed a waiver of any such default, except only
u defiult in the payment of the Rent so accepted.

ARTICLE 3¢

FORCE MAJEURE

Any prevention, delay or stoppage due to strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, acts of God, Inability to obtain services,
labor, o materials or reasonable substitutes therefore, governmental actions, eivil commeotions, fire or other casualty, and
other causes beyond the reasonable control of the party obligated to perform, except with respect to the obligations imposed
with regard to Rent and other charges to be paid by Tenant pursuant to this Lease (collectively, the "Foree Majeure"),
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, shall excuse the performance of such party for a period
equal to any such prevention, delay or stoppage and, therefore, if this Lease specifies a time period for performance of an
obligation of either party, that time period shall be extended by the period of any delay in such party’s performance caused
by a Force Majoure,

ARTICLEZ]
SECURITY DEPOSIT

Concurrent with Tenant's execution of this Lease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord a security deposit (the
"Seeurity Deposit”) in the amount set forth in Section 8 of the Summary, as security for the faithful performance by Tenant
of all of its obligations under this Lease, If Tenant defaults with respect to any provisions of this Lease, including, but not
limited to, the provisions relating o the payment of Rent, the removal of property and the repair of resultant damage,
Landlord may, without notice to Tenant, but shall not be vequired 1o apply all or any part of the Security Deposit for the
payment of any Rent or any other sum in defiult and Tenant shall, upon demand therefor, restore the Security Depaosit 1o its
original amount. Any unapplied portion of the Security Deposit shall be returned to Tenant, or, at Landlord's option, to the
last assignee of Tenant's interest hereunder, within sixty (60) days following the expiration of the Lease Term. Tenant shall
not be entitled to any interest on the Security Deposit.

ARTICLE 22
SUBSTITUTION OF OTHER PREMISES

Landlord shall have the right to move Tenant to other space in the Project comparable to the Premises, and all
terms hereof shall apply to the new space with equal force. In such event, Landlord shall give Tenant prior notice, shall
provide Tenant, at Landlord's sole cost and expense, with tenant improvements at least equal in quality to those in the
Premises and shall move Tenant's effects to the new space al Landlord's sole cost and expense at such time and in such
manner s to inconvenience Tenant as little as reasonably practicable. Simultaneously with such relocation of the Premises,
the parties shall immediately execute an amendment to this Lease stating the relocation of the Premises.
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ARTICLE 23
SIGNS

Any signs, notices, logos, pletures, names or advertisements ("Signage") to be installed in, on or shout the
Premises shall be subject o Landlord's prior approval, which approval may be granted, withheld or conditioned in
Landlord's sole and absolute diseretion. Any Signage installed in, on or about the Premises without Landlord's approval
may be removed without notice by Landlond at the sole expense of Tenant.

ARTICLE 24

COMPLIANCE WITELLAW

Tenant shall not do anything or suffer anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way conflict
with any law, statute, erdinance or other governmental rule, regulation or requirement now in force or which may hereafter
be cnacted or promulgated (collectively, "Applicable Laws"), At its sole cost and expense, Tenant shall prompily comply
with all such governmental measures (ineluding the making of any alicrations to the Premises required by Applicable
Laws), Should any standard o regulation now or hereafler be imposed on Landlord or Tenant by a state, federal or local
governmenial body cherged with the establishment, regulation and enforcement of oceupational, health or safety standards
for emplayers, employees, landlords or tenants, then Tenant agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to comply promptly with
such standards or regulations. Landlord shall comply with all Applicable Laws relating to the Base Building, provided that
complianee with such Applicable Laws is not the responsibility of Tenant under this Lease, and provided further that
Landlard's failure to comply therewith would prohibit Tenant from oblaining or maintaining a certificate of occupancy for
ilie Premises, or would unreasonably and materially affect the safety of Tenant's employees or create a significant health
hazard for Tenants employees. Landlord shall be permitted to include in Operating Expenses any costs or expenses
incurred by Landlord under this Aticle 24 to the extent consistent with the terms of Section 4.2.4, abave.

ARTICLE 25

LATE CHARGES

1f any installment of Rent or any other sum due from Tenant shall not be received by Landlord or Landlord’s
desipnee within five (5) business days following Tenant's receipt of written notice from Landlord that the same was not
received when due, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord a lute charge equal to five percent (5%) of the amount due plus any
attomeys® fees incurred by Landlord by reason of Tenant's failure to pay Rent andfor other charges when due hereunder.
The late charge shall be deemed Additional Rent and the right to require it shall be in addition to all of Landlord's other
rights and remedies heceunder or at law and shall not be construed as liquidated damages or as limiling Landlord’s remedies
in ary manner. In addition to the late charge described above, any Rent or other amounts owing hercunder which are not
pauid when due shall thereafter bear interest until paid at the "Interest Rate.” For purposes of this Lease, the "Interest Rate”
shall be an annual rate equal to the lesser of (i) the annual "Bank Prime Loan" rate cited in the Federal Reserve Statistical
Release Publication (.13(415), published on the first Tuesday of each calendar month {or such other comparable index as
Landlord and Tenant shall reasonably agree upon if such rate ceases to be published), plus four (4) percentage points, and
{ii) the highest rate permitted by applicable law.

ARTICLE 26

5 ITRE = M

All covenants and pgreements to be kept or performed by Tenant under this Leasc shall be performed by Tenant at
Tenant's sole cost and expense and without any reduction of Rent, If Tenant shall fail to perform any of its obligations
under this Lease, within a reasonable time after such performance is required by the terms of this Lease, Landlord may, but
shall not be obligated to, after reasonable prior notice to Tenant, make any such payment or perform any such act on
Tenant's part without waiving its right based upon any default of Tenaat and without releasing Tenant from any obligations
hercunder. Except as may be specifically provided to the contrary in this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, within
fifteen (15) days after delivery by Landlord to Tenant of statements therefore: (i) sums equal to expenditures reasonably
made and obligations ineurred by Landlord in connection with the remedying by Landlord of Tenant's defaults pursuant to
the provisions of this Article 26; (if) sums equal to all losses, costs, linbilities, damages and expenses referred 1o in
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Article 10 of this Lease; and (iii) sums equal to all expenditures made and obligations incurred by Landlord in collecting or
attempting 1o collect the Rent or in enforcing or attempting to enforce any rights of Landlord under this Lease or purswant
to law, including, without Bimitation, all legal fees and other amounts so expended. Tenant’s obligations under this
Article 26 shall survive the expiration or sconer termination of the Lease Term.

ARTICLE 27
ENTRY BY LANDLORD

Landlard reserves the right at all reasonable times and upon reasonable notice to the Tenant to enter the Premises
to (i) inspect them; (ii) show the Premises to prospective purchasers, morigagees or tenants, or to the ground or underlying
lessars; (fii) post notices of non-responsibility; or (iv) alter, improve or repair the Premises or the Building if necessary to
comply with current building codes or other Applicable Laws, or for structural alteratlons, repairs or improvements to the
Building, Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 27, Landlord may enter the Premises at any
time to (A) perform services required of Landlord; (B) take possession due to any breach of this Lease in the manner
provided herein; and (C) perform any covenants of Tenant which Tenant fails to perform. Any such entries shall be without
the abatement of Rent (except &s otherwise expressly provided in this Lease) and shall include the right to take such
reasonable steps as required to accomplish the stated purposes; provided, however, except for (i) emergencies, (ii) repairs,
alterations, improvements or additions required by governmental or quasi-governmental authorities or court order or decree,
or {iii) repairs which are the obligation of Tenant hereunder, any such entry shall be performed in a manner so as not to
unreasonably interfere with Tenant's use of the Premises and shall be performed after normal business hours if reasonably
practical. With respect to items (ii) and (iii) above, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to not materially
interfere with Tenant's usc of, or access to, the Premises. Except as otherwise set forth in Section 6.4, Teaant hereby
waives any clalms for damages or for any injuries or inconvenience 1o or interference with Tenant's business, lost profits,
any loss of occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the Premises, and any other loss occasioned thereby. For each of the above
purposes, Landlord shall at all times have a key with which to unlock all the doors in the Premises, excluding Tenanl’s
vaults, safes and special security areas designeted in advance by Tenant. In an emergency, Landlord shall have the right to
use ary means that Landlord may desm proper to open the doors in and to the Premises. Any entry into the Premises in the
manner hereinbefore deseribed shall not be deemed ta be a forcible or unlawful entry inte, or & detainer of, the Premises, or
an actual or constructive eviction of Tenant from any portion of the Premises,

ARTICLE 28
TENANT PARKING

Tenant shall have the right to use, commencing on the Lease Commencement Date, the amount of parking spaces
set forth in Section 10 of the Summary, on a monthly basis throughout the Lease Term, which parking spaces shall pertain
to the Project parking facility. Tenant's continued right to use the parking spaces is conditioned upon Tenant abiding by all
rules and regulations which are prescribed from time to time for the orderly operation and use of the parking facility where
the parking spaces are located, including any sticker or other identification system established by Landlord, Tenant's
cooperation in secing that Tenant's emplayees and visitors also comply with such rules and regulations and Tenant not
being in default under this Lease. Landlord specifically rescrves the right to change the size, configuration, design, layout
and all other aspects of the Project parking facility at any time and Tenant acknowledges and agrees that Landlord may,
without incurring any liability to Tenant and without any abatement of Rent under this Lease, from time to time, close-off
or restrict access to the Project parking facility for purposes of permitting or facilitating any such construction, alteration or
improvements. Landlord may delegate its responsibilities hereunder to a parking operator in which case such parking
operator shall have all the rights of control attributed hereby to the Landlord. The parking spaces used by Tenant pursugnt
to this Article 28 are provided to Tenant solely for use by Tenant's own personnel and such spaces may not be transferred,
assigned, subleased or otherwise alicnated by Tenant without Landlord's prior approval.

ARTICLE 29
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

29.1 Terms; Captions. The words “Landlord” and "Tenant" as used herein shall include the plural as well as
the singular. The necessary grammatical changes required to make the provisions hereof apply either 1o corporations or
partnerships or individuals, men or women, s the case may require, shall in all cases be assumed as though in each case
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fully expressed. The captions of Articles and Sections are for convenience only and shall not be decmed to limit, construe,
affect or alter the meaning of such Articles and Sections.

292  Binding Effect. Subject to all other provisions of this Lease, each of the covenants, conditions and
provisions of this Lease shall extend to and shall, as the case may require, bind or inure to the benefit not only of Landlord
and of Tenant, but also of their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors or assigns, provided this clause shall
not permit any ussignment by Tenant contrary to the provisions of Article 14 of this Lease.

293 NoAir Rights. No rights to any view or to light or air over any property, whether belonging to Landlord
or any other person, are granted to Tenant by this Lease. If at any time any windows of the Premises are temporarily
darkened or the light or view therefrom is obstructed by reason of any repairs, improvements, maintenance or cleaning in or
ahout the Project, the same shall be without liability to Landlord and without any reduction or diminution of Tenant's
obligations under this Lease.

294  Modification of Lease. Should any current or prospective morigagee or ground lessor for the Building
or Project require a modification of this Lease, which modification will not cause an increased cost or expense o Tenant or
in any other way materially and adversely change the rights and obligations of Tenant hereunder, then and in such event,
Tenant agrees that this Lease may be so modificd and agrees to execute whatever documents are reasonably required
therefor and to deliver the same to Landlord within ten (10) days following a request therefor. At the request of Landlord
or any mortgagee or ground lessor, Tenant agrees to execute a short form of Lease and deliver the same to Landlord within
ten (10) days following the request therefor.

295  Transfer of Landlord’s Interest. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has the right to transfer all or any
portion of its interest in the Building and in this Lease, and Tenant agrees that in the event of any such transfer, Landlord
shall awtomatically be released from all liability under this Lease and Tenant agrees to look solely to such transferce for the
performance of Landlord's obligations hereunder after the date of transfer. The liability of any transferee of Landlord shall
be limited to the interest of such transferee in the Building and such transferee shall be without personal liability under this
Lease, and Tenant hereby expressly waives and releases such personal liability on behalf of itself and all persons claiming
by, through or under Tenant. Tenant further acknowledges that Landlord may assign its interest in this Lease to a mortgage
lender as additional security and agrees that such an assignment shall not release Landlord from its abligations hereunder
and that Tenant shall continue to Jook to Landlord for the performance of its obligations hereunder.

20,6 Prohibition Against Recording. Meither this Lease, nor any memorandum, affidavit or other writing
with respect thereto, shall be recorded by Tenant or by anyone acting through, under or on behalf of Tenant,

20.7  Lamllord's Title, Landlord's title is and always shall be paramount to the title of Tenant. Mothing herein
contained shall empower Tenant to do any act which can, shall or may encumber the title of Landlord.

20.8  Relationship of Parties. Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed by the parties
lereto or by any third party to create the relationship of principal and agent, partnership, joint venturer or any association
between Landlord and Tenant,

20.9  Application of Payments. Landlord shall have the right 1o apply payments received from Tenent
pursuant to this Lease, regardless of Tenant's designation of such payments, to satisfy any obligations of Tenant hereunder,
in such order and amounts as Landlord, in its sole discretion, may elect,

20.10  Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Lease and each of its provisions.

29.11  Partial Invalidity. 1f any term, provision or condition contained in this Lease shall, 1o any extent, be
invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term, provision or condition to persons or
circumstances other than those with respect to whicl it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each
and every other torm, provision and condition of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent possible
permitted by Law,

2912  No Wacranty. In executing and delivering this Lease, Tenont has not relied on any representations,
including, but not limited to, any representation as to the amount of any item comprising Additional Rent or the amount of
the Additional Rent in the aggregate or that Landlord is furnishing the same services to other tenants, at all, on the same
level or on the same basis, or any warranty or any statement of Landlord which is not set forth herein or in one or more of
the exhibits attached hereto.

2913 Landlord Exculpation. It is expressly understood and agreed that notwithstanding anything in this
Lease to the conrary, and notwithstanding any applicable law to the contrary, the liability of Landlord and the Landlord
Parties hereunder (including any successor landlord) and any recourse by Tenant against Landlord or the Landlord Parties
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shall be limited solely and exelusively to an amount which is equal to the lesser of (a) the interest of Landlord in the
Building or (b) the equity interest Landlord would have in the Building if the Building were encumbered by third-party debt
i an amount equal to eighty percent (80%) of the value of the Building (as such value is determined by Landlord), and
neither Landlord, nor any of the Landlord Partics shall have any personal liability therefore, and Tenant hereby expressly
waives and releases such personal lability on behalf of itself and all persons claiming by, through or under Tenant,
Natwithstanding any contrary provision herein, neither Landlord nor the Landlord Partics shall be liable under any
circumstances for infury or damage to, or interference with, Tenant's business, including but not limited to, loss of profits,
loss of rents or other revenues, loss of business opportunity, loss of goodwill or loss of use, in each case, however
occurring,

2914  Entire Agreement. It is understood and acknowledged that there are no oral agreements between the
parties hereto affecting this Lease and this Lease constitutes the parties’ entire agreement with respect to the leasing of the
Premises and supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, brochures, agreements and
understandings, if any, between the parties hereto or displayed by Landlord to Tenant with respect to the subject matter
thereaf, and nene thereof shall be used to interpret or construe this Lease. None of the terms, covennnts, conditions or
provisions of this Lease can be modified, deleted or added 1o except in writing signed by the partics herelo.

20,15  Right to Lease. Landlord reserves the absolute right to effect such other tenancies in the Project as
Landlord in the exercise of its sole business judgment shall determine to best promote the interests of the Building or
Project. Tenant does not rely on the fact, nor does Landlord represent, that any specific tenant or type or number of tenants
shall, during the Lease Term, occupy any space in the Building or Project.

29,16  Waiver of Redemption by Tenant, Tenant herehy waives for Tenant and for all these claiming under
Tenant all right now or hereafter existing to redeem by order or judgment of any court or by any legal process or writ,
Tenant's right of oceupancy of the Premises after any termination of this Lease.

2017 Notices. All notices, demands, statements or communications {collectively, “Notices™) given or required
to be given by either party to the other hereunder shall be in writing, shall be sent by United States certified or registered
mail, postuge prepaid, return receipt requested, or delivered personally (i) to Tenant at the appropriate address set forth in
Section 9 of the Summary, or fo such other place as Tenant may from time to time designate in & Notice to Landlord; or
(i) 1o Landlord at the addresses set forth in Section @ of the Summary, or to such other firm or to such other place as
Landlord may from time to time designate in 2 Notice to Tenant. Any Notice will be deemed given on the date it is mailed
as provided in this Section 29,17 or upon the date personal delivery is made. If Tenant is notified of the identity and
atddress of Lundlord's morigagee or ground or undetlying lessor, Tenant shall give to such mergagee or ground or
underlying lessor written notice of any default by Landlord under the terms of this Lease by registered or centified mail, and
such morigagee or ground or underlying lessor shall be given a reasonzble opportunity to cure such default prior 1o
Tenant's exercising any remedy available to Tenant,

2018 Joint and Several. If there is more than one Tenant, the obligations impased upon Tenant under this
Lease shall be joint and several,

29.19  Authority. If Tenant is a corporation, trust or partnership, each individual exccuting this Lease on behalf
of Tenant hereby represents and warrants that Tenant is a duly formed and existing entity qualified to do business in
California and that Tenant has full right and authority to exccute and deliver this Lease and that each person signing on
behalfl of Tennmt is authorized fo do so. In such event, Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after execution of this Lease,
deliver to Landlord satisfactory evidence of such authority and, if a corporation, upon demand by Landlord, also deliver to
Landlord satisfactory evidence of (i) good standing in Tenant's state of incorporation and (ii) qualification 1o do business in
California.

2020 Attornevs' Fees. [f cither party commences litigation against the other for the specific performance of
this Lease, for damages for the breach hereof or otherwise for enforcement of any remedy hereunder, the parties hereto
agree to and hereby do waive any right to a trial by jury and, in the eveat of any such commencement of litigation, the
prevailing party shall be entitled fo recover from the other party such costs and reasonable attoreys' fors as may have been
incurred, including any and all costs incurred in enforcing, perfecting and executing such judgment.

2921  Governing Law. This Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of
California.

2022 Submission of Lease. Submission of this instrument for examination or signature by Tenant does not
constitute & reservation of, option for or option ta lease, and it is not effective as a lease or otherwise until execution and
delivery by both Landlord and Tenant.
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2923  Brokers. Landlord and Tenant hereby warrant to each other that they have had no dealings with any real
estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this Lease, excepting only the real estate brokers or agents
specified in Segtion 12 of the Summary (the "Brokers"), and that they know of no other real estate broker or agent who is
entitled to a commission in connection with this Lease. Eech party agrees to indemnify and defend the other party against
and hold the other party harmless from any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, costs and
expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing commission or equivalent
compensation alleged to be owing on account of any dealings with any real estate broker or agent (other than the Brokers)
occurring by, through, or under the indemnifying party.

20.24  Independent Covenants, This Lease shall be construed as though the covenunts herein between
Landlord and Tenant are independent ind not dependent and Tenant hereby expressly waives the benefit of any statute to
the conirary and agrees that if Landlord fails to perform its obligations set forth herein, Tenant shall not be eatitled to make
any repairs or perform any acts hereunder at Landlord’s expense or o any setoff of the Rent or other amounts owing
hereunder against Landlord.

2925 Project or Building Name and Signage. Landlord shall have the right at any time to change the name
of the Project or Building and to install, affix and maintain any and all signs on the exterior and on the interior of the
Project or Building as Landlord may, in Landlord’s sole discretion, desire. Tenant shall not use the name of the Project or
Building or use pictures or illustrations of the Project or Building in advenising or other publicity or for any purpose other
than as the address of the business 1o be conducted by Tenamt in the Premises, without the prior writfen consent of
Landlord,

2926 Counterparts. This Lease may be executed in counterparts with the same effect as if both parties hereto
had executed the same document. Both counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute a single lease,

2927 Confidentiplity. Tenant acknowledges that the content of this Lease and any related documents are
confidential information, Tenant shall keep such confidential information strictly confidential and shall not disclose such
confidential information to any person or entity other than Tenant's financial, legal, and space planning consulianis,

2928 Transportation Management. Tenant shall fully comply with all present or future programs intended to
manage parking, transportation or teaffic in and around the Building, and in conneclion therewith, Tenant shall take
responsible action for the transportation planning and management of all employees located at the Premises by werking
directly with Landlord, any govemmental transportation management organization or any other transporation-related
committees or entities.

2929  Building Renovations. It is specifically understood and agreed that Landlord has made no representation
or warranty to Tenant and has no obligation and has made no promises to alter, remodel, improve, renovate, repair or
decorate the Premises, Building, or any part thereof and that no representations respecting the condition of the Premises or
the Building have been made by Landlord to Tenant except as specifically set forth herein or in the Tenant Work Letter.
However, Tenant hereby acknowledges that Landlord is currently renovating or may during the Lease Term renovate,
improve, alter, or modify (collectively, the "Renovations™) the Project, the Building and/or the Premises including without
limitation the parking structure, common arcas, systems and cquipment, roof, and structural portions of the same, which
Renovations may include, without limitation, (i) installing sprinklers in the Building common arcas and tenant spaces,
(ii) modifying the commen areas and tenant spaces to comply with Applicable Laws, including regulations relating to the
physically disabled, seismic conditions, and building safety and security, and (fii} installing new floor covering, lighting,
and wall coverings in the Building comman areas, and in connection with sny Renovations, Landlord may, among other
things, erect scaffolding or other necessary structures in the Building, limit or eliminate access to portions of the Projeet,
including portions of the commen areas, o perform work in the Building, which work may create noise, dust or leave
debris in the Building. Tenant hereby agrees that such Renovations and Landlord's actions in connection with such
Renovations shall in no way constitute a constructive eviction of Tenant nor entitle Tenant to any abatement of Rent.
Landlord shall have no responsibility or for any reason be liable to Tenant for any direct or indirect injury to or interference
with Tenant's business arising from the Renovations, nor shall Tenant be entitled to any compensation or damages from
Landlord for loss of the use of the whole or any part of the Premises or of Tenant's personal property or improvements
resulting from the Renovations or Landlord's actions in connection with such Renovations, or for any inconvenience or
annoyance occasioned by such Renovations or Landlord's actions.

2930 No Violation. Tenant hersby warrants and represents that neither its execution of nor performance under
this Lease shall canse Tenant to be in violation of any agreement, instrument, contract, law, rule or regulation by which
Tenant is bound, and Tenant shall protect, defend, indemnify and hold Landlord harmless against any claims, demands,
losses, damages, lisbilities, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, arising
from Tenant's breach of this warranty and representation,
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2931  Communications and Computer Lines. Tenant may install, maintain, replace, remove or use any
communications or computer wires and cables (collectively, the "Lines") at the Project in or serving the Premises, provided
that (i} Tenant shall obtain Landlerd's prior written consent, use an experienced and qualified contractor approved in
writing by Landlord, and comply with all of the other provisions of Articles 7 and 8 of this Lease, (ii) an acceptable number
aof spare Lines and space for additional Lines shall be maintained for existing and future occupants of the Project, as
determined in Landlord’s reasonable opinion, (i) the Lines therefor (including riser cables) shall be (x) appropriately
insuluted o prevent excessive eleciromagnetic fields or radiation, (y) surrounded by a protective condult reasonsbly
acceptable 1o Landlord, and (2) identified in accordance with the "Identification Requirements,” as that term is set forth
hereln below, (iv) any new or existing Lines servicing the Premises shall comply with all applicable governmental laws and
reguletions, (v) as a condition to permitting the installation of new Lines, Tenant shall remove existing Lines located in or
serving the Premises and repair any damage in connection with such removal, and (vi) Tenant shall pay all costs in
connection therewith. All Lines shall be clearly marked with adhesive plastic labels (or plastic tags attached to such Lines
with wire) to show Tenant's name, suite number, telephone number and the name of the person 1o contact in the case of an
emergency (A) every four feet (4°) outside the Premises (specifically including, but not limited to, the electrical room risers
and other Common Areas), and (B) at the Lines' termination point{s) (collectively, the "Identification Requirements"),
Landlord reserves the right to require that Tenant remove any Lines located in or serving the Premises which are installed
in violation of these provisions, or which are at any time (1) are in violation of any Applicable Laws, (2) are inconsistent
with then-existing indusiry standards (such as the standerds promulgated by the MNational Fire Protection Association (e.g.,
such organization's 2002 National Electrical Code")), or (3) otherwise represent s dangerous or potentinlly dangerous
condition,

2932 Development of the Project..

290321  Subdivision. Landlord reserves the right to funther subdivide all or a portion of the Project.
Tenant agrees lo execute and deliver, upen demand by Landlord and in the form requested by Landlord, any additional
documents needed to conform this Lease to the circumstances vesulting from such subdivision,

29322 The Other Improvements. I portions of the Project or property adjacent to the Project
{collectively, the "Other Improvements") are owned by an entity other than Landlord, Landlord, at its option, may enter
into an agreement with the owner or owners of any or all of the Other Improvements to provide (i} for reciprocal rights of
access and/or use of the Project and the Other Improvements, (ii) for the common management, operation, maintenance,
improvement ancior repair of all or any portion of the Project and the Other Improvements, (iii) for the allocation of a
portion of the Direct Expenses to the Other Improvements and (he operating expenses and taxes for the Other
Improvements to the Project, and (iv) for the use or improvement of the Other Improvements andfor the Project in
connection with the improvement, construction, andfor excavation of the Other Improvements and/or the Project. Nothing
comained herein shall be deemed or construed to limit or otherwise affect Landlord's right to convey all or any portion of
the Project or any other of Landbord's rights described in this Lease,

29323 Construction of Project and Other Improvements. Tenant acknowledges that portions of
the Project andfor the Other Improvements may be under construetion following Tenant's occupaney of the Premises, and
that such construction may result in levels of noise, dust, obstruction of access, ete. which are in excess of that present in a
fully constructed project. Tenant hereby waives any and all rent offsets or claims of constructive eviction which may arise
in connection with such construction,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this Lease to be executed the day and date first
above written,




"LANDLORD":

DANARI BROADWAY, LLC
& Delaware Limited Liability Company

By:

Its:
By:

Iis:,
"TENANT":

GLOBAL CLEAN ENERGY HOLDINGS, INC

A Utah Corporation
By:

Tes:
By:

Its:

ADLER REALTY
BROADWAY
aaic Short Form Lo
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HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Certified Public Accountants
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc.

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (nos. 333-92446) of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. of our report dated March 24,
2011, appearing in this Annual Report of Form 10-K of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2010.

HANSEN, BARNETT & MAXWELL, P.C.

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 24, 2011
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5 . s "
Registered with the Public Company 5 Triad Center, Suite 750, Salt Lake City, Utah 84180-1128
Accounting Oversight Board TEL BO1-532-2200 FAX BO1-532-7944  www. hbmcpas.com
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

I, Richard Palmer, certify that:

L.

2.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d- 15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

©

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this annual report is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
Date: March 24, 2011 By: /s/ RICHARD PALMER

Name: Richard Palmer
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

I, Bruce Nelson, certify that:

L.

2.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this annual report is being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
Date: March 24, 2011 By: /s/ BRUCE NELSON

Name: Bruce Nelson
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. (the
“Company”) hereby certifies that, to his knowledge:

1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 24, 2011 By: /s/ RICHARD PALMER
Name: Richard Palmer
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Global Clean Energy Holdings, Inc. (the
“Company”) hereby certifies that, to his knowledge:

1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 24, 2011 By: /s/ BRUCE NELSON
Name: Bruce Nelson
Title: Chief Financial Officer




